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Basis of preparation

Introduction
Thank you for reading Capital Appreciation 
Limited’s (“Capital Appreciation”, “the Company”, 
“the Group”) 2021 Integrated Report. 

This report aims to provide stakeholders with a 
concise, material, transparent and understandable 
assessment of the Group’s governance, strategy, 
prospects, business model and performance.  
This report complements further information 
provided on the Company’s website:  
www.capitalappreciation.co.za

Content
The information in this report has been compiled 
to provide investors and all stakeholders with 
an overview of Capital Appreciation’s strategy, 
business model, operating context, performance, 
approach to risk management, governance, 
remuneration practices and key activities to 
create value over the short, medium and long 
term. The content covered in this report has been 
informed by inputs from various stakeholders, 
including capital providers and regulators, further 
refined through engagement with the executive 
management and the Board of Directors.

Scope and boundary
The report covers all the operations of Capital 
Appreciation for the year ended 31 March 2021.  
The Board and management believe that the 
material matters published in this report offer a 
balanced mix of information, allowing readers to 
assess the Group’s performance and prospects. 
These material matters were identified through the 
risk management process, strategy workshops and 
stakeholder engagement. 

Materiality
The Group applies the principle of materiality in 
assessing what information should be included 
in our integrated report. This report focuses 
particularly on those issues, opportunities and 
challenges that impact materially on Capital 
Appreciation and its businesses and its ability to 
consistently deliver value to all stakeholders in a 
sustainable manner. 

Forward-looking statements
This report may contain forward-looking 
statements with respect to Capital Appreciation’s 
future performance and prospects. While these 

statements represent the Group’s judgements 
and future expectations, several factors may 
cause actual results to differ materially from its 
expectations.

Frameworks and combined  
assurance
The information included in the integrated report 
has been provided in accordance with:

 � The International Integrated Reporting 
Framework 

 � The King Code of Corporate Governance 
(“King IV”) 

 � JSE Limited Listings Requirements 

 � South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008  
(as amended) 

 � The financial information included in the report 
has been extracted from the audited consolidated 
financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)

No external assurance has been sought, save for the 
B-BBEE verification, which was done by Renaissance 
SA Rating (Pty) Ltd for Capital Appreciation Limited, 
African Resonance and Dashpay, and by JS BEE 
Solutions for Synthesis.

Approval of the integrated  
report
The Board of Directors of Capital Appreciation  
(“the Board”) acknowledges its responsibility to 
ensure the integrity of this integrated report and 
confirms that it addresses all material financial 
matters and provides a balanced overview of the 
Group and its prospects. The Board has approved 
this 2021 Integrated Report for publication.

On behalf of the Board

Michael (Motty) Sacks
Chairman

Michael Pimstein Bradley Sacks
Joint Chief Executive Officers

Alan Salomon
Chief Financial Officer

26 July 2021

For further information, please visit www.capitalappreciation.co.za
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Partner Innovate Execute

Capital Appreciation’s execution strategy has three pillars:

Manufactured 
capital

Capital Appreciation’s 
solutions, platforms, 
applications and code

  Divisional reviews 32

Financial  
capital

Equity and funding 
from the Company’s 
shareholders and debt 
providers

  Chief Financial Officer’s report 28

Human 
capital

The people employed by 
Capital Appreciation and 
its subsidiaries

  Human capital
  Transformation
  Corporate governance
  Remuneration report
  Stakeholder relationships

12
13
40
58
74

Social and  
relationship 
capital

Capital Appreciation’s 
communities, clients and 
suppliers 

  Transformation
  Divisional reviews
  Stakeholder relationships

13
32
74

Intellectual 
capital

Capital Appreciation’s 
brands, experience, 
know how, proprietary 
technology, applications, 
licences

  Joint Chief Executives’ review
  Divisional reviews

24
32

The Group follows a two-pronged approach to drive its growth strategy: 

How to navigate the reporting suite

Capital  
Appreciation’s  
strategy

Capital 
Appreciation’s 
capitals 

Organic growth Acquisitive growth

For ease of navigation, icons are used throughout the integrated report, the most 
pertinent of these being:

  This icon signifies related information elsewhere in this report

  This icon signifies related information available online at:  
www.capitalappreciation.co.za
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About Capital Appreciation

Capital Appreciation is a financial technology company that seeks to serve 
and/or partner with established and emerging financial institutions and 
other clients. The Company facilitates the provision of financial services and 
delivers contemporary and innovative technologies and solutions.

Payments and Payment 
Infrastructure  
(Payments division)

Synthesis is a specialised software development 
and consulting company led by business 
and technology experts. Synthesis creates 
solutions based on its in-depth understanding 
of software, business, and leading technology. 
With over 24 years’ business and emerging 
technology experience, as well as its unique 
position in Africa as an AWS Advanced 
Consulting Partnership with a broad range of 
additional specialist competencies, it is the 
partner of choice to pioneer innovation and 
competitiveness, and the company of choice 
that top technologists call home. Synthesis is 
recognised for creating strategic solutions and 
driving digital journeys for banking, financial 
services, retail, and healthcare institutions in 
South Africa, Africa, Mauritius, and the Asia 
Pacific regions.

The Payments segment comprises two 
businesses. African Resonance and Dashpay are 
leading direct and indirect providers of payment 
infrastructure and payment technology solutions 
to established financial institutions, emerging 
payment service providers and corporate 
customers in the retail, fuel, restaurant, 
hospitality and healthcare sectors. Dashpay’s 
multi-product, multi-party universal transacting 
platform and value-added services solutions 
are intended to complement existing payment 
services provided by the Group’s established 
banking and institutional client base.

Software and Services  
(Software division)

Enterprise Development Funding

Vision
Capital Appreciation is focused on investing in and growing businesses that deliver compelling, innovative 
and disruptive solutions to financial institutions and other clients, allowing them to develop and introduce 
new products, deliver value to their customers and improve efficiency, while controlling and eliminating 
unnecessary operating costs. This vision is underpinned by sound commercial judgement and good  
corporate governance.

Structure

Capital Appreciation supports and advances several commercial transformation initiatives, including its enterprise 
development funding and technology development expertise to GovChat, a black-controlled technology start-up 
which offers a platform to measure and enhance government interaction with citizens. GovChat is noted as one of 
Amazon Web Services’ (AWS) premier public sector initiatives globally. Capital Appreciation owns 35% of the entity.
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Significant partners

Representative clients

Payments

Software

Other retailers

Capital Appreciation provides platforms 
for service delivery and growth

Revenue

R619.5 million

A financial technology company that  
serves or partners with established 
and emerging financial institutions  

and other large corporates

344 employees

The Payments division manages payment 
infrastructure on behalf of leading financial 

institutions with more than  

217 000 payment 
terminals  

in the hands of customers

The Software division is a leading provider 
of world class technology products and 
solutions, including AWS cloud services, 

with a highly innovative team

Software IP portfolio continues to grow –  

Halo Dot and 
Keystone

Operational in  

10 countries 
 and an office opening in Amsterdam in 2021

Well capitalised with management skills 
and technology to drive growth strategy
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Business performance features for the year

 � More than 217 000 terminals in hands of clients, up 17% YoY

 � Annuity-based estate management revenue up 20%

 � Android solutions well received by customers

 � Launched Halo Dot offerings 

 � Expanded portfolio of transaction solutions

 � Enhanced capability of solutions on upgraded platform –  
more than 80% increase in connected users

 � Strong pipeline post year end

 � Accelerating digitalisation intensified demand for the 
Group’s services

 � Increased collaboration among divisions delivered enhanced 
opportunities 

 � Covid-19 impact delayed clients’ decisions on projects and new 
terminal orders

 � Strong acceleration in Synthesis’ annuity income 

 � Strengthened relationship with existing clients

 � New blue-chip client relationships established

 � Secured additional AWS accreditation, further cementing 
leadership position

 � Diversified revenue stream:

– New verticals and geographies 

– Intelligent data

– Managed services

 � Additional partnerships with complementary technology platforms 
and solutions

 � Laid solid foundation for international expansion:

– Netherlands office opening September 2021

– Develop more opportunities for HaloDot and other offerings 

Payments

Group

Software
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Revenue 

R619.5 million
 11.7%

(2020: R701.2 million)

Trading profit  

R186.9 million3

 9.3%
(2020: R206.1 million)2

EBITDA  

R172.9 million3

 15.5%
(2020: R204.7 million)2

EPS  

10.28 cents3

 8.5%
(2020: 11.24 cents)1,2

HEPS  

10.34 cents
 3.1%

(2020: 10.67 cents)1,2

Cash flow  
from operations 

R200.9 million
 2.5%

(2020: R206.1 million)

Annual dividend  

5.50 cents
 10.0%

(2020: 5.00 cents)

Net asset value  

111.9 cents
 2.6%

(2020: 109.0 cents)

Cash available for 
reinvestment  

R538.3 million
 6.6%

(2020: R505.1 million)

Financial performance features for the year

1 Includes a R17.7 million advantage in interest income earned in 2020, due to the repo rate being 300 bps higher during the 
comparative year.

2 Includes an unrealised R14.6 million mark-to-market foreign exchange gain and an R8.7 million profit on the disposal of our 
investment in Resonance Australia in the 2020 financial year.

3 Includes an unrealised R1.2 million mark-to-market foreign exchange loss in 2021.   Refer to CFO report on page 28.
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The business model

HUMAN CAPITAL 
the people we  
employ

MANUFACTURED 
CAPITAL 
our platforms, 
proprietary applications 
and code

FINANCIAL 
CAPITAL 
equity and funding  
from our shareholders  
and debt providers

INTELLECTUAL 
CAPITAL 
our brands,  
experience and  
know-how, as well  
as our proprietary 
technology and  
licences 

SOCIAL AND  
RELATIONSHIP 
CAPITAL 
our communities,  
clients and suppliers

INPUTS ACTIVITIES

A foundation of ethical 
leadership and strong 

governance

 � Discovers, invests in, manages 
and partners with emerging and 
established FinTech enterprises

 � Utilises financial capital, strong 
networks and established 
relationships to promote 
our subsidiaries

Capital Appreciation

Payments 
& Payment 
infrastructure
Operates and 
manages 
infrastructure, 
networks and 
systems

Software  
& Services
Consults, 
advises, develops 
applications, 
develops code, 
implements 
systems, 
empowers  
clients

GROWTH STRATEGIES

Funding, platform development,  
operational support

  Refer to Operating 
context and 
strategy page 16.

We innovate

Innovation

We partner

ACQUISITIVE

ORGANIC

INPUTS ACTIVITIES GROWTH STRATEGIES

Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 20218



OUTPUTS OUTCOMES

A portfolio of high growth, high 
performing subsidiaries that provide 
comprehensive client solutions and 
generate strong shareholder value

Capital Appreciation

Payments 
& Payment 
infrastructure
Innovative  
and bespoke  
solutions

Software  
& Services
Delivering 
products and 
services that are 
targeted at  
mission-critical  
applications

Commercial applications in machine 
learning, artificial intelligence, big data, 

blockchain technology

We execute

Well-established FinTech 
subsidiaries

Clients empowered to compete 
effectively by catering for 
customers’ emerging needs

Well-trained, challenged, 
incentivised and motivated 
employees with high levels of job 
satisfaction

Strong returns for shareholders

Increased development and 
employment in our communities

Strong government relations 

Greater and more convenient 
access to civil services and direct 
engagement with government

GROWTH STRATEGIES
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The value Capital Appreciation adds

The Group, which continues to grow domestically and internationally, 
will continue to invest time and energy in projects, adopting a deliberate 
approach designed to yield attractive risk adjusted returns, as and when 
the evolving Covid-19 challenges permit. 

Adding investment value:
 � a platform for growth through investments in 

technology infrastructure and services
 � focused on becoming a leading FinTech entity 

that provides a greater synergised offering across 
the subsidiaries

 � blue-chip clients
 � provide resources to upskill employees in 

emerging technologies
 � driven by innovation and use of emerging 

technologies to allow businesses across Africa to 
cope with a rapidly changing environment

Providing clients with:
 � technological products, infrastructure and services
 � a well capitalised FinTech partner that provides 

greater corporate comfort than each subsidiary 
individually, as the whole is greater than the sum 
of its parts

 � an ability to do what they do – faster, better, cheaper
 � resources to upskill their employees in 

emerging technologies
 � innovation and use of emerging technologies to 

cope with rapidly changing business environment

Providing subsidiaries with:
 � the balance sheet and financial resources to scale 

up their operations
 � as a larger company, access to more mission 

critical work and more significant projects
 � a strong network and relationships to gain access 

to prospective clients
 � employment and financial security for staff 

and the opportunity to participate in a share 
incentive scheme

 � a commonality of clients across subsidiaries, which 
provides additional scope for new projects and 
cross selling

Enabling meaningful dialogue between 
government and the communities served 
by the company, as well as platforms to 
accelerate financial inclusion:
 � funding
 � technical expertise
 � networks

Providing future acquisitions with:
 � well-established relationships with major financial 

institutions which are difficult to access
 � financial resources to build their businesses
 � greater access to innovative development capability
 � strategic guidance and commercial wisdom

Assisting society to transform through: 
 � job creation, internships, training and development
 � access to technology solutions and 

communication tools at times of crisis and beyond
 � social responsibility projects
 � transformation through empowerment
 � enterprise development
 � contributions to taxes and levies

53

Employees 
Government
Providers of capital
Retained for growth

Recipients of Capprec’s value add contribution

2021 44%

7%
14%

35%

2020

38%

11%13%

38%

RECIPIENTS OF GROUP  
ADDED VALUE (%)

53

Employees 
Government
Providers of capital
Retained for growth

Recipients of Capprec’s value add contribution

2021 44%

7%
14%

35%

2020

38%

11%13%

38%

53

Employees 
Government
Providers of capital
Retained for growth

Recipients of Capprec’s value add contribution

2021 44%

7%
14%

35%

2020

38%

11%13%

38%

   Refer to page 174 for the detailed Value Added  
Statement
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Capital Appreciation is well-positioned to manage its business interests 
successfully. The leadership team has experienced a number of 
economic cycles. The Group is a trusted partner in an industry that is 
growing significantly and the businesses have a reputation for service 
excellence.

Both Capital Appreciation and its clients are well capitalised. 

Capital Appreciation has a diversified customer base and revenue 
streams and will continue to diversify even further, having elected 
to enter some new sectors such as retail, healthcare and 
telecommunication, as well as new geographies, with an office  
opening in Amsterdam in September 2021.

Leadership position in industry with strong 
secular growth trajectory

Strong culture of innovation resulting  
in relevant client solutions

Established track record of 
delivery

A trusted partner to  
blue chip clients

A strong foundation on  
which to grow

Capital 
Appreciation’s 
competitive 
positioning

Capital Appreciation’s investment case

Healthy balance sheet supports  
cash generative businesses that enable  

growth and agility
Consistent dividend growth
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Capital Appreciation’s history  

The Capital Appreciation Group recognises and 
values its people. In constantly creating better 
employee experiences it continues to build a strong 
team; hiring, retaining, engaging, developing, 
rewarding and recognising the talent whose 
contribution is critical to the Company’s ongoing 
success.

The Covid-19 pandemic did not deter the Group 
from this vision. In fact, its strong commitment to a 
culture of inclusion and collaboration ensured rapid 
and effective adaptation of the business to continue 
to service clients without disruption. This feat is 
attributable to the efforts of business leadership, 
human capital and people teams and the resolute 
commitment of all employees in ensuring  
“business as usual”.

The Group is committed to the delivery of key 
human capital development services to all 

Human capital

October 2015
Capital Appreciation listed as a Special Purpose Acquisition Company (“SPAC”)  
on the Main Board of the JSE and raised R1 billion through a private 
placement of shares.

May 2017

Capital Appreciation acquired 100% of African Resonance, Dashpay and 
Synthesis Software Technologies, as well as a 17.45% interest in Resonance 
Australia. 

Migrated to Technology: Software and Computer Services sector on the JSE.

Maiden dividend declared in November 2017.

March 2020 Acquired intellectual property rights of platforms previously used under 
licence. 

May 2019 Agreement concluded for Newland technology payment devices

January 2021 Invested in and acquired 26.5% in LayUp with the ability and right to increase 
our ownership interest over time.

March 2021
New partnerships established, launch of Halo Dot, launched robust Android 
platform for payments and increased scale and reach of underlying 
businesses. 

employees and establishing extraordinary people 
management practices to support the pursuit of 
innovative excellence. A strategic focus on people is 
critical because innovation comes from people.

The Group is dedicated to building an integrative 
working environment in which everyone can make 
their contribution, free of prejudice with equal 
opportunity and a sense of belonging.

Capital Appreciation’s culture of inclusion has 
fostered more resilient, innovative and, as a 
consequence, highly-engaged teams who continue 
to strive for performance excellence despite these 
extraordinary times. The Company is positive about 
the next 12 months, and beyond, as it elevates 
human capital, commits to ongoing business 
integrity and continues to build better employee 
experiences.
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Transformation

Key black shareholders

Capital Appreciation 
has a proud heritage 

with a B-BBEE 
shareholding 
representing 

economic interests 
of 30.49% and voting 

rights of 43.63%.

Building equity assets 
for employees

The share incentive scheme 
provides an important 

opportunity to promote 
economic transformation 

for employees through 
participation in the Group. 

PIC 25.45%
Valued at R333.3 million*

Capital Appreciation  
Empowerment Trust (CAET) 
benefitting black individuals 

and other historically 
disadvantaged South Africans

5.73% 
valued at R75 million*

Total empowerment  
shareholders 

348.8 million shares

26.6% 

Black women ownership

13.5%

*  Based on the closing share price of 100 cents per share at 
31 March 2021.

From inception Capital 
Appreciation has had a strong 
commitment to contribute to 
the socio-economic prosperity 
and transformation of the 
communities within which 
it operates.

The Group regards B-BBEE as a vital 
component of the broader transformation 
imperative in South Africa. Initiatives 
promoting B-BBEE are broadly aligned to the 
following principles:

Ownership
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Skills development
Capital Appreciation’s subsidiaries operate in 
an industry that demands strong technical 
and interpersonal skills to flourish. Training and 
development programmes are key imperatives in 
each case and the Group remains at the forefront 
of the skills race, to provide a compelling employee 
proposition. 

Capital Appreciation’s strong emphasis on 
continuous learning provides employees with a 
broad range of development opportunities, ranging 
from bursaries for tertiary education and Amazon 
Web Services (AWS) or secure software development 
certifications, to on-the-job learning, online or 
self-learning training courses, as well as internal 
technical training sessions.

The Synthesis Academy also offers specialised 
training to staff members of the Group’s client 
base, to strengthen the skills base in emerging 
technologies across the industry.

205
new jobs proudly created  
by Capital Appreciation  

since May 2017

Job creation

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017*

African Resonance 140  123 101 101 67

Synthesis 178 166 122 97 56

Dashpay 19 26 18 17 9

Corporate 7 6 8 7 7

Total 344 321 249 222 139

* Employee count on 5 May 2017.

B-BBEE certification
The underlying businesses have obtained 
separate and independent B-BBEE 
certifications.

 
These ratings reflect the commitment to 
enterprise development, skills development, 
learnerships, supplier development and social 
responsibility – in transforming the Group since 
acquisition. 

The Group’s spend on B-BBEE initiatives 
amounted to R6.6 million (2020: R8.0 million), 
which represents 4.8% (2020: 4.9%) of 
operating profit. 

Capital Appreciation 
Limited  

(consolidated Group)

 Level 4
African Resonance

Level 4

Synthesis

Level 3
Dashpay

Level 3

Transformation (continued)
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Since 2016, African Resonance has been 
a supporter of The Smile Foundation, its 
preferred CSI partner, making a difference 
in the lives of thousands of children with 
facial conditions, improving their quality of 
life and helping them grow into a brighter 
future. While financial contributions help 
the Smile Foundation do its incredible 
work, the team at African Resonance also 
commits time, energy and resources to 
the children. Volunteers have interacted 
with the children in the Charlotte Maxeke 
Hospital and been touched by their bravery 
and perseverance which has left a lasting 
impression.

Every year Synthesis partners with Afrika 
Tikkun Services to provide learnerships to 
underprivileged youth. The Company also 
donated essential and luxury items to the 
Frida Hartley Women’s Shelter in honour of 
Women’s Month.

To celebrate Mandela Day, the staff 
collected clothing, blankets and food for 
Afrika Tikkun, matched by the Company. 
At the end of the calendar year, a further 
staff fundraising effort provided funds 
for grade one learners and vulnerable 
families. Synthesis employees also created 
Masterclass educational videos for Afrika 
Tikkun students and young professionals. 
The subjects of the videos ranged from 
marketing to CV creation, offering life and 
employment skills.

Synthesis became a gold sponsor and 
hackathon sponsor of GirlCode, which 
encourages girls at high school to take 
STEM subjects and ultimately choose 
careers in coding. At a combined event 
with GirlCode in June 2020 Synthesis 
female employees shared insights and 
advised on how to embark on a software 
development career and assisted as 
mentors at the GirlCode first-ever virtual 
hackathon.

Management diversity
Individual subsidiaries maintain a strong focus on 
developing the leaders of tomorrow, aware that 
diversity among management and employees 
fosters innovation and new perspectives on the 
business. A group of talented employees has been 
identified as future leaders all of whom have been 
enrolled in accelerated leadership development 
programmes. Capital Appreciation also utilises 
mentorship and coaching to strengthen the skills, 
attitudes and competencies of staff.

Enterprise and supplier 
development
Capital Appreciation’s subsidiaries have developed 
business relationships with a range of emerging 
Black-owned enterprises and preferential 
procurement processes continue to receive 
emphasis. Special payment facilities have been 
made to support these companies, ranging from 
advance payments to enable them to order stock,  
to rapid settlement of invoices, particularly in  
micro-enterprises. The support also includes offering 
interest free loans, skills transfer, working space 
and other resources that small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SMMEs) require to build sustainable 
businesses.

As part of the Group’s transformation initiatives,  
it established a programme of enterprise 
development funding, with the first allocation to 
GovChat, a black controlled technology enterprise 
and Synthesis provided technical guidance and 
skilled personnel to support the GovChat team.

Corporate social investment 
(CSI)
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Operating context and strategy

While Covid-19 has been a catalyst for 
increasing demand for the Group’s 
solutions, the attendant negative 
economic environment impacted the 
Company’s clients and the pace of its 
growth.
The first priority in response to the pandemic 
was the health and safety of the team, both in 
the immediate face of the pandemic and then 
throughout the year. The emotional wellness of all 
the employees was a high priority and the Group 
committed the resources to ensure its people 
continued to prosper.

As suppliers to companies who were deemed to be 
providers of essential services (i.e. banking services), 
Capital Appreciation’s Group entities continued 
to operate, and provided uninterrupted service to 
clients throughout the year.

The Covid-19 pandemic had a significant impact on 
the Group’s clients and their customers, including 
material credit losses, retailer shutdowns, reduced 
retail activity and stringent cash flow management. 
The merchants in the entertainment sector 
were particularly hard hit, some of whom had to 
close their doors permanently due to prolonged 
lockdown measures. As a consequence, the Group 
encountered delayed client capital expenditure 
plans, slower sales cycles and a cautious approach to 
green-lighting new projects.

There were also delays in shipments from Asia and 
supply chain issues related to microchips.

The pandemic has accelerated demand for 
technology solutions that will permit companies 
and people to function remotely. International 
and domestic research shows that companies 
expect to spend significantly more on technology 
and solutions to reduce financial and operational 
risk, create mobility and simplify remote working. 
E-commerce has become more popular as 
consumers choose to shop online from home rather 
than risk exposure to Covid-19. Technology is also 
being seen as a solution to financial inclusion.

Covid-19 pandemic

FinTech operating  
environment

FinTech involves innovative and 
transformative technology solutions 
which compete with, or disrupt, 
conventional methods of delivery  
of financial services.
Even prior to the pandemic the financial services 
sector was experiencing unprecedented change 
due to increasing market regulation, rapidly 
evolving consumer expectations, increasing 
technological adoption by consumers and 
accelerating disruption to historic value chains. 
The pandemic amplified the rate of change 
and accelerated the natural pattern of demand 
for change. Much of this change is attributable 
to inventive technologies and the innovative 
application of such technology, not only in the 
financial services sector but in all areas of the 
economy.

The impact of technology is particularly evident 
in the payment sector, affecting relationships 
between financial institutions and their 
consumer clients, financial institutions and their 
corporate retailer clients, retailers and their 
consumer customers and among consumers 
themselves. There are also increasing demands 
and requirements for financial institutions to 
enhance regulatory compliance reporting while 
simultaneously reducing their costs of delivery.

Changing consumer behaviours and emerging 
technologies, services and business models 
in other sectors are moulding customers’ 
expectations of financial services providers.  
By comparison, competitive contemporary 
services can no longer be delivered off legacy 
systems in a cost-effective and timely manner, if 
at all.

The Covid-19 pandemic has accelerated 
digitalisation: to cater for social distancing, 
remote work and remote customer engagement. 
Cash has become the least preferred means 
to settle transactions. The human crisis has 
emphasised the need for financial inclusion.

FinTech trends to be aware of in the short to 
medium term include the move to digital-only 
banking, the adoption of contactless technology, 
the increasing use of artificial intelligence and 
machine learning by financial institutions and 
the aim to open financial services and banking 
to the previously unbanked. Opportunities for 
international expansion and partnerships will 
characterise the FinTech sector.
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Capital Appreciation’s
investment criteria
The Group continues to explore the 
technology sector, seeking to identify 
compatible bolt-on enterprises for potential 
acquisition that are suitably mature and 
reasonably priced. 

In Capital Appreciation’s desire for value 
creation, the Group focuses on several 
attractive differentiating attributes:

 � Innovative technology related to 
financial services

 � Business models or technology already 
evidencing user acceptance on the 
adoption curve

 � Significant growth potential

 � Focused on the needs of institutional 
clients, not end-consumer

 � Synergistic opportunities with existing 
operating units

 � Can easily transcend international and 
continental borders

The Group remains strongly focused on 
companies that can expand and generate 
scale within a reasonable timeframe 
and provide satisfactory organic growth 
and shareholder returns, where Capital 
Appreciation’s capital and strategic capability 
can be successfully leveraged.

Covid-19 has had a significant impact on the nature 
of payments as cash has become increasingly 
unpopular and contactless payments have been 
endorsed by WHO. Merchants have shown more 
interest in digital payments and value added 
functionality.

While only a small proportion of South African 
corporates currently use cloud services there are 
indications that the demand for cloud services 
continues to grow with the South African market 
expecting 30% four-year CAGR. A number of 
strategic benefits are driving decisions to migrate 
to cloud, including cost savings, staff productivity, 
operational resilience and business agility. 

Capital Appreciation’s subsidiaries are ideally 
placed with the experience, expertise, creativity 
and reputation to fully support clients as they make 
these technological strategic shifts. As opportunities 
arise, the Group has the cash and resources to take 
advantage of value adding opportunities.
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Operating context and strategy (continued)

Execution strategy
Capital Appreciation has applied a consistent execution strategy for the past four years, which has delivered 
substantial growth and has cemented relationships with customers. The Group’s philosophy is to partner, 
innovate and execute. 

Partner

Work with financial 
institutions

Create ecosystems 
for collaboration

B2B

B2B2C

Deliver solutions to 
help clients realise their 

strategy

Focus on infrastructure

Innovate

State of the art  
proprietary technology

Entrepreneurial culture

Hardware agnostic

Add value

Integrate seamlessly  
with legacy systems

Grow market

Execute

Service excellence

Alleviate pain points

User experience

Create ecosystem

Act as a innovation  
catalyst for clients

Engender trust
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Growth strategy
Capital Appreciation’s growth strategy consists of 
a multi-pronged set of initiatives, aimed at taking 
advantage of the many growth opportunities that 
are available to the Group and delivering a strong 
organic growth trajectory. The Company also has 
the resources and capability to augment its organic 
capabilities with acquisitions that will add value and 
be closely aligned to its overall strategy.

Organic  
growth

Acquisitive  
growth

 � A broad range of organic as well as acquisitive growth opportunities are 
available to Capital Appreciation

 � Acquisition activity will depend on strategic fit as well as valuations
 � The economic climate is impacting Capital Appreciation’s clients and 

remains present in its planning

Payments & Payment  
Infrastructure

Software &  
Services

 � Accelerated growth in POS device 
estate as penetration increases in 
banking as well as SMME sector

 � Introduction of new platforms will 
generate new growth and open up 
new market segments

 � New product pipeline

 � Strong and growing adoption of 
cloud-based solutions

 � Regulatory compliance  
requirements

 � Further international expansion

 � Significant opportunity in 
new technologies

The growth in the Group’s various lines of business, 
demonstrated in the past year, has been achieved 
in a low economic growth environment and under 
challenging conditions for South Africa. The Group 
believes that it is exceptionally well placed to 
capitalise on any improvements in the domestic 
economy.

Growth  
opportunities
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Chairman’s letter

“During the past year, 
Covid-19 placed South Africa 
on an irreversible path. Many of 
our and other new technology 
applications presented welcome 
solutions, functional convenience 
and meaningful advantage into 
our daily lives – surely there can 
be no turning back.”

In our areas of endeavour, more and more 
organisations impacted by the consequences 
of Covid-19 suddenly recognised the strategic 
importance of new and improved technology, 
architecture and applications as a critical and 
necessary component of their business. There can 
be little doubt, therefore, that the challenges of 
Covid-19 placed South Africa on an irreversible path 
of realisation, and that the benefits of technology 
offered welcome solutions, functional convenience 
and meaningful advantage into our daily lives –  
surely there can be no turning back. 

I am particularly proud to record that, notwith-
standing increased client demands during these 
uncommonly onerous times, our development and 
services teams, consistent with their reputation for 
delivery and dependability, were able to ensure that 
clients sustain efficient and beneficial services to 
their own customers. 

Given these unusual circumstances and the adverse 
impact and disruption the pandemic brought 
to bear on the economy as a whole, the Group 
results for the year under review can be regarded 
as highly satisfactory. The comprehensive and 
detailed financial performance of the Group and 
its subsidiaries are set out later in this Report. 
However, for a better appreciation and more relevant 
measurement of the year’s trading performance, 
one must have regard to “like-for-like” 2020 income 
comparisons. In short, if one excludes the premium 
interest earned in 2020, (even on lower average 
cash resources), the net unrealised mark-to-market 
foreign exchange gains and the “one-off” capital 
gain on the sale of the Group’s interest in Australia, 
the difference in EBITDA and EPS for the year would 
have been approximately negative 4%. 

Capital Appreciation, nevertheless, was able to 
consistently improve its working capital resources, 
substantially through robust cash generation 

Dear Capital Appreciation Investors and 
Stakeholders, 

Company and business 
activities
I write to you at the end of an extremely 
demanding year, commencing in April 2020 with 
a palpable sense of economic caution, but 
thereafter, even more adversely impacted by the 
calamitous effects of a growing Covid-19 virus 
infection rate in South Africa, with a similar 
pattern in countries all around the world. 
Severe lockdown regulations were imposed 
by Government on business and citizens in 
an attempt to limit the transmission of the 
contagion, with strict limitations on people’s 
movement and engagement, including 
compliance with other severe protective 
measures. 

This past year, therefore, has not been easy for 
any business, organisation and/or individual. 
Regretfully, it became common practice during 
the year to have to share one’s sympathies 
and condolences with clients, colleagues, 
staff and friends who lost either personnel, 
family members and/or associates due to the 
Covid-19 contagion. 

The negative effect on operational and financial 
performances forced a review and refocus 
of many business models and procedures. 
Many businesses regarded as “non-essential 
services” were forced to close. Where possible, 
working from home became the order of 
the day. In circumstances where this was not 
practical, protective structures for social and 
staff distancing needed to be introduced. In 
our case, I need to extend my sincere thanks 
and appreciation to our divisional management 
who coordinated and sustained the necessary 
measures for the safe presence of critical staff, 
who willingly attended to their duties at our 
Group premises. 
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management during the year, this, notwithstanding 
the declaration of two dividend payments 
amounting to R64.6 million. The Group’s business 
is well capitalised, clearly reflected by the strength 
of its balance sheet, which at year end reflects a 
positive current ratio of 762%, with cash resources of 
R538.3 million. 

Our talented teams continued to develop new 
solutions and to work on new innovative products 
and services. We are also proud to have expanded 
our client base during the year, at the same time, 
further entrenching our well-established client 
relationships, in many cases, with additional 
contracts for expanded appointments. 

New innovations during the year included the 
compelling Halo Dot “tap on glass” payment 
application and SHôPING, a loyalty and payment 
platform application for a listed property group. 
These are likely to add further revenue growth to our 
operational income and earnings in years to come. 

Capital Appreciation has a 35% interest in GovChat,  
a technology start-up enterprise, which developed 
and manages an exciting communication platform,  
inter alia, to enable citizens to engage with 
Government and vice versa. The platform is 
ever-evolving with almost all of the software 
development being done under contract by Group 
subsidiary, Synthesis. In addition to a commencing 
R20 million loan granted to GovChat in 2019 the 
Group recently approved an additional R25 million 
loan facility. 

Apart from the many “rate and report” messages 
passing through the GovChat platform on a monthly 
basis, GovChat has provided extraordinary service 
to the Department of Health in its reporting of 
approximately 400 000 Covid-19 test results to 
citizens electronically. More impressively, GovChat 
played a significant role in the Department of Social 
Development’s SRD grant application process, 
initiating more than four million such applications 

over a period of three months. There are a number 
of compelling prospects in the pipeline for the use 
and monetisation of the GovChat platform and 
GovChat’s progress will be reported on from time 
to time. GovChat is presently engaged in litigation 
with Facebook/WhatsApp and the SA Competition 
Commission is presently in the process of 
investigating WhatsApp market dominance, the 
abuse of its market power and other matters related 
to GovChat continuing its use of the WhatsApp 
platform. During March 2021, the Competition 
Tribunal found prima facie evidence of GovChat’s 
allegations against Facebook/WhatsApp and we are 
actively supporting GovChat in this matter.

Governance and directorate
The Board and management continued to maintain 
the expected high levels of good governance with 
leadership and staff, conducting themselves with 
moral rectitude and integrity in all of its business 
practices. The social and ethics committee provides 
guidelines to ensure that all our business dealings 
and partnerships are conducted fairly and ethically. 
The nominations and remuneration committee 
has comprehensively reported on all remuneration 
matters and the Group’s Remuneration Policy 
was well supported and approved at last year’s 
Annual General Meeting (AGM). Board committees, 
which also include audit and risk, investment and 
nominations, meet regularly and when necessary to 
fulfil their obligations in terms of the Board Charter. 

As Chairman, I am satisfied that the Board is diverse 
and comprises the technical, entrepreneurial, 
financial and business skills required to oversee the 
Company’s affairs. We welcomed new  
non-executive director, Ms Roxy Maqache, to the 
Board in December 2020 as a nominee of the PIC, 
our largest shareholder. Roxy’s past international, 
regional and domestic experience will be invaluable 
to the Group and adds to the diversity of the Board. 
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Dividend
The Board has declared a final dividend of 3.00 cents 
per share, giving a total dividend for the year of 
5.50 cents per share, an increase of 10.0%. Although 
Capital Appreciation has no fixed dividend policy, 
the Board considers interim and final dividends 
at the end of each reporting period, based on 
sector economics, actual earnings, affordability and 
resources required for potential expansion and/or 
acquisitions.

Outlook
The recently commenced Covid-19 vaccine rollout 
for adult South Africans hopefully heralds a turning 
point in dealing with the pandemic, not least the 
prospect of a return to past normalities, including 
a rapid recovery and improvement in the country’s 
economy. We hold the view that the growing 
demand for digitalisation and tech-based solutions 
and applications will continue, where more and 
more people and businesses will, directly  
and/or indirectly, embrace the escalating technology 
conversions for greater convenience, easier 
engagement and cost efficiency advantage. Given 
the aforesaid notion, we remain cautiously confident 
about the prospects of the Group going forward. 

We are fortunate to be able to start the new 
financial year with a strong order pipeline. Given  
the proven and well-established reputations  

of each of our business units, the Group remains 
well-positioned to provide our institutional 
and corporate clients with new, creative and 
differentiated digital service offerings. We remain 
interested in synergistic acquisition opportunities, 
which will add value to the overall business and 
create value for our stakeholders. 

Acknowledgements
I extend my sincere gratitude to Capital 
Appreciation’s senior executives for their leadership 
and inspiration over the past year. My thanks are 
also extended to the divisional management 
teams and all of our employees for their dedication 
and commitment which continued to add to the 
success of our Group. I would like to express my 
appreciation to my fellow Board members for 
their valued guidance, sound judgement and 
dependable support during the year. Finally, to our 
loyal shareholders and customers, thank you for your 
continued support and interest in our Group.

We look forward with optimism. 

Michael (Motty) Sacks
Chairman

Chairman’s letter (continued)
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Joint Chief Executives’ review

Introduction
The Covid-19 pandemic, together with the 
lockdown measures introduced by the 
Government and the direct and indirect 
economic consequences of the health crisis, 
exacerbated already challenging economic 
circumstances in South Africa. Responding 
to these circumstances, navigating the 
related challenges and maintaining Capital 
Appreciation’s growth trajectory occupied a 
large portion of management’s time this year.

The Group’s comprehensive and decisive 
response to the pandemic allowed us to 
continue to offer our clients exceptional, 
uninterrupted service and the expertise they 
have come to expect. Aside from the number 
of terminals delivered, overall demand for the 
Group’s products and services grew, albeit at 
a slower pace than before. No business was 
lost, we attracted several new high-profile 
clients and, continued to gain market share 
with existing clients. This is testament to our 
reputation, innovation, quality and efficient 
service delivery, as well as to the quality of 
the relationship we have cultivated with 
clients. The Group’s financial performance 
was satisfactory under the circumstances 
and our businesses performed extremely well 
operationally. The Group continues to invest 
in new opportunities, remains attractive as an 
employer to highly skilled and talented team 
members and continues to believe in the market 
opportunity identified when first entering the 
Financial Technology (FinTech) sector.

Overall, the pandemic forced clients to re-evaluate 
their priorities and reassess the importance and 
benefits of contemporary technology. This has had 
a positive effect on the medium- and long-term 
demand for our products and services. 

 � In the Payments division, the need for contactless 
payment capability was evident across a broad 
spectrum of sectors resulting in enterprise clients 
accelerating their plans to deploy new payment 
devices accommodating these capabilities. 
Similarly, the reduced use of cash drove consumers 
and merchants to look for digital solutions, driving 
merchants to look for new payment acceptance 
solutions. These developments led to overall 
market growth and the acceptance of innovative 
solutions such as Halo Dot    refer to page 37. 

 � In the Software division, the need for technical 
efficiency, the ability to innovate rapidly and the 
strategic importance of responsive technology 
occupied the C-suite’s deliberations. While 
enterprise client budgets were cut, priorities 
shifted, and the flexibility afforded by digital 
channels, cloud, artificial intelligence and machine 
learning gained primacy. This has led to long-term 
secular demand for the expertise and capabilities 
resident within Capital Appreciation.

Our teams were active during the hard lockdown 
periods, using the time to automate internal systems, 
complete the development of our transaction 
processing switch for our new payment services and 
to work on innovation, research and development. 
We maintained a motivated employee base and 
continued to be one of the preferred employers in 
the FinTech sector. We took advantage of remote 
working to experiment with recruiting exceptional 
talent across the globe and found this to be a 
potential long-term solution to recruiting high-
calibre, specialist skills. We continued to extend our 
geographic footprint with notable business from 
countries in Africa and Asia Pacific and the Group 
will be opening an office in The Netherlands as 
detailed elsewhere. 

“The principles that underlie 
the strategy we laid out at 
the beginning of our journey, 
namely Partner, Innovate and 
Execute, have served us well. 
These principles, and the values 
they evoke, guided us during this 
tough period and have kept us on 
the path to long-term success.”
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Lockdown and social distancing introduced new 
challenges, particularly in terms of our client-centric 
approach, which has always placed a high emphasis 
on face-to-face engagement. As a result, it was an 
adjustment to transition to a remote sales model, 
however, this was promptly initiated and we were 
pleased at how quickly our teams adapted. Client 
interaction transitioned to virtual meetings and 
product delivery continued remotely. 

The physical health and mental well-being of our 
team was paramount and we introduced a myriad 
of programmes to keep employees connected, 
motivated and engaged. We want to publicly 
recognise our People Team for their fantastic efforts 
in this regard. 

Divisional review and operational 
highlights
Payments
The Payments division’s performance was adversely 
impacted by Covid-19. Expenditure was well 
managed and costs tightly controlled. The lower 
operating profit for this year does not appropriately 
reflect the future opportunity set for this business. 
Very importantly, Payments continued to be 
characterised by strong cash generation. 

Although we had numerous accomplishments 
during the year it would be remiss if we did not 
address the lower level of new terminal sales in 
the second half of the financial year. We view this 
as a once-off event directly attributable to the 
effects of Covid-19. Indications are that the overall 
addressable market for digital payment acceptance 
solutions grew as a result of the pandemic (i.e. the 
opportunity set grew and the demand remains 
unmet). Merchants and consumers are increasingly 
reluctant to handle cash. Established merchants 
want to accept contactless payment and smaller 
merchants want a cost-effective payment gateway. 
The initial lockdown and the subsequent negative 

impact on retailers resulted in investment delays 
which impacted the second half. We are, however, 
encouraged by the resurgence of new orders that 
were received towards the end of our fiscal year, 
with new terminals delivered in the first quarter of 
the 2022 financial year. 

It is also worth noting that the tough operating 
environment negatively impacted some of our 
direct merchant clients, especially the small micro 
enterprises. The economic pressures, exacerbated by 
Covid-19 restrictions, resulted in several merchants 
closing their businesses – some temporarily and 
some permanently, while others requested payment 
relief in the form of terminal rental contract revisions 
and/or payment deferments. Most companies 
recorded fewer transactions and a number of rental 
devices had to be written off due to the inability to 
recover them when businesses closed. 

Despite the challenging backdrop, the size of the 
terminal estate in the hands of our clients continued 
to grow to 217 000, amounting to more than 17% 
year-on-year growth. The number of active terminals 
in the market grew to more than 175 000, reflecting 
year-on-year growth of 30%. Dashpay’s active user 
base increased by 81.5% during the year. 

Payments introduced new systems, delivered 
new products and initiated new services, all while 
maintaining its focus on client service with a healthy 
workforce. 

 � It introduced and activated an Android-based 
payment platform using payment devices 
manufactured by Newland, which was the first in 
South Africa at an enterprise bank level.  
The feedback from customers, retailers and 
consumer users has been remarkably positive. 
In addition to the robust solutions we already 
offer on the existing estate of more than 
175 000 terminals, we are excited about the 
benefits innovative solutions leveraging the new 
contemporary platform will afford customers.

 � The focus on developing and introducing  
value-added services allowed the Group to bring 
numerous products to market despite the muted 
retail environment. A prime example of this is 
“SHôPING”, a gift card solution now available in 
The Mall of Africa and soon other malls within the 
Attacq group. These products have continued 
to gain market traction and will yield increased 
recurring transaction revenue in years to come. 

 � Dashpay completed the redevelopment of its 
transaction processing infrastructure, including its 
migration away from Mercantile Bank.  
PASA (the Payments Association of South Africa) 
recently eliminated certain restrictions which 
now permits increased flexibility for Dashpay’s 
operations, and bodes well for its future product 
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offerings. We continue to invest in the business 
and believe Dashpay is well-positioned to continue 
on its growth path. 

 � Halo Dot transitioned from being a smart 
technology idea into a fully functional card 
payment acceptance capability that can be 
installed on any Android-powered smart device. 
The “tap-on-phone” contactless payment 
capability has been broadened to also include 
PIN entry capabilities, all of which have Visa, 
Mastercard and American Express certification. 
The solution is world class and use-cases for 
the deployment of Halo Dot as a software 
development kit (SDK), an app or a payment-as-
a-service are unbounded. The team is focused 
on capturing the opportunity in a variety of local, 
regional and international markets. 

 � Payments invested in LayUp, a digital LayBy 
application that allows consumers to pay for 
goods or services over a period of time. The value 
of the service to merchants, and its free-to-use by 
consumers, has been well-received. The solution 
is available online (e-commerce) and at physical 
points of sale. Payments has developed an 
application that will allow LayUp to be available 
across the more than 200 000 devices managed 
across the Group subject to bank clients’ consent. 

 Refer to page 34 for more detail on LayUp. 

Software
Operationally, Synthesis continued to outperform 
and posted satisfactory financial results for the year. 
Despite the challenges presented by the pandemic, 
Synthesis managed to increase overall revenue, 
albeit at a more moderated level than historically. 
At the onset of the pandemic clients reassessed 
most projects that were underway and undertook 
a more deliberate and conservative approach to 
contracting. All our projects continued to enjoy 
institutional support and, after some initial delays, 
continued apace. Additionally, all client software 
licence contracts were renewed as anticipated. 

The Asia Pacific region contributed to the growth in 
international sales. Synthesis managed its operating 
costs well and recorded moderate revenue growth, 
maintaining its operating margin and generating 
strong cash flow. 

In addition to its traditional outward-focused 
customer efforts, including work with banks in 
Lesotho, Namibia and Malawi, Synthesis continued 
to develop and enhance the GovChat platform, 
collaborated with the Payments division on 
numerous initiatives, including the launch and 
subsequent enhancements to Halo Dot and started 
a social investment venture with SA Harvest to track 
its food rescue operation. 

Synthesis continued to invest in its growing 
relationship with Amazon’s AWS and qualified for 
Microsoft Workloads competency and Security 
competency in addition to its DevOps, Financial 
Services and Well Architected competencies. 
Synthesis also established a relationship with 
SalesForce, a leading American cloud-based 
customer relationship management software 
company used by many South African financial 
institutions. 

Share-based payment scheme
We operate in a highly competitive market and 
require skilled and talented employees. In order to 
attract and retain such talent, we implemented the 
new conditional share plan which was approved by 
shareholders in September 2020. The plan aligns 
the interests of our shareholders with the Company 
and positively rewards the team responsible for 
the execution of our value-enhancing strategy. 
We believe it provides a significant competitive 
advantage in attracting and retaining highly sought-
after skills.

Strategy review
It is now common cause and broadly recognised 
that technology has an increasingly important role to 
play in our and the world’s economies going forward, 
particularly as we transition to a “new normal”. 

Payments
In South Africa, more than 70% of transactions are 
settled in cash, with over 60 billion cash transactions 
per year, which presents a significant opportunity for 
digitalisation considering that there are more than 
50 million debit and credit cards in issue. Capital 
Appreciation envisages a market opportunity of 
more than 800 000 payment acceptance devices 
in South Africa alone, with many more across 
Africa. Capital Appreciation has and will continue 
to position itself to capitalise on these trends and 
pursue the opportunities diligently. 

We believe that the market for digital payment and 
payment acceptance has increased, not only in 
South Africa but across the continent and beyond. 
This leads to:

 � an increased market opportunity to deploy 
terminals to both existing, and new and emerging 
merchant segments; 

 � increased demand for digital customer 
engagement services and value-added services 
that streamline and enhance customer experience; 

 � demand for business management tools that 
automate business intelligence (i.e. reducing 
administrative overhead and cost); and

 � an expanded bouquet of payment tender types 
and consumer-focused value-added services  
(like LayUp). 

Joint Chief Executives’ review (continued)
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Software
There has been a huge secular shift accelerating an 
already robust long-term demand for the expertise 
of Synthesis:

 � the opportunity in cloud remains vast and 
compelling as large institutions migrate to 
cloud-based infrastructure;

 � rapid data analysis is making real-time decision-
making a reality such as contextual presentation 
of opportunities to drive revenue and real-time 
identification of fraud to prevent loss;

 � the ability to engage with customers on their 
terms (when and where they are) versus forcing 
attendance at an office during prescribed times, 
allows for 24/7 customer service and enhanced 
customer relationships. This has accelerated from 
only being a competitive advantage to a specific 
necessity demanded by customers; and

 � reduced operating costs through automation and 
robotics is increasingly important, particularly 
where the burden of regulatory compliance 
continues to increase.

Our strategy is to pursue these opportunities 
with vigour and continue to demonstrate a 
leadership position in enterprise-focused solutions. 
Collaboration among our divisions continues to yield 
positive results, with Halo Dot a prime example, 
and we anticipate promoting this as commercial 
and technology opportunities dictate. We continue 
to explore expansion into additional commercial 
verticals that could benefit from the Group’s 
expertise and have done this successfully already in 
retail and healthcare.

Our plan for 2022 is to stay focused and address 
the myriad opportunities in front of us, some that 
we have nurtured for many years only coming to 
fruition now. We will continue to Partner, Innovate 
and Execute. Our Halo Dot solution has generated 
substantial interest globally, our relationships 
with our strategic supply partners remains strong, 
enterprise clients appreciate the capabilities we offer 
and new clients around the world are beginning 
to recognise our capabilities and expertise. In 
September 2021 we will officially open a European 
office that will serve as the springboard for increased 
international efforts. This is a decision taken on the 
back of client interest and we believe the team is up 
to the challenge.

Capital Appreciation is well capitalised – the Group 
has R538 million on its balance sheet and no debt 
(excluding lease liabilities as per IFRS 16). We have a 
very experienced management team that has been 
through a number of business cycles in the past. The 
Group will continue to use the strong balance sheet 
to its advantage and look for acquisitions, as it had 

indicated in the past. We continue to evaluate the 
technology sector, seeking to identify compatible 
bolt-on enterprises. Finding suitably mature and 
reasonably priced businesses in the sector has 
proven challenging. However, it is not unlikely that 
the current financial dislocation will present some 
interesting opportunities.

Outlook
We are cautiously optimistic about our performance 
in the coming year. While our products and services 
are in high demand and the secular trends are 
extremely positive, there is much uncertainty about 
the local and global economy and the ongoing 
and challenging effects of the pandemic. We are 
also cognisant of the global electronic component 
shortage and are working with both suppliers and 
customers to manage this issue. These exogenous 
factors are likely to have an impact on our clients, 
their decision-making and their pace of spending. 

Our teams are leaning into the crisis and have a 
positive mindset. We understand the magnitude 
of the challenge but also the magnitude of the 
opportunity. Our businesses have proved resilient 
in the face of unprecedented challenges and have 
continued to deliver exceptional service and value to 
clients. We remain focused on the opportunity while 
being vigilant custodians of shareholder capital. 
We are deliberate in our decision-making and seek 
to manage both operational and financial risk and 
are well-positioned to continue on our growth path. 

Appreciation
We wish to commend our management teams for 
their exceptional leadership during an extraordinary 
year. We also thank our employees for their 
willingness to adapt and meet the challenges while 
maintaining their focus on innovation and excellent 
customer service. We are grateful to our Chairman 
and Board for their insight and guidance; and to our 
clients and shareholders for their ongoing support. 

We are looking forward to the year ahead. 

Michael Pimstein  Bradley Sacks
Joint Chief Executive Officers

Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021 27

Organisational 
overview

Performance 
and outlook Accountability Financial 

statements Shareholders



Report from the Chief Financial Officer

Generally, weak economic conditions in 
South Africa were compounded by the financial 
consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
which in our case were prevalent for the entire 
12 months of our financial year. Under the 
challenging conditions, Capital Appreciation 
delivered a solid set of results. The financial and 
operational performances of our businesses 
have been resilient and would have been 
materially better in a normalised economy. 

Capital Appreciation generated gross revenue 
for the period of R619.5 million (2020: 
R701.2 million), a decrease of 11.7%, mainly due 
to lower terminal sales and the opportunity cost 
on project delays. Operating costs reduced by 
12.7% to R125 million  
(2020: R143 million) primarily due to stringent 
cost control and lower activity-based costs. 

Profit before tax last year included the  
once-off pre-tax capital gain of R8.7 million from 
the sale of Resonance Australia. This was part 
of the share repurchase and small related party 
transactions concluded in September 2019. 

EBITDA of R172.9 million (2020: R204.7 million), 
reflects a decrease of 15.5%. Headline 
earnings decreased by 11.1% to R126.4 million 
(2020: R142.3 million), translating into basic EPS 
for the period of 10.28 cents (2020: 11.24 cents), 
down 8.5%, and a decline of 3.1% in HEPS to 
10.34 cents (2020: 10.67 cents).

Certain noteworthy events and accounting 
treatments affected the comparability of this 
year’s results relative to the prior year and 
included: 

 � A substantial order of terminals placed during 
the 2021 financial year, which could not be 
delivered before 31 March 2021. The order 
was completed in the first quarter of the 
2022 financial year, generating significant 
revenue, profit and cash for the 2022  
financial year. 

 � An unrealised mark-to-market foreign exchange 
loss of R1.2 million on forward cover contracts. This 
compares to an unrealised mark-to-market foreign 
exchange gain of R14.6 million in the prior year. 

 � The 300 basis points decline in the South African 
repo rate last year led to a weighted average 
decline of 2.8% in the interest rate yield earned on 
cash balances. The resulting reduction in interest 
received of R17.7 million was 45.8% below last year, 
this notwithstanding higher cash resources. 

 � The share-based payment expense increased from 
R1.7 million to R7.0 million due to the allocation of 
share incentives in terms of the new, long-term 
incentive schemes introduced in the latter part 
of the prior year. The ability to offer share-based 
incentives is regarded as a significant competitive 
advantage in attracting and retaining highly 
sought-after and scarce skills. 

 � Dashpay has been in a start-up and development 
phase since acquisition, building, refining, 
and upgrading its platforms, systems, and 
infrastructure. It is particularly pleasing to note 
that this business generated its maiden operating 
profit and became cash generative in the current 
financial year, which resulted in the recognition 
of a deferred tax asset of R11.3 million emanating 
from a pre-acquisition assessed tax loss of 
R40.5 million.

As a result of the share repurchase and small related 
party transaction in September 2019, 245 million 
shares were repurchased and cancelled, thereby 
reducing our total shares in issue by 15.8% to 
1 310 000 000. The weighted average number of 
shares in issue for the reporting year reduced to 
1 222 965 163, compared to 1 333 003 863 in the 
prior period. During the year, Capital Appreciation 
repurchased 1 204 784 treasury shares  
(2020: 45 144 351) at a cost of R1 239 million. 

“Over the past four financial 
years, we have generated 
operating cash flows of 
R786 million and paid out 
R266 million in dividends, which 
have been covered by cash flow 
from operations of between 
2.7 and 3.2 times.”
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As of 31 March 2021, the Group held a total of 
79 991 135 treasury shares at an average cost price 
of 70 cents per share. The treasury shares will be 
used for long-term incentive allotments and smaller 
acquisitions. 

Capital Appreciation maintains an uncomplicated, 
simple balance sheet with no contingent liabilities, 
no post-retirement obligations and no post-year-
end events. The Group continues to be highly cash 
generative and at year-end, we had cash resources 
of R538.3 million (2020: R505.1 million). Strong focus 
on asset management of the Group’s asset-light 
businesses generated cash flow from operations of 
R200.9 million (2020: R206.1 million). Net asset value 
per share increased from 109.0 cents per share to 
111.9 cents, mainly due to the higher cash balances. 
Cash represented 41 cents of the Group’s closing 
share price of 100 cents on 31 March 2021. 

The Group’s cash is invested with South Africa’s 
top-rated banks and interest rate risks are 
managed conservatively to maximise yield through 
appropriate interest rate cover, particularly in a 
declining interest rate environment.

Over the past four financial years, we have generated 
operating cash flows of R786 million and paid out 
R266 million in dividends, which have been covered 
by cash flow from operations of between 2.7 and 
3.2 times. The Board declared a final dividend of 
3.00 cents per ordinary share (2020: 2.75 cents per 
share), bringing the total dividend for the year to 
5.50 cents per share (2020: 5.00 cents per share). 
Following this declaration, dividends to shareholders 
have increased for the fourth consecutive year.

DIVIDENDS AND OPERATING CASH FLOW 
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In building its growth pipeline, Capital Appreciation 
acquired a 26.52% interest in start-up LayUp 
Technologies in January 2021. LayUp is Africa’s first 
fully digital Lay-by and recurring payments business. 

Divisional review 
The economic slowdown during the hard lockdown 
period provided the Group with the opportunity to 
accelerate innovation, which will assist in expanding 
our range of products and services, the benefit of 
which will accrue in future periods.

Payments division 
The Payments division’s performance was hindered 
by the impact of Covid-19, specifically on the 
restaurant, hospitality and retail sectors, which 
resulted in reduced or delayed demand for payment 
terminals and requests for terminal rental relief. 
In addition, the late delivery of a large consignment 
of terminals had a notable impact on revenue during 
the period under review. The financial results of this 
division were impacted by the unrealised mark-to-
market foreign exchange loss compared to a gain  
in 2020. 
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Report from the Chief Financial Officer (continued)

The Payments division generated revenue of 
R397.4 million (2020: R506.2 million), down 21.5% 
and EBITDA of R140.4 million (2020: R161.8 million), 
down 13.2%. Profit after tax of R112.3 million 
(2020: R115.3 million) was down 2.6%. 

After being in a start-up and development phase 
since acquisition, Dashpay’s improved financial 
performance supported the recognition of a 
deferred tax asset. Dashpay has budgeted for 
sustainable revenue, profit and cash flow growth 
in the 2022 financial year.

Terminal sales, the biggest contributor to 
performance, declined by 36.8% to R209.5 million 
(2020: R331.6 million). Despite the lower sales, 
Payments continued to grow market share with 
the total number of terminals in the hands of 
customers increasing by 17% to 217 000 units. 
Sales growth continued in the first half of the year, 
but actual deployments rapidly decreased as banks’ 
merchant base customers contracted. Deployment 
of terminals, however, improved in the second half of 
the year with the total deployed estate growing by 
30% to 175 000 units. New terminal orders resumed 
towards the end of the financial year. Legacy 
rental income continued to decline as contracts 
reached maturity and clients shifted from rented to 
purchased terminals. 

In contrast, annuity-based service and maintenance 
income on the deployed terminal estate grew by a 
healthy 19.6%. The Payments division provides  
end-to-end terminal estate management services 
for its clients. This has enabled the Company to build 
a growing long-term annuity revenue stream, linked 
to a sizeable terminal base and attractive value-
added services. 

Annualised Gross Transaction Value (GTV) within 
the Dashpay business grew by 30.6% to R6.4 billion, 
despite being affected by the Covid-19-related 
decline in commercial activity processed through 
terminals. Certain terminals had to be written off 
due to an inability to recover them from merchants 
who had ceased to operate. This notwithstanding, 
Dashpay’s active user base increased by 81.5%  
year-on-year. 

Expenses and assets were prudently managed, 
with the cost base declining on a comparable basis. 
Cash generation remained strong. 

The Payments division is the first supplier in South 
Africa to deploy certified Android terminals as part of 
a broader integrated service. The Android terminals’ 
attractive functionality, price, and quality have been 

well-received by the market, with a strong pipeline, 
including committed orders, for 2022. Dashpay 
completely retrofitted its transaction processing 
switch which dynamically routes payment 
transactions between multiple acquirers and 
payment service providers. This laid the groundwork 
for further innovation such as e-commerce 
platforms and multi-lane retail solutions. 

A key project publicly launched this year was a 
closed loop, proprietary gift card solution with a 
loyalty programme for a listed property company. 
The solution is currently live in the largest retail mall 
in Africa and will be rolled out to further malls over 
time. We also launched an enhanced loyalty solution 
for use in both physical retail and e-commerce 
environments. 

Compliance and reliability are essential elements 
of our client proposition and, despite the lockdown 
challenges, all our customers’ systems were 
fully operational throughout the period. Further 
improvements on hosting and redundancy of our 
service and backup were also implemented this year.

Software division 
Synthesis continued to make strong progress in 
expanding its client base and its revenue streams. 
Despite the challenging operating environment 
which inhibited key personal interaction with 
customers and employees, the business delivered a 
solid set of financial results. 

Some customers cautiously reprioritised cash flows 
and capital expenditure, leading to elongated sales 
cycles and delays in the commencement of new 
projects. Nevertheless, Synthesis succeeded in 
expanding its service offering both within its existing 
customer base and in signing agreements with 
several new customers, including a number outside 
of South Africa. Synthesis also achieved a strong 
contribution from new areas such as Managed 
Services (MSP) and Intelligent Data, Payments and 
Cryptography, albeit off a low base. 

Revenue increased by 13.9% to R222.1 million 
(2020: R195.0 million), with services and consultancy 
fees growing by 7.1%. Annuity income from licence 
and subscription fees increased by 47.2% due to the 
roll-out of Halo Dot and Keystone products, as well 
as strong demand for RegTech products and a 
significant focus on third-party subscriptions and 
resale of products. 

Profit margins were maintained due to solid 
cost control with operating expenses remaining 
flat at R83.3 million. EBITDA increased by 6.8% 
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to R57.5 million (2020: R53.8 million) and profit 
after tax increased by 2.8% to R37.9 million 
(2020: R36.9 million). The business was a particularly 
strong cash generator this year, with a cash 
conversion of more than 100% of trading profit. 

Synthesis continued to invest in its infrastructure 
and intellectual property, which will further support 
revenue growth and profitability in future periods. 

The Group is making pleasing progress in 
diversifying the revenue base geographically for 
both divisions, gaining good traction in 10 countries 
and markets outside of South Africa. Revenue 
in other geographic regions grew by 92.9% to 
R41.1 million. This foreign revenue drive is in its 
infancy and represents a modest proportion of our 
total revenue, but it has increased from 3.2% to 6.6% 
of total revenue. 

Prospects and conclusions 
The Group has continued to implement the 
processes and procedures for business continuity 
in a Covid-19 world, which will allow the Group to 
maximise its performance and results after the 
world returns to normality. 

We are not exposed to credit risk, have no debt and 
no contingent issues or liabilities, and our well-
capitalised balance sheet and the robust operating 
cash flows position us well to take advantage of 
organic growth opportunities available to each of our 
business units. Our substantial cash resources will be 
applied to fund anticipated organic growth as well 
as complementary acquisition opportunities and we 
will continue to consider the repurchase of shares in 
the market, as appropriate. 

The Group remains strongly focused on supporting 
the organic growth of our divisions and on acquiring 
companies that can expand and generate scale 
within a reasonable timeframe, which provide 
satisfactory organic growth and returns to 
shareholders while successfully leveraging Capital 
Appreciation’s capital and strategic capability. 

We will continue to maximise the Group’s potential 
across business units, to diversify revenue streams 
and to use common synergies for the benefit of our 
customers and stakeholders. Synthesis’ Amsterdam 
office, which will open later this year, will allow it to 
capitalise on international opportunities matched 
to our skillset, services and product offerings while 
remaining focused on Halo Dot. Our outlook for the 
Payments division is positive, based on our solid 
order book and the growing annuity income which 
bode well for future performance. The new venture 

into Android technology is showing excellent results 
with strong growth potential as it enhances the 
suite of services offered to enterprise clients through 
Dashpay. 

As digital transformation, electronic payments and 
related advances continue to accelerate, we have 
the appropriate skills, experience and track record 
of innovation to assist clients to benefit from these 
technological advancements. We are excited 
about the increased adoption of new technologies 
and ways of transacting by our clients, as well 
as opportunities presented by new payment 
platforms. We have recently experienced a surge in 
demand for our services across a diverse range of 
applications, culminating in a strong sales pipeline 
for the 2022 financial year. We are well-entrenched 
with our existing customers, overseas principals 
and suppliers, and have several exciting products 
to capitalise on in growing markets. As a result, we 
are cautiously optimistic for the year ahead and are 
well-positioned to take advantage of the economic 
recovery. 

As a Group participating in a high growth sector of 
the economy, we continue to invest judiciously, with 
the full understanding that for some of the costs 
incurred we will only see the financial and earnings 
benefits in future periods. The pandemic has in 
many cases accelerated and expanded the need for 
our products and services, as well as our platforms 
and skills, and I have no doubt that we will continue 
to benefit from the investments made.

Alan Salomon
Chief Financial Officer 
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Divisional reviews

Payments and Payment Infrastructure (Payments division)
The Payments division of the Group comprises African Resonance and Dashpay. It has 
exceptional partnerships with world leaders in payment devices and technology, French-
based Ingenico, (now part of the Worldline group) and China-based Newland, for the 
provision of payment terminals to the local market and the SADC region.

African Resonance
Managing Director: Donn Engelbrecht (53), 
International Marketing and Management 
(IMM), Executive Development Programme 
(EDP) (Wits Business School)

Donn joined the African Resonance team 
five years ago, after 23 years of experience 
in banking in South Africa. Donn has an 
in-depth knowledge, experience and 
understanding of the card and payments 
industry. He has over 10 years’ executive 
leadership experience in both card 
acceptance and Issuance.

Donn was the Chairperson of the Card 
Acquirers forum in South Africa and served 
on executive committees such as the Group 
Payments Working Committee and Steering 
Committee for two of the banks for which he 
worked.

African Resonance is a leading direct and indirect 
provider of payment infrastructure, technical support 
and related technology solutions, as well as bespoke 
software solutions to established financial institutions, 
emerging payment service providers and corporate 
customers in the retail, fuel, restaurant, hospitality 
and healthcare sectors. African Resonance generates 
a predictable and progressive revenue stream and 
annuity income with contracts that have an average 
life of approximately three to five years. 

The team designs, develops and implements turnkey 
cradle-to-grave terminal estate management 
solutions. Customer-centricity is core to the African 
Resonance DNA. The company maintains strong client 
relationships with all the major banks in South Africa 
and other countries. 

In a highly competitive market, African Resonance will 
continue to nurture client relationships. 

A new operating model has been introduced, in 
addition to enhancing business processes in an 
attempt to accommodate the changes in market 
conditions. Business intelligence is another key focus 
area to help customers to better understand the 
activities associated with their terminal estate and 
merchant behaviours. African Resonance has also 
upgraded its terminal repair centre to accommodate 
Linux as well as Android-based terminals.

Donn Engelbrecht

Key statistics: Payments
  Refer to the CFO’s Report on page 28 for more detail.

2021 2020 2019

Revenue (Rm) 397.4 506.2 469.9
EBITDA (Rm) 140.4 161.8 135.5
Operating profit (Rm) 126.7 147.2 127.9
Cash flow from operations (Rm) 154.6 183.4 164.6
Training spend (Rm) 0.7 1.0 0.9
Supplier development (Rm) 2.9 2.0 3.0
Corporate Social Investment spend (Rm) 1.5 1.8 2.3
Enterprise development spend (Rm) 3.0 3.5 4.4
Number of terminals 217 000 185 000 140 000
Number of employees 159 149 119
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Dashpay
Managing Director: Benjamin Powell (45),  
MBA (Wits Business School) Executive 
Development Program (EDP) GIBS, Strategic 
Leadership Development Program (SLDP) 
GIBS

Benjamin joined Dashpay in September 2018.  
He has more than 20 years’ experience in 
payment technology, of which 14 years was 
with Nedbank where he held various senior 
positions in CIB Transactional Banking, as 
well as the Card and Payments Division.

Dashpay provides superior, secure payment solutions 
and products. Its multi-product, multi-party 
universal platform provides innovative transaction 
processing services, solutions and products focused 
on business-to-business commercial and payment 
activity. Dashpay’s technology platforms are 
adaptable and compatible with electronic point 
of sales devices and state of the art switching and 
processing capabilities.

Dashpay imports, sells and rents payment devices,  
as well, as develops customised software solutions to 
clients’ unique needs. Value added services, such as 
gift cards and loyalty programmes, a merchant cash 
advance and company insurance, are also provided. 

The Dashpay solution set is intended to complement 
and integrate into existing payment services 
provided by the Group’s established banking and 
institutional client base. Dashpay provides significant 
blue sky growth and future annuity stream 
opportunities. 

The move away from cash payments, accelerated 
by the Covid-19 pandemic, has provided new 
opportunities for smaller merchants to adopt 
card payment options. Dashpay’s solutions and 

its recently established exclusive agency for 
Newland Payment Technology (NPT) point of 
sale devices positions it well to take advantage 
of these opportunities. NPT is the second-largest 
manufacturer of payment terminals globally and a 
leader in Android technology. These terminals offer 
new functionality at an attractive price and superior 
quality which can be offered directly to SMME 
retailers and their suppliers to expand this presently 
underserviced market. Accepting electronic 
payments is the first step in allowing these SMMEs 
to participate in the formal economy. 

The past year was characterised by its successful 
financial turnaround, operational re-engineering 
and further investment in expertise, software and 
hardware in its business divisions to position it for 
further growth in the future.

Dashpay further developed its process which 
dynamically routes payment transactions between 
multiple banks and payment service providers, 
laying the groundwork for further innovation such 
as eCommerce platforms and multi-lane retail 
environments. A combined project with Synthesis 
was a closed loop, proprietary gift card solution with 
a loyalty programme for a leading listed property 
company. The solution is currently live in its largest 
mall and will be rolled out to further malls over time. 
A loyalty solution for pet products was developed 
for a global healthcare company across multiple 
distribution channels.

Compliance and reliability are essential elements 
of the client proposition and, despite the lockdown 
challenges, all customers’ systems were fully 
operational throughout the period. Further 
improvements on hosting and redundancy of 
service and backup were also implemented this year.

Benjamin Powell
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Divisional reviews (continued)

APP-y Pets 
APP-y Parents
Dashpay developed a first-of-its-kind loyalty and 
reminder app for MSD Animal Health’s Bravecto 
pet product which treats ticks, fleas and mites in 
cats and dogs. 

Consumers use the app to remind them of 
required doses, to digitally purchase products 
and to receive rewards. 

SHôPING at Mall of Africa
A highlight this year was the launch of Dashpay’s 
innovative online retail app – SHôPING – for 
Attacq’s Mall of Africa. It facilitates integrated 
digital engagement with the mall’s shoppers, 
sharing news and invitations to events. Users 
receive parking perks, can navigate the mall at 
the touch of a button, and send and redeem 
digital gift vouchers while earning loyalty 
stamps from their favourite stores. Participants 
earn “ZAKA”, a virtual currency redeemable at 
participating stores, as well as gain access to 
Attacq’s interconnected loyalty programme. 
SHôPING will be introduced to the rest of 
Attacq’s retail portfolio over time.

LayUp
LayUp is Africa’s first digital recurring payment 
system that offers automated layby and 
subscription payment technology to businesses, 
both online and in-store.

In South Africa alone, over 20 million people do 
not have access to financial services and LayUp’s 
mission is to help create financial inclusion 
throughout Africa.

By offering businesses a flexible, interest-free 
instalment system, LayUp will help to transition 
businesses legacy systems into a new era of 
digital payments.

How it works: customers choose an item in the 
store and create a LayUp account, using the 
LayUp app on their phone.

They activate their personal payment plan with 
a small deposit and break down the total cost 
into affordable monthly payments that fit their 
budget.

The payments can be made anytime, anywhere 
through a personalised online dashboard. 
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Software & Services
Synthesis is a strategic technology partner and highly specialised software 
and systems developer which provides consulting, integration services and 
technology-based product solutions to the banking, financial services, retail, 
healthcare sectors and other institutions in South Africa and other emerging 
markets. Synthesis has been a South African pioneer in the areas of cloud and 
digital, regulatory reporting technology, payments and cryptography and has 
expanded into managed services, artificial intelligence (AI) and training. 

Synthesis’ products and services enable clients 
to migrate applications to the cloud, build 
digital channels and platforms, meet regulatory 
requirements, integrate with trading platforms 
and exchanges and secure sensitive information. 
Synthesis assists institutions in becoming cloud-
ready, executing mass migrations, harnessing 
the benefits of big data analytics, and extracting 
cost savings and the regulatory benefits of cloud 
platforms. It is uniquely positioned in Africa, being 
the first company on the continent to be accredited 

Synthesis Labs
Artificial intelligence, blockchain, machine 
learning

Synthesis Academy
Technical and cloud training tailored to 
organisational objectives

as Amazon Web Services’ Advanced Consulting 
Partner with many additional competencies 
including cloud security and financial services. 

With over 24 years’ business and emerging 
technology experience, it is the partner of choice to 
pioneer innovation and competitiveness, and the 
company of choice that top technologists call home. 
Synthesis is recognised for creating strategic solutions 
and driving digital journeys for banking, financial 
services, retail, and healthcare institutions in South 
Africa, Africa, Mauritius, and the Asia Pacific regions. 

Key statistics: Software
2021 2020 2019

Revenue (Rm) 222.1 195.0 137.8
EBITDA (Rm) 57.5 53.8 44.0
Operating profit (Rm) 50.8 48.9 42.1
Cash flow from operations (Rm) 67.7 41.1 47.1
Training spend (Rm) 1.2 1.3 1.80
Corporate social investment spend (Rm) 0.7 0.5 1.35
Enterprise development spend (Rm) 0.3 1.7 0.25
Number of employees 178 166 122

  Refer to the CFO Report on page 28 for more detail.
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Synthesis’ divisions

Digital and emerging 
tech channels

Cloud  
services

Platform integration 
products (RegTech) Academy

Providing secure mobile 
and web digital channels. 

Delivering exceptional 
end-user client 

experience, web and 
mobile touchpoints 

for institutions 
while maintaining 

information security and 
transactional integrity.

Assisting customers to 
become cloud-ready.

Executing mass migrations, 
harnessing the benefits of 

innovation and big data 
analytics and extracting 

cost savings and regulatory 
benefits.

Leveraging cloud as a business 
enabler for creating customer 

experiences that excite, 
engage and inspire longevity 

in consumer relationships, 
delivers a holistic and 

transformative approach to 
cloud adoption that helps 
customers realise tangible 

business value.

Providing integration 
to enable regulatory 

reporting solutions for 
SARS (tax) and SARB 

(balance of payments), 
payment processing 

and exchange 
connectivity for 

financial institutions.

Providing onsite 
and digital-

based training 
to employees 
and customer 

teams on a range 
of emerging 
technology 

topics, such as 
cloud, artificial 

intelligence and 
machine learning.

Software & services (continued)

Synthesis is proud to be associated with a broad range of blue-chip financial institutions, including major 
banks and insurance companies, as well as a variety of corporate, financial, agricultural, retail and telecoms 
companies.

Managing Director:  
Michael Shapiro (48),  
BSc Hons in Electrical 
Engineering (Wits)

Technical Director and  
Co-founder:  
Jake Shepherd (52),  
BSc in Electrical 
Engineering (Wits)

Chief Innovation Officer:  
Tom Wells (40), BSc (Hons) 
in Computer Science 
(Information Systems) 
(Rhodes University)

Operations Director:  
Steyn Basson (43),  
(MSc, Computer 
Science (University of 
Johannesburg)

Michael joined Synthesis 
in 2003, after holding 
various leadership roles 
and positions at Internet 
Solutions and Dimension 
Data. With a strong 
interest in FinTech and 
how technology is shaping 
sectors, such as financial 
services, healthcare and 
retail, Michael’s focus is 
steering the strategy and 
entrepreneurial culture 
of Synthesis. A seasoned 
leader with more than 
24 years of experience 
in senior roles, Michael 
is passionate about 
technology and business, 
strongly results-oriented 
and is a team player who 
strives for continuous 
improvement.

Jake co-founded Synthesis 
Software Engineering in 
1997.  
In addition to leading the 
Regulatory Technology 
division, he is focused on 
nurturing the Synthesis 
culture and ensuring 
an environment that is 
conducive to innovation. 
He has mentored Synthesis 
team members and 
developed their skills to 
enhance the company’s 
capability.

Tom joined Synthesis in 
2004, bringing with him a 
background in simulation 
and command and 
control systems having 
spent the prior years at 
African Defence Systems. 
Tom guides the technical 
strategy and leads the 
innovation and disruption 
arenas at Synthesis. He 
focuses on building 
distributed, hyper-scale, 
data-driven and  
real-time platforms with a 
mandate to evaluate and 
evangelise new technology. 
Tom loves block chain, 
quantum computing, hyper 
scale and data streaming 
technologies. 

Steyn joined Synthesis in 
2002, leading the markets 
and regulatory reporting 
area of the business. He 
possesses a wealth of 
knowledge on all aspects 
of product development, 
regulatory reporting, and 
market integration. He 
plays pivotal role in the 
organisation, overseeing 
operational aspects of 
the strategic goals and is 
responsible for the flow of 
operations.
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The pandemic created challenging operating 
conditions that inhibited personal interaction with 
customers and employees, but high service levels 
were maintained throughout the year. The company 
responded quickly and effectively to the pandemic, 
ensuring that employees could work remotely and 
online. Special webinar events were arranged for 
customers, and employees were kept connected 
and motivated through Masterclasses. Synthesis 
maintained a motivated employee base and 
continued to be one of the preferred employers in the 
FinTech sector. It took advantage of the opportunity 
provided by remote working to employ exceptional 
talent across the globe. 

As a customer-facing business it was an adjustment 
to transition to a remote sales model, however, 
this was promptly initiated. In addition, customers 
reprioritised cash flows and capital expenditure, 
leading to elongated sales cycles and delays in the 
commencement of new projects. Despite these 
challenges, Synthesis succeeded in expanding its 
service offering within its existing customer base and 
signing agreements with several new customers, 
including customers outside of South Africa. 

During the period of reduced trading activity at the 
onset of Covid-19, resources were effectively refocused 
on proprietary innovation and R&D-related activity, 
generating capitalised software assets that will yield 
future revenues. The company has seen a resurgence 
in new sales in recent months.

Synthesis’ mainstay partnership with AWS continues 
to provide significant benefits to the Group as 
AWS grows its presence in sub-Saharan Africa. The 
demand for cloud and digital services has accelerated 
under Covid-19.

In addition to Synthesis’ success with its Halo Dot 
project the Company is also looking at other ways 
to internationalise its service offering given its 
ability to deliver services anywhere in the world. 
While geographic expansion remains in its infancy, 
Synthesis is already operating in 10 markets outside 
South Africa, has been successful in growing its 
Mauritian market, and is exploring opportunities in 
the Asia Pacific area. Synthesis anticipates opening a 
European office in Amsterdam in September 2021. 

Demand has increased in the second half of the 
year and Synthesis has a strong position in terms 
of committed orders and a very healthy pipeline 

as it enters the 2022 financial year. Good growth is 
expected to continue in annuity-based licence and 
subscription fees, as well as the mostly US Dollar-
denominated revenue as third-party resellers.

The Synthesis and Group brands were also 
strengthened during the year by successful and 
innovative promotional advertising and marketing 
campaigns from which benefits will be derived 
over time. The company published 486 articles 
across 83 different sites, held 13 webinars with 
more than 3 000 attendees and its more than 
60 podcasts reached in excess of 200 000 people. 
The Google campaign achieved in excess of four 
million impressions and the website was viewed over 
100 000 times. 

The strategy to target new customer verticals of 
Retail, Telecoms, and Healthcare continues to 
gain further traction. Synthesis has also fostered 
a new partnership with Salesforce – one of the 
world’s largest cloud-based software companies 
providing customer relationship management and 
a complementary suite of enterprise applications 
focused on customer service, marketing automation, 
and customer analytics. Synthesis’ endeavour with 
Salesforce will commence in FY 2022. 

As a company operating under Covid-19, all risk 
management measures, including cybersecurity, were 
assessed and improved, and are constantly being 
evaluated by internal as well as independent parties 
to ensure that we maintain the highest standards.

Synthesis enhanced GovChat to enable SASSA online 
registrations for the Covid-19 relief grant, collaborated 
with Dashpay on a retail mobile app and started a CSI 
venture with NGO, SA Harvest. 

Going forward Synthesis will continue to collaborate 
with the other business units in the Group to diversify 
revenue streams and use common synergies for the 
benefit of customers and stakeholders. The company 
will work to commercialise and sell its innovative 
Halo Dot technology, which provides coverage across 
point of sale variants, both locally and in emerging 
markets such as Asia Pacific, central Europe and 
the rest of Africa. The digital acceleration as a result 
of the pandemic provides more opportunity to 
internationalise Synthesis’ service offering. 

Halo Dot is a tap-to-phone contactless payment solution, certified by 
Mastercard, Visa, and American Express. The solution was also recently certified 
by Visa and MasterCard for pin-on-glass, allowing the app to be used for 
higher-value transactions. The company anticipates that significant benefits will 
flow from this initiative for the Payments division and for Synthesis. Halo Dot 
has been in operation with a major South African bank for the past year and 
negotiations are underway with others. Synthesis is also working with channel 
partners to commercialise and sell Halo Dot throughout the rest of Africa, and in 
other emerging markets in Asia Pacific as well as Central and Western Europe.
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Board of Directors

Executive 
directors

Bradley Sacks (54)

BEconSc (Wits), MBA/JD Hons 
(Duke University School of Business 
and School of Law)
Joint Chief Executive
Appointed: 19 March 2015
Member of investment committee

Michael Pimstein (66)

BComm Acc (Wits)
Joint Chief Executive
Appointed: 3 March 2015
Member of investment committee

Michael (Motty) Sacks (78)

CA(SA), AICPA (Isr)
Chairman
Appointed: 3 March 2015
Chairman of investment committee 
and member of nominations and 
remuneration committee

Bukelwa Bulo (43)

BBusSc, PGDA (UCT), CA(SA)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed: 15 September 2015
Member of audit, risk and opportunity 
committee and investment committee

Jacob Meyer Kahn (82)

BA (Law), MBA, DCom (hc)
Lead independent  
non-executive director 
Appointed: 15 September 2015
Chairman of nominations  
and remuneration committee

Non-
executive 
directors

Kuseni Dlamini (53)

BA (Hons) (UKZN), MPhil (Oxford)
Independent non-executive  
director 
Appointed: 9 May 2018
Chairman of social and ethics 
committee and member of 
nominations and remuneration 
committee
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Victor Sekese (55)

BComm (Wits), BAcc (Wits), CA(SA
Independent non-executive director 
Appointed: 15 September 2015
Chairman of audit and risk and 
opportunity committee and member of 
social and ethics committee

Alan Salomon (72)

BSc Hons (University of London), 
CA(SA)
Chief Financial Officer
Appointed: 3 March 2015
Member of investment committee

Michael Shapiro (49)

BSc Hons in Electrical  
Engineering (Wits)
Managing Director of Synthesis
Appointed: 12 June 2019

Errol Kruger (64)

BCom (UP)
Independent non-executive  
director
Appointed: 9 May 2018
Member of investment committee

Roshan Morar (54)

CA(SA), CFE
Independent non-executive director
Appointed: 15 September 2015
Member of audit and risk and 
opportunity committee, social and 
ethics committee and nominations 
and remuneration committee

Charles Valkin (87)

BComm LLB (Wits),  
H Dip Tax (Wits)
Independent  
non-executive director 
Appointed: 15 September 2015

Rorisang (Roxy) Maqache (46)

BBA (Schiller), AS (Schiller), CM SA
Non-executive director
Appointed: 4 December 2020

Biographies are available on the company’s website: www.capitalappreciation.co.za. 
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Corporate governance

Using governance for value creation
Capital Appreciation believes that the Group’s governance and ethical framework and supporting structures 
reinforce its overall culture and value creation objectives. The Board composition, governance framework,  
and the roles and responsibilities of the committees are not merely focused on compliance with the relevant 
laws and regulations, but add value by driving outcomes that support the Group’s vision.

Mandate

A diverse and transformed Board 
The Group has a Board which is diverse, in varying degrees, in terms of race, gender, business skills, experience 
and tenure. This diversity provides for robust discussion and assists in reaching decisions which appropriately 
reflect the strategic objectives of the Group, the Group’s resources and the financial and operational targets to 
be established, measured and managed.

The Board steers 
the business and 

determines the Group’s 
strategic direction.

The Board is  
responsible to 
shareholders 

and stakeholders 
for sustainable 
performance of  

the Group.

The Board examines 
and approves the 

strategy developed 
by management and 
considers the policies 
and plans which give 
effect to the strategy.

The Board oversees 
and monitors 

implementation 
and execution by 

management in terms 
of the delegation of 

authority.

STRUCTURE (%) AGE (%)

RACE (%) TENURE (%)

GENDER (%)

White Black

0 20 40 60 80 100

62 38

0-4 years 5-6 years

0 20 40 60 80 100

31 69

Male Female

0 20 40 60 80 100

85 15

Non-Executive: Non-Independent
Non-Executive: Independent
Executive

0 20 40 60 80 100

15 3154 38

40-50 50-60 60-70 70+

0 20 40 60 80 100

23 15 3131
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An engaged and 
committed Board
Attendance and active participation of Board 
and committee meetings is vital for an effective 
governance structure. Capital Appreciation believes 
that it has committed directors, and this is reflected 
by the excellent attendance record for all Board and 
committee meetings. Positive, constructive interaction 
takes place regularly between executive and non-
executive directors during intervening periods 
between Board and committee meetings.

96% 
Board meeting 

attendance

100% 
Audit and risk and 

opportunity committee 
attendance

An appropriately skilled Board
To ensure a rigorous and transparent procedure, 
any new director appointment is considered by the 
Board as a whole, on the recommendation of the 
nominations and remuneration committee. The 
selection process involves consideration of the existing 
balance of skills and experience, and a continual 
process of assessing the needs of the Group. 

Board skills and sector experience

An effective Board process
Capital Appreciation encourages and enables 
the growth and quality performance of highly 
effective, innovative and well-structured businesses 
and teams and it does so with a non-negotiable 
commitment to the highest standards of business 
integrity, ethical behaviour, professionalism and 
leadership. Its business philosophy recognises 
that good governance, committed and honest 
endeavour, transparency, effective control, 
accountability and responsibility form the solid 
foundation from which Capital Appreciation 
conducts its activities. The Board has, in addition, 
adopted the recommendations on good corporate 
governance contained in the King IV report. 

Governance outcomes 
and activities
 � Reviewed monthly financial performance reports 

against the prior year and agreed budgets.

 � Reviewed monthly trading and operational 
performance reports against performance 
matrixes and targets.

 � Reviewed competitor activity.

 � Received valuable feedback from the audit and 
risk and opportunity committee on its activities. 

 � Considered risk management, Group capital 
and liquidity.

 � Approved the Group’s Integrated Report, 
Financial Statements as well as, interim and final 
results announcements.

 � In line with the Companies Act, reviewed 
the Group’s solvency, liquidity and going 
concern status.

 � Executive directors engaged regularly with 
various stakeholders and participated in 
investor roadshows and other communication 
initiatives. Feedback from these engagements 
was considered by the Board and relevant 
Board committees.

 � Approved the convening of the 2021 AGM and 
notice to shareholders.

EXPERTISE (%)

SECTOR (%)

Leadership
Compliance
Technology
Finance
Tax
Legal
Marketing
Operations
Human Resources
Strategy

77%

23%

31%

100%

46%

8%15%

15%

23%

31%

Financial Services
Healthcare
Retail
Industrial
Education
Telecon
FMCG

46%

31%

15%

69%

8%
15%

8%
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African Resonance  
Board

Dashpay 
Board

Synthesis 
Board

Corporate governance (continued)

The Board’s priorities for 2022 are, inter alia:

 � Continue to build lasting partnerships 
and alliances with a range of stakeholders 
(government, business, communities and labour).

 � Continue to approach B-BBEE and transformation 
on an inclusive, substantive, and sustainable basis.

 � Build investor confidence by continually profiling 
the Group’s products and services and by seeking 
solutions that strengthen Capital Appreciation’s 
position and attractiveness in the market.

 � Pursue complementary acquisition opportunities.

 � Explore expansionary opportunities in Africa.

 � Provide oversight of Covid-19 procedures and 
protocols. 

Nominations and 
remuneration  

committee

Audit and risk and 
opportunity  
committee

Social and ethics  
committee

Investment  
committee

Capital Appreciation shareholders

Capital Appreciation Board

Governance framework and structure
Capital Appreciation is committed to a governance 
philosophy that advocates high standards of 
leadership, ethics, integrity, accountability, 
transparency and responsibility. The Group’s 
governance philosophy is underpinned by the 
Company’s values, purpose, and vision.

Governance is an evolving process and the Group 
has made significant progress in building the 
regulatory, legal, and governance requirements of 
the various jurisdictions within which it operates, 
seeking to evolve and mature the Group’s 
governance practices beyond simple legislative 
compliance.

The King IV principles and recommendations are 
adopted across the Group and are entrenched 
in internal controls, policies and procedures, 
governing corporate conduct. Capital Appreciation’s 
governance structure requires at all times that 
decisions and actions be taken with proper regard 
for the legal and regulatory framework in which it 
operates. The Board of Directors provides effective 
leadership, ensuring that clear strategic direction 
and appropriate management structures are in 
place.
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and recommended practices. Advised by the 
nominations and remuneration committee, the 
Board ensures that independent directors are 
recognised and reputable persons with well-
established competence and experience, who are 
willing to devote the necessary time to the Group.

In terms of Capital Appreciation’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation (MOI), four directors will retire at the 
forthcoming AGM. All retiring directors are eligible 
for re-election.

The Board is satisfied that the delegation of 
authority framework contributes to role clarity and 
the effective exercise of authority and responsibilities 
for all directors. 

 Biographies of the directors appear on the Capital 
Appreciation website: www.capitalappreciation.co.za.

Meeting attendance
  Refer to the details on page 95 in the Directors’ 

Report.

During the year, the activities of the social and 
ethics committee were incorporated in the Group’s 
three Board and audit and risk and opportunity 
committee meetings.  

  Refer to page 95 in the Directors’ Report.

An effective Board process
Performance evaluation of individual directors takes 
place on an ongoing basis. A formal review by the 
Chairman is conducted annually. The review of the 
Chairman is carried out by the lead independent 
director. The performance review of executive 
directors is carried out by the Board Chairman 
insofar as their Board performance is concerned. 

Performance reviews of subsidiary executives 
are carried out by the Group’s Joint CEOs and 
CFO as part of management’s performance 
appraisal process and overseen by the REMCO. The 
performance, remuneration and reward reviews of 
the Group Joint CEOs and CFO are conducted by the 
nominations and remuneration committee.

The REMCO and the Board approved the 
remuneration and long-term incentive rewards for 
the executive directors during the 2021 financial year.

The Board is satisfied with the performance and the 
effectiveness of executives and management within 
the Group.

In line with this governance framework and 
structure, the following actions have been 
implemented in the financial reporting period:

 � A diversity policy which includes voluntary 
targets on gender and race diversity at Capital 
Appreciation Board and subsidiary Board levels 
was implemented during the 2021 financial year.

 � The Group’s policies, aligned to King IV, were 
reviewed within each of the divisions.

The nominations and remuneration committee is 
responsible for formulating the formal succession 
plans of the Capital Appreciation executive directors 
and non-executive directors and the subsidiary 
company Boards of Directors. The committee 
reviews these succession plans on a regular basis, 
taking cognisance of the growth in the Group’s 
activities. Succession planning at the respective 
Group and subsidiary company Board level is 
important to ensure the Group has the right balance 
of skills, continuity and experience.

Directors
Ms Rorisang (Roxy) Maqache was appointed to the 
Board on 4 December 2020.

At the date of this report, the Board comprises: 
13 directors, nine non-executive directors and four 
executive directors. 

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and 
Group Joint Chief Executive Officers are clearly 
defined and separate. Seven of the nine non-
executive directors are considered independent. The 
Chairman is classified as non-independent by virtue 
of his material shareholding in Capital Appreciation.

The position of lead independent director has been 
maintained and is held by Mr Meyer Kahn. The lead 
independent director oversees matters discussed 
by the Board when the Chairman may, or is seen to, 
have a conflict of interest. 

A majority of independent non-executive directors 
ensures that independent thinking is brought to the 
Board and committee deliberations. All directors 
continue to exercise objective judgement. All Board 
committees are chaired by non-executive directors. 
The independence of non-executive directors is 
reviewed at each Board meeting and thereafter, 
annually by the nominations and remuneration 
committee. 

The Board applied the direction provided by King IV 
in its determination of a director’s independence, 
taking cognisance of the independence definition 
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Focused and informed deliberations
During the year, the Board held three meetings. 
Board teleconferences were also held from 
time to time to keep Board members informed 
of developments between meetings. Board 
committees were constituted to enable each 
to hold discussion and engagement on their 
nature of interest within the business, members 
best selected with the relevant skills, expertise, 
and diversity in each case. Certain directors are 
members of more than one committee, facilitating 
the optimum guidance and direction from the 
spread of membership expertise available. Regular 
presentations are made at Board meetings by 
senior management, providing directors with an 
opportunity to interrogate executives for a proper 
understanding of matters under discussion. 
Directors also have access to external consultants 
and/or specific assurance providers to independently 
inform and advise them on issues where necessary.

Social and ethics committee
Stakeholders (in particular employees), 

transformation, sustainability and ethics

Investment committee
Existing investments,  

new investments and acquisitions

Nominations and remuneration  
committee

Financial position
Funding, liquidity 

and capital

Audit and risk and  
opportunity committee

Accounting, tax, compliance, governance, 
information and technology, internal audit,  

external audit, risk and credit

Board
Reputation, sustainability, strategic, new business and acquisitions

Corporate governance (continued)

Corporate citizenship
Capital Appreciation’s values support the shift in 
King IV towards wider stakeholder inclusivity and 
enhanced corporate citizenship, which underpin the 
Group’s reporting and engagement approach to a 
wider group of stakeholders. Doing business is about 
creating shared values and meeting responsibilities 
to contribute towards economic development, to 
society, to communities and the environment, for 
the benefit of a wider stakeholder group.

  The key areas of focus in relation to corporate 
citizenship in the reporting period are reflected 
under Transformation on page 15 of this report.

Capital Appreciation actively communicates and 
engages with its stakeholders, including the 
investment community, by providing updates on 
strategic developments, performance and issues of 
mutual interest.

  Refer to the Stakeholder relationships section on 
page 74 for further detail.

Board and committees

Remuneration
People, remuneration  

and retention

Nominations
Directors, people  
and succession
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The Board functions in accordance with the 
requirements of King IV and within the context 
of the Companies Act, the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE in compliance with the Company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation (MoI), rules and 
codes of governance and other applicable laws.

The Board is the custodian of corporate governance 
within the Group and leads by setting the tone at 
the top. The deliberations of the Board are guided 
by a Board charter and the Board committees are 
mandated by their respective committee terms 
of reference. The charters and terms of reference 
are reviewed and updated on an annual basis to 
adopt best practice and to include necessary and 
specific statutory requirements. Board committees 
reviewed the duties set out in their respective 
committee terms of reference and are satisfied that 
all responsibilities have been carried out.

Roles and membership of the 
Board and its committees 
The material issues addressed by the Board are 
determined by assessing important external 
commercial, economic and environmental 
matters, and the needs and expectations of Capital 
Appreciation’s key stakeholders. Discussions held in 
the various Board committee meetings are focused 
on strategic and committee-related issues.

The composition and membership of the various 
Board committees disclosed in this report are those 
at 31 March 2021 and were in effect during fiscal 2021. 

 For information on the directors’ interests,  
refer to the remuneration report on page 58.

Audit and risk and opportunity 
committee
Members: V. Sekese (Chairman), B Bulo, R Morar 

Group executives, executive directors and the 
Chairman also attend meetings by invitation.

The audit and risk and opportunity committees 
have, for the present, been combined into a single 
committee. The various agendas, however, separately 
address audit, risk and opportunity matters. 

  Refer to the Report of the audit and risk 
and opportunity committee which appears on 
page 89 in this integrated report.

The audit and risk and opportunity committee 
is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities 
in accordance with its terms of reference for the 
reporting period.

Nominations and remuneration 
committee (REMCO)
Members: JM Kahn (Chairman); R Morar; M Sacks 
and K Dlamini

The Board determines the remuneration payable 
to non-executive and executive directors, based 
on recommendations made by the REMCO. The 
recommendations are formulated in accordance 
with the Group’s remuneration policy, considering 
market conditions. The committee is primarily 
responsible for formulating remuneration and 
recruitment policies as well as the remuneration 
philosophy for the Group. It determines appropriate 
remuneration packages and incentive rewards for 
executive directors and senior executives, applying 
industry standards and market conditions, in the 
interests of the parties concerned. 

The objective is to determine that remuneration is 
fair and appropriate to attract, retain and motivate 
high calibre individuals to manage the Group 
successfully; this to ensure that all executives are 
fairly rewarded for their effort and contribution to 
the growth and success of Group operations. 

The committee also assists the Board by way of 
selection and nomination of prospective directors 
to ensure an optimal mix of skills and diversity for 
Board and committee appointments. In addition, 
the committee considers appropriate succession 
planning for the Chairman, including both executive 
and non-executive directors.

Key activities for 2021:
The nomination of Ms Rorisang (Roxy) Maqache to 
the Board was considered and approved.

During the year, nominations and remuneration 
committee matters were considered within the 
broader agenda of the Group’s Board meetings. 

The committee considered and proposed the  
non-executive directors’ remuneration for the 
2021 year, which was approved at the 2020  
Annual General Meeting. The committee also 
considered and proposed the non-executive 
directors’ remuneration for the 2022 financial year, 
which will be voted on by shareholders at the 2021  
Annual General Meeting.

 The committee has reviewed and approved the 
Group’s remuneration policy and implementation 
report which appears on page 58.

The remuneration policy and implementation 
report will be an agenda item for a non-binding 
shareholder advisory vote at the Annual General 
Meeting to be held on 2 September 2021.
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Key focus areas for 2022:
For the 2022 year, the committee will continue to 
follow the remuneration policy, which includes a 
framework for fair and responsible remuneration 
aligned to King IV and the JSE Listings requirements.

The committee will continue to be mindful of and 
attend to:

 � Succession planning and talent management.

 � The review of executive directors’ and other senior 
executive management remuneration.

 � The review of non-executive directors’ 
remuneration for the 2022 financial year and 
submit the relevant proposal to shareholders.

 � Any review for additional executive appointments, 
including applying fair and responsible pay scales 
aligned to King IV.

 � A review of long term incentive schemes, including 
performance conditions.

 � A review of short term incentive scheme concepts 
which may be appropriate in the current 
trading environment.

The committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of 
reference for the reporting period.

Investment committee
Members: M Sacks (Chairman), E Kruger; B Bulo; 
B Sacks; M Pimstein and A Salomon

The primary purpose of the committee is to discuss, 
consider and, if appropriate, approve:

 � Potential acquisitions and disposals.

 � Due diligence reports for proposed transactions.

 � Review work from external advisors where 
appropriate.

 � Conclusion of acquisition terms as required.

Key activities of the committee for 2021, included:

 � Consideration and evaluation of proposed 
investments and expansion opportunities.

 � A review of the commercial merits of a number of 
proposed acquisition targets during the reporting 
period. Unfortunately, these targets were unable 
to meet the committee’s investment and/or 
strategic objectives.

Key focus areas for 2022:
The committee will continue to consider investment 
opportunities for the Group within its defined 
strategic investment objectives.

The committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of 
reference for the reporting period.

Social and ethics committee
Members: K Dlamini (Chairman); V Sekese and 
R Morar

The role of the social and ethics committee is to 
ensure that the Group’s activities are aligned to that 
of being a responsible corporate citizen.

The committee further assists the Board in setting 
an ethical organisational culture by overseeing that 
the Group’s conduct and approach to business has 
due regard to value creation in society. To achieve 
this, the committee also addresses relevant statutory 
requirements and assesses trends in commerce 
and industry that focus on and promote good 
governance.

Initiatives for 2021 were to:

 � Progress the alignment of the Group’s practices to 
satisfy requirements of the B-BBEE codes.

 � Promote the code of ethics and drive ethical  
behaviour.

 � Consider preferential procurement sources and 
promote socio-economic development and 
enterprise development.

 � Promote and protect the environment, health 
and safety.

 � Prevent and combat bribery and corruption.

 � Ensure good corporate citizenship, particularly 
efforts in protecting and advancing human rights, 
equality and preventing unfair discrimination.

 � Continue ongoing stakeholder engagement.

 � Review King IV assessments, the identification of 
relevant recommendations and the alignment to 
such terms of reference.

Key focus areas for 2022 are to:
Continue to expand and further develop the key  
initiatives that were implemented in the 2021  
financial year.

Corporate governance (continued)
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Ethics and governance policies
In the current state of change and transformation, 
it is imperative to introduce and maintain ethics 
and good governance within the business. Capital 
Appreciation’s philosophy and policies flow through 
to Group subsidiaries and help underpin high 
levels of honour in decision-making processes, 
from recruitment and training, to contracting with 
suppliers and clients. This conduct forms a material 
part of each employee’s performance appraisal 
assessment. The Group continues to refine and 
standardise important features of governance, 
particularly related to conflicts of interest, gifts, 
entertainment, insider trading and price-sensitive 
information. There is a zero-tolerance policy toward 
fraud, theft, corruption or any illegal behaviour.

Policies are revised as and when necessary. Training 
initiatives were undertaken during the year to 
reinforce good governance. Capital Appreciation 
continues to reinforce matters of governance and 
business ethics throughout its operations and its 
value chain.

The committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of 
reference for the reporting period.

Company Secretary
PKF Octagon acts as Company Secretary and Mr 
Peter Katz (CA/SA), a consultant to PKF Octagon, is 
independent and acts as Secretary to the Company. 
The Board has unrestricted access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary. The Board 
is satisfied that the Company Secretary has the 
appropriate qualification and experience required 
by the Group and as detailed in the Companies Act 
2008, JSE Listings Requirements and the King IV 
Code, to competently carry out the duties and 
responsibilities of Company Secretary.

Evolving governance
As Capital Appreciation continues to grow as a 
Group, so will its governance evolve and improve. 
In the short term, the evolution includes the right-
sizing of the governance structures, simplification 
initiatives within the corporate structure and the 
alignment of processes and policies. The governance 
journey continues to be underpinned by the Group’s 
value philosophy, providing a strong foundation on 
which to build.
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Risk philosophy
“Capital Appreciation defines risk 
as ‘uncertain future events that 
could influence its ability to achieve 
its objectives’.”

The Group regards risk as a condition in which the 
possibility of loss is inextricably linked to uncertainty 
and is measured by a combination of the probability 
of an adverse event occurring and the consequence 
thereof. Thus, a framework for identifying, 
understanding and managing risk is required for 
rational decision-making.

Risk management entails the deliberate planning, 
arranging and controlling of activities and resources 
to minimise any negative impact of risks to tolerable 
levels, also to appreciate the positive impact of 
opportunities that emerge from managing risk in the 
pursuit of achieving the Group’s strategic objectives.

Risk tolerances on key strategic initiatives are 
determined by the Group’s divisions and approved 
and monitored by the risk and opportunity 
committee.

Risk and compliance management

Board

Investment 
committee 

Social and ethics 
committee 

Audit and risk 
and opportunity  
committee

Directors,  
people and 
succession

Funding, liquidity 
and capital

People, remuneration 
and retention

Financial positionNominationsRemuneration

Remuneration 
and nominations 
committee

Existing investments, 
new investments and 

acquisitions

Stakeholders (in 
particular employees), 

transformation, 
sustainability and ethics

Accounting, tax, 
compliance, information 
and technology, internal 
audit, external audit, risk 

and credit

People, 
remuneration and 

retention

Risk universe

Reputation, sustainability, strategic, new business and acquisitions

Risk and compliance  
management
Effective risk management is fundamental to and 
embedded in every facet of the Group’s business 
activities. The Board has committed the Group to a 
process of risk management that is aligned with the 
principles of the King IV code, as well as generally 
accepted risk management practices.

Risk framework and the 
governance of risk
The Board is ultimately responsible for risk 
tolerance and governance. The Board delegates the 
responsibility for managing risk to the respective 
Board committees, including the subsidiary Boards 
and management, but monitors risk identification 
and management through normal reporting 
channels.

In terms of the enterprise-wide risk management 
framework, the Board retains responsibility for 
reputational and sustainability risk.

The risk framework specifically identifies the 
categories that comprise the Group’s risk universe.

Risk universe and oversight responsibilities
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Focus activities for 2021
Capital Appreciation has further formalised its 
risk management processes over the past year 
with a series of risk workshops and the initiation of 
formal risk management submissions by individual 
subsidiaries for each Board meeting.

Effectiveness of the risk 
management process
Capital Appreciation’s management of risk involves 
identifying risks and assessing each one’s materiality 
and the impact it could have on the Company’s 
ability to achieve its objectives. Thereafter, plans and 
controls are implemented to minimise any negative 
impact to tolerable levels. Risk tolerances on key 
strategic initiatives are determined on a divisional 
level and then approved and monitored by the 
Board’s risk and opportunity committee. 

Certain material risks remain unchanged from year 
to year in the context of delivering long term value, 
while others may increase in prevalence and severity, 
depending on the operating environment and 
industry dynamics. 

Effective risk management is fundamental and 
embedded in every facet of the Group’s business 
activities resulting in comprehensive and well-
considered mitigating strategies. 

The Board views the Group’s current risk appetite 
to be appropriate for its risk/return profile and 
against the background of the financial, human 
and technology resources at its disposal. The Board 
believes that the risk management processes 
within the Capital Appreciation Group are effective 
to identify, quantify and manage key risks and 
opportunities within its risk universe.

Key focus areas for 2022
The Board and risk committee are mindful of 
possible future risks, particularly in the context 
of a rapidly changing world, exacerbated by the 
consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Risks will continue to be identified, assessed and 
managed as part of the day to day operations across 
the divisions of the Group and various levels of 
management.
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Risk and compliance management (continued)

Overview of material risks and opportunities
The material risks identified below have emerged from the analysis and understanding of the strategic 
direction of each of the underlying entities and the environment in which the Group operates. 

Capital Appreciation’s strategies

Partner Innovate Execute Organic growth Acquisitive growth

Risk
Material focus areas and 
mitigation actions Opportunity

Strategic  
response

1.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 1)

Challenging economic 
outlook and impact of 
Covid-19 pandemic 
The low growth 
economic environment 
and concomitant 
unemployment, which 
has characterised South 
Africa for the past few years 
was exacerbated by the 
health, social and financial 
challenges of the pandemic.
Travel delays, mandatory 
quarantine periods and 
illness have the potential to 
impact business continuity. 
In addition, the low growth 
environment and uncertain 
trading environment has 
resulted in trading histories 
becoming obsolete and 
forecasting difficult and 
complex.

As a customer-centric company, 
the protection of business strength 
and reputation is critical. Capital 
Appreciation encourages creativity 
and innovation and embraces 
the ability to adapt quickly and 
proactively to changing customer 
requirements and market 
conditions. 
Maintaining a thorough 
understanding of clients’ 
businesses provides the insight 
to deliver creative solutions that 
exceed their expectations.
Business processes have been 
adapted and remote delivery of 
services implemented to continue 
to provide a seamless service to 
clients.
To continue to grow in this 
environment Capital Appreciation 
focuses on remaining relevant and 
competitive. We achieve this by 
fostering agility and by having the 
ability to rapidly react and adapt to 
changing conditions and emerging 
needs of clients.

 � For Capital Appreciation, 
a technological innovator, 
the accelerating demand 
for digitalisation is creating 
significant new opportunities. 

 � Innovative solutions and close 
relationships with clients also 
open up additional opportunities.

 � The Group is diversifying its 
geographic footprint. 

 � Capital Appreciation has 
implemented virtual/remote 
working and is applying its skill 
and experience to assist its 
customer base to overcome the 
same challenges.

 � We will explore new industries 
that have performed well 
during the pandemic (such 
as healthcare).

2.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 4)

Cybersecurity 
Increased online crime and 
fraud because of low growth 
and unemployment can 
result in margin pressure. 
A cybersecurity breach 
could lead to interruptions of 
systems and services. 

Preventing the risk of loss through 
cyber breaches, ensuring the 
resilience of systems to provide 
business continuity and having 
minimal downtime, are key 
operational issues managed on  
a daily basis.
All employees are trained regularly 
in respect of the latest cyber 
security protocols and a strict 
control environment has been 
implemented. Key dedicated 
resources ensure compliance 
and protection of data, including 
personal information. Asset 
vulnerabilities and internal and 
external threats are identified and 
documented. 
A recent cyber risk assessment 
performed by the Group’s internal 
auditor, BDO, indicated that the 
control environment adequately 
addresses cybersecurity risks and 
renders the divisions a low risk 
environment. 
Minor aspects highlighted by the 
risk assessment will be addressed 
in the coming year.

 � Synthesis views cybersecurity 
as a revenue stream due to the 
relevance of the matter within 
the technology sector. 

 � Ensuring strong cybersecurity 
procedures both internally and 
externally also results in the 
ability to exceed client project 
and service expectations.
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Risk
Material focus areas and 
mitigation actions Opportunity

Strategic  
response

3.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 3)

Remaining competitive 
Failure to lead through 
technological progress and 
ongoing innovation can 
impact the competitiveness 
of products and solutions.
Providing excellent 
client services is a 
key differentiator for 
the Company and 
underperformance in this 
area may lead to loss of 
clients, reputational damage 
and ultimately loss of 
revenue.
The FinTech industry is 
highly competitive. In some 
segments barriers to entry 
are low and allow small 
start-ups to offer innovative 
applications while in other 
segments the barriers to 
entry are high. 

Capital Appreciation is a client-
centric Group, sensitive to meeting 
the complex demands of its 
clients. Capital Appreciation offers 
products and services to large, blue 
chip clients who prefer to deal with 
professional, reputable companies. 
Exposing clients to nascent 
technologies and displaying 
knowledge of them will set Capital 
Appreciation apart from other 
competitors. 
Similarly, the solutions offered by 
Capital Appreciation’s divisions 
keep its brands top of mind for 
customers.
A key competitive differentiator for 
the Group is its expertise in new 
and emerging technologies.  
We provide cost-effective, practical, 
bespoke solutions in response to 
clients’ challenges. We acquire 
intellectual property and create 
opportunities through further 
development of the Group’s 
proprietary technology platforms  
or future revenue streams.
The Group encourages innovative 
solutions and embraces the ability 
to adapt quickly and proactively to 
changing customer requirements 
and market conditions.
Mitigation against this risk includes 
delivering innovative and effective 
technological solutions, regular 
engagement and management of 
client expectations. 
Stringent compliance and security 
are maintained to safeguard the 
integrity of platforms.
Synthesis has a focus on project 
management to ensure client 
expectations are managed at all 
stages of projects. Communication 
between the Synthesis project 
team and the client stakeholders 
is conducted at regular intervals, 
during which all project and budget 
risks are addressed. 
Dashpay develops platforms to 
offer a greater variety of attractive 
value-added services to its core 
product offering.
Synthesis Labs explore nascent 
technologies and the potential 
ability to commercialise these 
as new offerings to current and 
prospective clients.
In some areas of the business the 
Group has imposed an 18-month 
restraint of trade clause in 
employee contracts to protect its  
intellectual property and 
investments. 

 � New technologies such as cloud 
and big data provide substantial 
opportunity to enhance 
operating performance, reduce 
costs and improve clients’ ability 
to attract and better service 
their customers.

 � We continually learn from clients 
and this leads to new and diverse 
revenue streams. 

 � There is an opportunity to manage 
and exceed client project-related 
expectations through proper 
project management.

 � Partnerships with established 
and emerging financial 
institutions create opportunities 
for new initiatives and the use of 
next generation technologies.

 � Opportunities will be created by 
fulfilling appropriate strategies 
and tailor-made initiatives 
and further develop current, 
state of the art proprietary 
technology platforms.
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Risk and compliance management (continued)

Risk
Material focus areas and 
mitigation actions Opportunity

Strategic  
response

4.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 5)

People, culture, diversity 
and succession planning, 
including competitive 
remuneration and 
incentives

Capital Appreciation recognises 
that attraction and retention 
of highly specialist employees 
is crucial in an increasingly 
competitive market and that 
having the right calibre employees 
is vital for the Group to grow and 
prosper. 
We have exceptional talent and 
commitment from executives and 
employees. 
B-BBEE status is also a key 
differentiator and competitive 
advantage. It is the intention to 
transform the Group in line with 
revised B-BBEE Codes of Good 
Practice. Various strategies have 
been put in place to ensure that we 
achieve these objectives over time.
The Group’s human capital 
statistics and policies are reviewed 
by the social and ethics committee. 
This includes employment equity, 
fair remuneration, equal work for 
equal pay, public health and safety 
and the protection of human rights.
Succession planning is performed 
by each division, with the 
nominations and remuneration 
committee (and ultimately the 
Board) reviewing succession plans 
annually.
A comprehensive training  
and development programme, 
mentors, employee advocates, 
strong development opportunities, 
innovative employee engagement 
forums and a share incentive 
scheme enhance the employee 
value proposition.

 � A variety of programmes are 
available to maintain and 
grow the specialist employee 
base in an entrepreneurial and 
decentralised environment. 

 � The ability to service clients 
remotely is opening up the 
international tech talent pool 
as potential hires to cover local 
skills shortages.
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Risk
Material focus areas and 
mitigation actions Opportunity

Strategic  
response

5.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 4)

Information and 
technology risk

The Group manages and 
maintains a significant volume of 
confidential personal information 
in its daily operations. Through 
the consideration of relevant 
International Organisation for 
Standardisation standards and best 
practice, the Group has executed 
appropriate measures to protect 
this information against loss, 
damage, destruction and unlawful 
access. 
In addition to physical security, 
key interventions implemented 
include state-of-the-art firewalls 
enabled for deep packet inspection, 
encryption technology, and 
rigorous scanning processes to 
detect viruses and malware, and 
ongoing external vulnerability 
testing. 
The Group has adopted a paperless 
policy, and employee training 
programmes geared towards 
IT security and awareness are 
conducted regularly.
The Group invests heavily in IT 
to ensure that its businesses are 
efficient and to reduce the risk of 
disruption.

 � The rapid acceleration of 
digitalisation and move to 
new technologies presents 
opportunities for the Group.

6.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking:  
not ranked)

Operational risk To manage operational risk,  
the Group adopts specific 
operational risk practices that assist 
management to understand the 
risks and reduce the risk profile, in 
line with the Group’s risk appetite. 
The objective in managing 
operational risk is to increase the 
efficiency and effectiveness of 
the Group’s resources, minimise 
operational losses and exploit 
opportunities.

 � To create a low risk 
environment, which will 
generate performance 
confidence and 
improved profitability.
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Risk and compliance management (continued)

Risk
Material focus areas and 
mitigation actions Opportunity

Strategic  
response

7.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 9)

Concentration risk: 
Strategic supplier 
partnerships and service 
providers concentration
The Group is reliant on a 
limited number of supplier 
partnerships resulting in 
concentration risk.
In addition, deterioration in 
these relationships or the 
loss of a partnership could 
result in instability of IT 
platforms. 
Revenue concentration
The risk includes loss of a 
large key customer. 

The Group’s strategic partnerships 
are a cornerstone of its day to day 
activities and a major strength. 
Mitigation of this risk involves 
retaining, nurturing and growing  
long term relationships with 
strategic suppliers and principals, 
monitoring service level 
agreements and adhering to 
contractual obligations (such 
as anti-bribery and corruption 
clauses). 
The Group deals with most of 
South Africa’s financial services 
companies and continually seeks 
to grow and diversify its client 
portfolio to reduce reliance on any 
one customer. 
Capital Appreciation’s clients 
tend to be large, well-capitalised 
companies with strong cash 
flows and balance sheets which 
minimises the risk.
The divisions perform a 
comprehensive due diligence on all 
customers prior to engaging with 
them. 
Capital Appreciation also closely 
monitors outstanding debtor 
balances and proactively engages 
with debtors who are at risk of 
defaulting, proposing workable 
payment plans. 

 � Regular communication and 
supplier interaction, focusing 
on the dynamic changes taking 
place in the markets in which 
Capital Appreciation operates, 
keeps the Group up to date on 
new developments and keeps 
its suppliers aware of the issues 
raised by clients.

 � Where viable and possible the 
Group can diversify the supplier 
base, but given the specialist 
nature of the services provided 
this is not always possible.

 � The Group is expanding 
internationally and diversifying 
its industry exposure to increase 
and diversify its client base.

 � There is potential to 
foster and enhance client 
relationships when the 
clients are experiencing 
financial difficulties.

8.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 10)

Exchange rate volatility
The Group is exposed to 
currency risk as a result of 
revenues and costs in US 
Dollars and Euros, which are 
currencies other than the 
Group’s reporting currency. 
The Group imports terminals 
and provides services to 
international customers, 
and is therefore exposed to 
currency fluctuations.

Capital Appreciation has an 
approved conservative currency 
hedging strategy to mitigate 
against a fluctuating exchange rate, 
but does not speculate on currency 
movements. 
The Group enters into various types 
of foreign exchange contracts, 
such as forward cover, as part of 
the management of its foreign 
exchange exposure arising from its 
current and anticipated business 
activities. 

 � Billing clients in a foreign 
currency can result in improved 
margin in the local currency by 
hedging against this risk.

 � The ability to pay foreign 
currency denominated suppliers 
with the applicable foreign 
currency rather than having 
to convert local currency at 
high fees saves costs and 
reduces risks.
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Risk
Material focus areas and 
mitigation actions Opportunity

Strategic  
response

9.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking:  
not ranked)

Costly and onerous 
regulatory compliance, 
controls and disciplines
Increasing compliance 
requirements and a growing 
number of regulations 
applicable to the Group, and 
its clients, add to business 
costs, placing pressure on 
profitability while increasing 
the demand on executives’ 
time and put pressure on 
profitability.
The accountabilities, 
responsibilities and 
executive time involved are 
becoming more onerous 
and costly.

Management ensures continuous 
compliance with all relevant 
legislation and regulations. Group 
entities apply Payment Card 
Industry (PCI) standards where 
applicable.
Dedicated resources have been 
appointed to monitor new 
regulations and ensure business 
continuity. 

 � Remaining up to date with 
all new regulations will allow 
Synthesis to find opportunities in 
the RegTech sector.

10.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking:  
not ranked)

Shortages of electrical 
components 
As a result of Covid-19 and 
growth in demand for 
technology-related products, 
the continued global 
shortage of electronic 
components could lead 
to longer lead times for 
essential components for 
the terminals supplied by 
the Payments division. The 
risk involves the inability 
to service machines and 
impacts on the Company’s 
reputation and the business 
continuity of merchants 
served by the Banks. 

In order to mitigate the risk, Capital 
Appreciation has enhanced its 
focus on stock management and 
has implemented higher inventory 
levels. 
The Group has also identified this 
risk to customers and informed 
them of potentially longer lead 
times.

 � Service and performance 
levels will be improved, thereby 
enhancing our relationships 
with customers.

 � Continue to provide sustainable 
service and support excellence to 
all existing and future customers.

11.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 2)

Investment risk
Investments that do not 
yield the requisite returns 
affect the long term 
performance of the Group 
and its ability to create  
value. 

Capital Appreciation is inherently 
risk averse in this regard. 
A defined working framework is 
in place to acquire synergistic and 
allied businesses.
Substantial work is done to 
evaluate businesses before they  
are acquired.
Capital Appreciation follows a 
comprehensive due diligence 
process to determine synergies 
and the long term value accretive 
merits of acquisitions. 
Post-acquisition reviews are 
conducted to ensure that 
investment criteria are met. 

 � The Board of Capital Appreciation 
has a proven track record of 
value accretive mergers and 
acquisitions with acquisitions 
to date having exceeded the 
Company’s return expectations.

 � The Board, together with 
outsourced specialist advisors, 
forms a strong base for making 
future acquisitions.

 � In addition, Capital Appreciation’s 
subsidiaries have strong organic 
growth prospects.
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Risk and compliance management (continued)

Risk
Material focus areas and 
mitigation actions Opportunity

Strategic  
response

12.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking: 2)

The lack of suitable 
growth acquisitions
The absence of large-scale 
acquisition opportunities 
could impact the Group’s 
growth prospects. 

Capital Appreciation continues 
to explore the technology sector, 
seeking to identify compatible 
bolt-on enterprises for potential 
acquisition. 
Finding suitably mature and 
reasonably priced businesses  
is challenging.
It is pursuing organic growth  
in its underlying businesses. 
The Group has adopted a  
low risk approach to growth by 
investing in LayUp during the 
course of the year allowing early 
entry into appropriate FinTech 
solutions and the opportunity to 
scale its exposure to emerging 
opportunities. 

 � It is likely that the current 
financial dislocation will present 
interesting opportunities.

13.  

Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking:  
not ranked)

Business continuity
Disruptions of major 
proportions have the 
potential to cause financial 
and reputational loss. 

It is vital for Capital Appreciation 
to maintain essential functions 
during and after major disruptions 
in order to provide a smooth and 
continuous service for customers. 
The Group continuously monitors 
the local and global landscape 
for potential risks to business 
continuity. 
Adequate disaster recovery plans 
are well documented while work 
from home policies have been 
implemented following recent 
developments.
All relevant data is kept offsite and 
in the cloud to prevent any data 
loss.

 � We have the opportunity to 
maintain up-to-date copies of 
data in geographically dispersed 
locations and to provide clients 
with similar solutions.

14.  
Risk trend – 
(2020  
ranking:  
not ranked)

Power outages and energy 
interruptions

Ongoing power supply problems 
are disruptive to business 
continuity and to the seamless 
provision of services to clients. 
With many employees working 
remotely, the risk of downtime and 
service delivery is heightened. 

 � The Group has the innovative 
solutions to create opportunity 
out of adversity.
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Remuneration report

“Compensation, as part 
of an attractive employee 
value proposition, is a critical 
determinant of organisational 
performance and sustainability.”

This view is based on the belief that all factors 
which underpin enhanced performance require the 
highest calibre of leadership and specialist technical 
expertise, and that stakeholders’ interests are best 
served by aligning strategy, the business model,  
the structure, staffing and compensation. We believe 
that without attracting, motivating and retaining 
the best available talent, even the best strategies, 
business models and structures will fail.

This investment in human capital is informed firstly 
by the view that there is a normal distribution of 
talent in every field of endeavour, and secondly that 
the performance and sustainability of the Company 
will correlate with where its employees rank 
within that distribution. In short, the better Capital 
Appreciation’s people, the better the company.

The subsidiaries operate in a sector that is in the 
early stages of evolution and they require strong 
technical and interpersonal skills to compete 
effectively. There is an acute demand for these 
scarce resources and the Group has to ensure that it 
remains at the forefront of the skills race. Attracting 
and retaining high calibre talent depends on 
providing both intrinsic and extrinsic rewards. 

While this remuneration report deals with extrinsic 
rewards, intrinsic rewards are reflected in Capital 
Appreciation’s employee value proposition, 
which strives to provide talented individuals with 
good leadership, personal development and 
support opportunities, and meaningful work in 
an intellectually stimulating and demanding 
environment. To complement this, compensation 
policies are directed at sustaining a performance-
driven culture where the most talented people at 
all levels consider the Group and its divisions an 
employer of choice.

Governance of compensation
Principle 14 of the King IV report states:
“The governing body should ensure that the 
organisation remunerates fairly, responsibly and 
transparently so as to promote the achievement of 
strategic objectives and positive outcomes in the 
short, medium and long term.” 

To provide stakeholders with insight into Capital 
Appreciation’s remuneration policies and structures, 
the Group continues to refine the remuneration 
report in line with King IV and the JSE Listings 
Requirements. 

The Board of Directors approved the remuneration 
report and believe that the performance criteria 
used to measure and determine short term and long 
term incentive awards are appropriately aligned 
with Capital Appreciation’s goals, strategies and 
outcomes, and responsive to the requirements of all 
stakeholders.

Nominations and remuneration 
committee composition 
and mandate
The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility 
for the appropriateness of remuneration policies 
and executive remuneration. The Board delegated 
oversight of this responsibility to the Group’s 
nominations and remuneration committee, which 
comprises the following non-executive directors, the 
majority of whom are independent:

JM Kahn – Chairperson, lead independent,  
non-executive director

R Morar – independent non-executive director

K Dlamini – independent non-executive director 

M Sacks – non-executive director

The nominations and remuneration committee’s 
mandate is to ensure that the Group’s remuneration 
policies:

 � Are fair, responsible and transparent.

 � Attract, motivate, reward and retain human capital.

 � Promote the achievement of strategic objectives 
within the organisation’s risk appetite.

 � Promote positive outcomes.

 � Promote an ethical culture and responsible 
corporate citizenship.
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Within this mandate, the nominations and 
remuneration committee believes that a well-
designed remuneration policy strikes a balance 
between the interests of shareholders and 
executives, and the principles of good governance. 
The nominations and remuneration committee 
assesses the mix of fixed remuneration, variable 
remuneration and long term incentives to meet the 
Group’s needs and strategic objectives, in addition 
to reviewing the robustness of incentive schemes 
in ensuring continued contribution to shareholder 
value.

It is the responsibility of the nominations and 
remuneration committee to oversee that the 
implementation and execution of the remuneration 
policy achieves its objectives.

Principles of remuneration
The following overarching principles are applied to 
remuneration:

 � Remuneration policies are approved by the 
nominations and remuneration committee and 
the Board.

 � Capital Appreciation attempts to eliminate 
differential compensation related to gender,  
race and location, and applies the principle of 
equal work for equal pay.

 � Compensation is defined on a total cost to 
company basis (CTC), with all benefits included 
and fully taxed.

 � Formal and informal research and benchmarking 
are performed to determine market norms for 
similar positions.

 � Remuneration is aligned to individual financial 
and non-financial outputs, measured through 
performance management systems that focus on 
goals achieved and exceeded.

Performance incentives are used to drive specific 
behaviours that support Group, divisional or 
departmental performance and their ability to 
contribute as a responsible corporate citizen.

Incentives and bonuses at executive level are 
aligned to profit growth and relevant return metrics, 
key non-financial measures, and additional key 
outputs and personal performance. A portion of 
these incentives may be deferred or delivered in the 
form of conditional share plan awards to support 
retention.

 � Any change to the compensation of any individual 
at every level of the Group must be approved by 
the individual’s supervisor, with the nominations 
and remuneration committee approving the 
compensation of all executive directors, including 
the joint CEOs and the CFO.

 � Directors receive no fringe benefits from the Group.

 � No employee nor director has employment terms 
that exceed six months’ notice.

 � The Company is not under any obligation to make 
exit payments for executives leaving the Group.

During the year, Capital Appreciation partnered 
with one of the largest remuneration and human 
resources consultancies in Africa, to establish a 
remuneration benchmarking framework through 
an accurate and impartial analysis against industry 
remuneration and reward practices.

The benefits of research allowed the Group to 
benchmark and compare current and future 
remuneration components against statistically 
accurate market norms and accordingly the 
broad-based remuneration decisions were better 
informed. In the final analysis, the Group is aligned 
to the mid to upper percentiles of the tech industry 
remuneration practices.

The committee is satisfied that the research 
undertaken during the year was independent and 
objective.

The committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of 
reference for the reporting period.
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Remuneration report (continued)

Part 1

Overview of 
remuneration policy
The success of Capital Appreciation and its 
subsidiaries relies on a wide range of leadership, 
managerial, functional and technical skills.  
Many of these skills are unique to specific sectors, 
divisions, departments or organisational levels.  
The entrepreneurial spirit of the Group requires that 
the remuneration policy remains competitive and 
flexible, while encouraging positive outcomes and 
promoting an ethical culture and good corporate 
citizenship.

General staff
Throughout Capital Appreciation, fixed and variable 
compensation policies and practices are structured 
to attract, motivate and retain the specific talent and 
skills required at each level for the progress of the 
Group and its subsidiaries. For the most part, these 
policies are determined by and according to sectors, 
divisional or departmental requirements within the 
governance guidelines described previously.

Leadership
Capital Appreciation regards the individual and 
collective intellectual acuity, education, experience 
and industry knowledge of its most senior leaders 
and talent pool as a core capability and a source of 
competitive advantage. As such, the compensation, 
recruitment, performance, development and 
succession of the Group’s top executives are 
monitored directly by the joint CEOs and the CFO, 
with oversight by the nominations and remuneration 
committee and the Board.

Executive directors are required to retire their 
directorship on the third anniversary of their 
appointment and may offer themselves for  
re- election. As appropriate, the Board, through the 
nominations and remuneration committee, proposes 
their re-election to shareholders.  

Executive compensation strives to attract, reward 
and retain the highest calibre of individuals in 
terms of education, expertise and experience, while 
aligning executive remuneration with stakeholder 
priorities.

The Group operates on a total cost to company 
(CTC) philosophy, where base package and benefits 
form part of the employees’ fixed CTC remuneration. 
Employees also participate in short term variable 
cash incentive bonus schemes of subsidiary 
companies. Executives participate in long term 
incentives in the form of performance-driven share 
incentive schemes. The joint CEOs and CFO may 
attend REMCO meetings by invitation, to assist the 
nominations and remuneration committee with the 
execution of its mandate. Divisional executives are 
invited where appropriate. No executive participates 
in the vote process or is present at meetings of the 
nominations and remuneration committee when 
his/her own remuneration is discussed or considered.

The Chairman of the nominations and remuneration 
committee or, in his absence, another member of 
the nominations and remuneration committee, is 
required to attend the AGM to answer questions on 
remuneration.

From fiscal 2020, a reward package was approved for 
the four founding directors of Capital Appreciation, 
who have been actively involved in all aspects of the 
businesses since the listing in October 2015, adding 
considerable value for shareholders. 

The remuneration paid to the joint CEOs and the 
CFO is included in Part 2.

The details of Capital Appreciation’s Share Incentive 
Scheme (SIS) and Conditional Share Plan (CSP), 
which are Long Term Incentive Plans, are recorded in 
Part 2.

The remuneration policy for executive directors 
requires that their remuneration received be 
dependent on Group performance. This is achieved 
through an annual cash bonus and long term share 
incentives.
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The different components of remuneration, the policy that governs remuneration and the strategic intent and 
drivers are summarised in the table below:

Remuneration 
component

Remuneration policy Strategic intent and 
drivers

Basic salary Total guaranteed package (TGP)
Level of skill and experience, scope of responsibilities and 
competitiveness of the total remuneration package are 
considered when determining TGP.

The TGP is market-related, 
provides employees with a 
competitive, stable income 
and provides a standard 
of living consistent with 
the demands of a specific 
position.
The fixed portion 
represents a sufficiently 
high portion of the total 
remuneration to avoid 
overdependence on the 
variable components.
Basic salaries are reviewed 
annually, consistent with 
prior years.

Benefits The Group currently does not provide benefits to employees. Various benefits are under 
consideration and the 
possibility of introducing 
them is being evaluated, 
all the while considering 
remuneration levels on 
a total cost to company 
basis.

Short term 
financial 
incentives 
(STI)

Variable quarterly and annual incentives based on achieving 
divisional/Group quantitative objectives, with a qualitative 
portion of the bonus awarded based on non-financial measures 
as well as individual performance (where appropriate). A portion 
of the STI may be deferred to future years.
STIs for each executive are designed to address the 
requirements of the Group, division and function, as the case 
may be, and are specifically designed with individualised 
qualitative objectives to promote performance and/or achieve 
predefined performance requirements (which include financial 
objectives and other return metrics where appropriate). 
Financial objectives include:
 � Headline earnings per share (HEPS) growth;
 � Return on shareholders’ equity; and
 � Growth in revenue.

Non-financial objectives include achieving employment equity 
targets, maintaining or improving B-BBEE scorecards, and 
executing strategy and business enhancements.
Individual performance objectives include achieving strategic 
objectives, acquisitions, expansion and innovation, leadership, 
personal effort and teamwork and significant events.
Additional qualitative STIs may be awarded for superior 
performance, a portion of which may be deferred to future years 
or paid in the form of CSP awards.
Although the nominations and remuneration committee 
reserves its discretion, the quantitative element of an STI award 
will range between three and nine months of an executive’s 
base salary with the qualitative element approximating three 
months of an executive’s base salary.

STIs reward specific 
behaviour and promote 
retention.
Employees are assessed on 
their performance as well 
as the performance of the 
business.
In defining an individual’s 
performance, the 
nominations and 
remuneration committee 
considers financial and 
non-financial performance.
Bonus levels and the 
appropriateness of 
measures and weighting 
are reviewed and 
budgeted for annually to 
ensure that these continue 
to support the Group’s 
strategy. The annual bonus 
is paid in cash once a year.
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Remuneration report (continued)

Remuneration 
component

Remuneration policy Strategic intent and 
drivers

Long term 
incentives 
(LTI) – Share 
Incentive 
Scheme 
(SIS) and the 
Conditional 
Share Plan 
(CSP)

Executives participate in the LTI schemes to the extent to which 
their decisions or behaviour are likely to have an impact on 
shareholder value.
These schemes serve to harmonise the required attributes of 
shareholder alignment, retention of key talent and long term 
sustained performance.
LTI schemes relate to the valuation of the Group or its divisions, 
realisable over the medium to long term.
Share incentive scheme awards (SIS) consist of conditional  
rights to purchase shares at a pre-agreed price, subject to 
performance conditions over a five year performance period 
and continued employment for the duration of the vesting 
periods of three years (20% of the award), four years (50% of the 
award) and five years (100% of the award).
Conditional share awards (CSP) consist of the conditional right 
to receive shares, subject to performance criteria over a three 
year performance period and continued employment for the 
duration of the vesting period.
Although the nominations and remuneration committee 
reserves its discretion, the quantitative element of an LTI award 
will range between 50% and 100% of an executive’s base 
salary with the qualitative element ranging up to 50% of the 
quantitative amount.

LTIs reward executives 
for achieving strategic 
objectives and positive 
outcomes in the medium- 
to long term, while 
aligning objectives with 
shareholders.
Market-related long term 
reward and retention for 
executives and key talent 
provides an opportunity to 
accumulate wealth based 
on continued employment, 
and company performance 
and valuation.

Total reward Providing a competitive and attractive total compensation with 
a portion paid over the medium to long term.

Total remuneration ranges
Below is an indication of the range in outcomes achievable by the executive directors based on awards 
made in fiscal 2021. Capital Appreciation is still in its formative years and prior to fiscal 2020, Group executive 
directors were not remunerated. During fiscal 2021 Group executive directors each received a modest base 
salary and an LTI award, but they did not receive any STI awards. 

M Pimstein, B Sacks, A Salomon (Co-founders and Group Executive Directors)

Minimum On-target Stretch

Guaranteed pay1 1 800 000 100% 1 800 000 100% 1 800 000 100%
Short term incentives – 0% – 0% – 0%
Long term incentives2 – 0% 2 880 000 160% 3 600 000 200%

Total remuneration 1 800 000 4 680 000 5 400 000

38%

62%

On-target pay mix

Guaranteed pay

Long term incentives

Minimum

On-target

Stretch 1 800 000

1 800 000

1 800 000

2 880 000

3 600 000

1 The Group Executive Directors have retained a relatively low level of cash remuneration compared to market benchmarks and their 
reward is focused on long term equity-based remuneration which is strongly aligned to shareholder value creation.

2 This is the value of share awards that will vest in three years time, on the basis of on target (80%) and stretch (100%) performance. This 
excludes any movement in the share price.
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During fiscal 2021, Michael Shapiro, received a base salary, an STI award and an LTI award.

M Shapiro (Managing Director of Synthesis)

Minimum On-target Stretch

Guaranteed pay 3 129 695 100% 3 129 695 100% 3 129 695 100%
Short term incentives – 0% 540 000 17% 900 000 29%
Long term incentives – 0% 800 000 26% 1 000 000 32%

Total remuneration 3 129 695 4 469 695 5 029 695

70%

12%

18%

On-target pay mix

Guaranteed pay

Short term incentives

Long term incentives

Minimum

On-target

Stretch 3 129 695

3 129 695

3 129 695

540 000 900 000

800 000 1 000 000

Capital Appreciation Group long 
term share incentive schemes
The share incentive scheme (SIS)
The SIS allows executives and senior managers 
to participate in the appreciation of Capital 
Appreciation’s share price over time, subject to 
predefined performance criteria.

The SIS is an option-type plan (at no cost to the 
participant), with share options awarded being 
equity-settled subsequent to the exercise thereof. 
The SIS awards a conditional right for a participant 
to receive a number of shares, the value of which is 
equal to the difference between the market value of 
Capital Appreciation’s share on the date of exercise 
and the date of grant. In other words, the participant 
is able to enjoy any increase in Capital Appreciation’s 

share price from the date of grant until the date 
on which the conditional rights are vested and 
thereafter exercised.

The share price growth over the SIS period is settled 
in Capital Appreciation ordinary shares, with the 
gain subject to income tax. To the extent that the 
SIS grant price exceeds Capital Appreciation’s 
share price at the time of exercise, no gain or cost is 
realised by participants.

The SIS plan has been a successful retention 
mechanism since listing. This is in line with 
international trends towards less volatile and lower 
geared LTIs, which have proved to provide good 
alignment with shareholder interests and are likely 
to avoid extreme pay-outs. The nominations and 
remuneration committee will assess the future use 
of share options on a periodic basis, as required.
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The conditional share plan (CSP)
The nominations and remuneration committee and 
the Board and shareholders approved and adopted 
the CSP which achieved the following objectives:

 � It motivates and rewards senior executive 
participants for creating long term value through 
the opportunity to earn significant reward for 
superior performance.

 � It creates a direct line-of-sight between 
the performance of each division and the 
incentive earned.

 � Participants receive a right to the full share value 
as opposed to the increase in value above the price 
of the share option.

 � The CSP directly aligns the interests of the 
participants with those of shareholders.

 � The awards under the CSP will vest after three years, 
subject to performance and employment conditions 
based on the following annual weighting:

 à achievement of financial objectives 70%

 à achievement of non-financial targets 10%

 à individual performance analysis 20%

The CSP terms and conditions require the Company 
to settle the obligations under the plan (when 
the award becomes unconditional) through open 
market purchases through the JSE. At the upcoming 
Annual General Meeting (AGM) shareholders will be 
asked to allow the Company to settle awards under 
the plan from treasury shares or the issue of new 
shares.

The value of the shares, at the date the award 
becomes unconditional, is subject to income tax.

Remuneration report (continued)

The CSP, like the SIS, is in line with international 
trends towards less volatile and lower geared LTIs, 
which have proved to provide better alignment with 
shareholder interests and are more likely to avoid 
extreme pay-outs.

Founders
Bradley Sacks, Michael Pimstein and Alan Salomon 
are executive directors of the Group, while Michael 
(Motty) Sacks is a non-executive director.

Non-executive directors
The annual fees paid to non-executive directors 
of the Company for their services as directors and 
as members of the various Board committees are 
determined on a market-related basis and are 
benchmarked against industry norms. The fees are 
approved by the nominations and remuneration 
committee and the Board, prior to being presented 
to shareholders for approval at the company’s AGM. 

At every AGM, one-third of the Board of Directors 
retire from office, but where eligible, are entitled 
to offer themselves for re-election. Those directors 
required to retire at subsequent AGMs shall be 
those longest in office since their last election. Non-
executive directors do not participate in any of the 
Group’s LTI plans. 

Directors’ interests in contracts
During the financial year, none of the current 
directors had a material interest in any contract 
of significance to which the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries were party.
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Part 2

Implementation of Remuneration Report
2021 performance
Capital Appreciation’s operations performed well, notwithstanding declining economic conditions, which were 
compounded by the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

  The material matters impacting the Group’s results are reflected in the Chief Executives’ review 
page 24 and the report from the Chief Financial Officer    on page 28.

Performance metrics/conditions (Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs))
Executive and senior management remuneration is based on achieving divisional/Group quantitative objectives, 
with a quantitative portion of the award based on:

Weighting

Financial objectives  70%
Non-financial objectives  10%
Key individual performance/metrics, where appropriate  20%

Total  100%

The Group is still in its formative years and is still in the process of deploying the balance of 
the capital it raised at the time of listing. The Company remains in a transitory phase with 
business units in varying stages of development. Some units have more progressive and 
predictable business models with attendant revenue streams while others are in an embryonic 
phase requiring additional investment and may even need to pivot their business model in 
response to market circumstance. This range of development, together with the Group’s plans 
for acquisitive growth, requires the nominations and remuneration committee to exercise its 
judgement based on a portfolio of evidence when establishing thresholds for any specific 
award, also taking into account the executive’s specific role and responsibility. The factors the 
nominations and remuneration committee considers in concluding the achievement of the 
objectives above are indicated below.
With respect to the financial objectives, each of the factors will have an approximate equal 
weighting with a bias for revenue growth for more embryonic businesses and a return on 
equity bias for more established businesses.
Financial objectives (all measured against budget and prior year):
Growth in headline earnings per share (HEPS) 
Return on shareholders’ equity

Total 70.0%

Non-financial objectives:
Achieving employment equity targets
Maintaining or improving B-BBEE scorecards
Executing subsidiary and or Group strategy
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Remuneration report (continued)

Weighting

Total 10.0%

Individual performance:
Achieving strategic objectives 
Acquisition achievements 
Expansion and innovation initiatives 
Leadership
Personal effort and teamwork 
Significant, exceptional event outcomes

Total 20.0%

Executive and management remuneration
Directors’ remuneration

2021 2020
Executive 
directors

Basic
salary STI LTI Total

Basic
salary STI LTI Total

M Pimstein 1 800 000 – 1 016 000 2 816 000 1 800 000 – 10 339 1 810 339

B Sacks 1 800 000 – 1 016 000 2 816 000 1 800 000 – 10 339 1 810 339

A Salomon 1 800 000 – 1 016 000 2 816 000 1 800 000 – 10 339 1 810 339

M Shapiro 3 149 000 900 000 482 000 4 531 000 3 000 463 800 000 107 000 3 907 463

Total 8 549 000 900 000 3 530 000 12 979 000 8 400 463 800 000 138 017 9 338 480

There has been no cashflow on long term incentives (LTIs) to any directors during 2020 and 2021  
financial years.

Guaranteed pay-base pay
During fiscal 2020 the Board elected to start remunerating the founding directors with modest salaries.  
The founding directors indicated a desire to forego the annual STI for which they were eligible and rather 
receive a more substantial LTI payment, this being favourably aligned to shareholder value creation. The same 
pattern persisted in fiscal 2021 with the founding directors again electing to (i) not accept an increase in salary 
and (ii) forego a STI payment. The guaranteed base pay salary of the founding directors is materially below 
market benchmarks, as is their total remuneration. 

In determining the CTC increases for other executives and management, the nominations and remuneration 
committee considered the average increases to general staff and used relevant market data. Benchmarks 
were selected based on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, Company size and complexity of 
comparable listed and unlisted companies by reference to market capitalisation, turnover, profitability, number 
of employees and sector. Based on performance and market-related criteria herein, aggregate executive and 
management remuneration for fiscal 2021 (vs fiscal 2020) increased by between 5% and 10%.

Short term incentives (2021) 
The performance measures and targets generating the awards are reflected in the performance metrics/ 
conditions and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) in the table disclosed in this report.

Executive directors, M Pimstein, B Sacks and A Salomon received no short term incentives during the 
2021 financial year. M Shapiro received a cash bonus of R900 000 during the year (2020: R800 000), which is 
reflected in his remuneration above.
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Long term incentives (2021) 
In line with the new disclosure format recommended by King IV the following information relating to long- 
term incentives are disclosed:

 � Long term incentives awarded during 2021.

 � Long term incentives vested during the year.

 � Outstanding long term incentives.

Further details pertaining to the above are contained in the section titled long term incentives.

The long term SIS and the CSP allow eligible participants to share in the appreciation of the Group’s share price 
over time, subject to predefined performance criteria.

Performance conditions and weighting
Performance conditions  
and weighting Detail of performance conditions Vesting profile
Financial targets (70%) Three-year compound growth of 

HEPS and revenue
At 50% – 69% of threshold – 35% 
vesting

 � Threshold – CPI only At threshold – 70% vesting
 � Target – CPI +2% growth At target – 80% vesting
 � Stretch – CPI +4% growth At stretch – 100% vesting
 � Return on shareholders’ equity
 � Target – Bonds plus 3%
 � Stretch – Bonds plus 6%

Non-financial targets (10%) and 
individual performance (20%)

As per set objectives, stated in the 
performance metrics/conditions.

At 50% – 69% of threshold – 35% 
vesting
At threshold – 70% vesting
At target – 80% vesting
At stretch – 100% vesting

Long term incentives awarded during 2021
The Group has two incentive schemes:
 � The Group’s Share Incentive scheme (“Scheme”), which was introduced on the date the Company was listed 

in 2015, grants share options to employees of the Group. The Scheme has been classified as an equity-settled 
scheme and therefore, an equity-settled share-based payment reserve has been recognised in terms of 
IFRS 2.

 � The Group’s Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”) was introduced in March 2020, and grants share awards to 
Executive directors and senior management of the Group. The CSP has been classified as an equity-settled 
scheme and therefore, an equity-settled share-based payment reserve has been recognised in terms of 
IFRS 2.

2021 2020

Share-based payments reserve

Group share incentive scheme 5 102 200 2 844 600

Group conditional share plan 4 823 200 44 300

Total share-based payment reserve 9 925 400 2 888 900
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Remuneration report (continued)

Group’s share incentive scheme 
2021

Number Grant price

The number and grant price of the share options are: 

Beginning of the year 37 425 000 79 cents

Forfeited (2 575 000) 82 cents

Granted 16 080 000 94 cents

End of the year 50 930 000  83 cents

These share options vest over the period 1 September 2020 to 7 September 2025.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share options outstanding was 38 months  
(2020: 43 months).

The weighted average fair value of share options granted during the year was 22 cents per share  
(2020: 26 cents per share).

The range of exercise prices for share options outstanding at the end of the year was 75 cents  
to 94 cents per share (2020: 75 cents to 80 cents per share).

The weighted average share price for the year ending 31 March 2021 was 94 cents per share  
(2020: 74 cents per share).

2020
Number Grant price

The number and grant price of the share options are: 

Beginning of the year 32 095 000 80 cents

Forfeited (3 170 000) 80 cents

Granted 8 500 000 75 cents

End of the year 37 425 000  79 cents

The Group recognised an expense of R2 257 700 (2020: R1 672 200) for the share options granted.

The terms and conditions of the share incentive scheme are the following:

Vesting conditions

Share option holders are entitled to exercise their options if they are in the employment of the Group in 
accordance with the terms hereafter.

Share option holders in the scheme may exercise their options at such times as the option holder deems fit, 
but not to result in the following proportions of the holder’s total number of instruments being purchased  
prior to:

 � 20% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of three years;

 � 50% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of four years; and

 � 100% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of five years from date of holder’s acceptance of 
the option.

All options must be exercised no later than the 15th anniversary from the date they were granted.
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The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is determined using an option pricing model. The 
model is based on the standard binomial option-pricing model.

2021 2020

Fair value at measurement date (cents) 22.00 26.00

Exercise price at end of period (cents) 83.00 80.00

Expected volatility (%) 29.56 26.66

Option life (years) 5.00 5.39

Distribution yield (%) 5.00 2.00

Risk-free rate (based on National Bond Curve) (%) 6.83 7.67

The volatility is based on historic volatility which is not expected to differ materially from the expected volatility.

The Group’s Conditional Share Plan (CSP)
2021

Number Grant price

The number of share awards are: 

Beginning of the year 15 425 000 57 cents

Granted 15 086 940  94 cents

End of the year 30 511 940 75 cents

These share awards are exercisable between 25 March 2023 and 7 September 2023.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share awards outstanding was 27 months 
(2020: 36 months)

The weighted average fair value of share awards granted during the year was 75 cents per share  
(2020: 52 cents per share).

The range of exercise prices for share awards outstanding at the end of the year was 57 cents to  
94 cents per share (2020: 57 cents per share).

The weighted average share price for the year ending 31 March 2021 was 94 cents per share  
(2020: 74 cents per share).

2020
Number Grant price

The number of share awards are: 

Beginning of the year – – 

Granted 15 425 000  57 cents

End of the year 15 425 000 57 cents

The Group recognised an expense of R4 778 900 (2020: R44 300) for the share awards granted during the 
2020 financial year.

The Conditional Share Plan was approved by the Board on 11 March 2020 and by shareholders on  
2 September 2020.
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Vesting conditions

The terms and conditions of the Conditional Share Plan are based on share awards, which have a three-year 
vesting period, subject to performance, employment and vesting conditions.

The performance metrics consist of financial objectives, non-financial objectives and key individual 
performance indicators.

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is determined using an option pricing model.

The model is based on the standard binomial option-pricing model.

2021 2020

Fair value at measurement date (cents) 75.00 52.00

Exercise price at end of period (cents) 74.95 56.77

Expected volatility (%) 35.92 29.52

Option life (years) 3.00 3.00

Distribution yield (%) 5.00 5.00

Risk-free rate (based on National Bond Curve) (%) 4.86 7.34

The volatility is based on historic volatility which is not expected to differ materially from the expected volatility.

Directors’ long-term incentives

2021 2020

Share-based payment expense (Rands)
M Pimstein 1 016 000 10 339
B Sacks 1 016 000 10 339
A Salomon 1 016 000 10 339
M Shapiro 482 000 107 000

3 530 000 138 107

Number

Opening
balance

1 April 2020

New
share

awards

Closing
balance

31 March

Details of directors’ outstanding share options
M Shapiro  2 300 000 – 2 300 000

Details of directors’ outstanding conditional share plan awards
M Pimstein  3 600 000 2 886 364 6 486 364
B Sacks  3 600 000 2 886 364 6 486 364
A Salomon  3 600 000 2 886 364 6 486 364
M Shapiro  1 250 000 1 175 926 2 425 926

 12 050 000 9 835 018 21 885 018

Remuneration report (continued)
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Malus and clawback provisions

With effect from 1 April 2020, the remuneration policy included malus (adjustments on payment/awards that 
have not been settled/vested) and clawback (recovery of post-tax payments that have already been made) 
provisions in both the STI and LTI, subject to trigger events. The main trigger events are material financial 
statement misstatement and proven dishonest or fraudulent conduct by a participant(s).

Cash flows

There has been no cash flow on long term incentives to any directors during 2021.

Non-executive remuneration update

Non-executive directors remuneration

The remuneration paid to non-executive directors while in office of the Company during the year ended 
31 March 2021 is as follows:

Salary Fees Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Non-Executive Directors   
B Bulo – – 287 000 210 000 287 000 210 000
D Dlamini – – 156 000 80 000 156 000 80 000
M Kahn – – 156 000 120 000 156 000 120 000
E Kruger – – 191 000 120 000 191 000 120 000
R Maqache 
(appointed 4 December 2020) – – 44 000 – 44 000 –
R Morar – – 252 000 120 000 252 000 120 000
E Neishlos 
(resigned 17 September 2019) – – – 40 000 – 40 000
H Neishlos 
(resigned 17 September 2019) – 2 500 801 – 40 000 – 2 540 801
M Sacks – – 277 000 150 000 277 000 150 000
V Sekese – – 256 000 240 000 256 000 240 000
C Valkin – – 84 000 120 000 84 000 120 000

Total – 2 500 801 1 703 000 1 240 000 1 703 000 3 740 801

The non-executive directors’ remuneration excludes VAT and was approved by special resolution at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 2 September 2020.
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Shareholder engagement
Non-binding advisory vote
For the information of shareholders, set out below are the voting results at the Annual General Meeting held on 
2 September 2020, for the following three remuneration-related resolutions: 

Resolution proposed For Against Abstain*

Ordinary resolution number 7:
Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy 854 321 821 4 666 463 67 287 047

99.46% 0.54% 5.14%
Ordinary resolution number 8:
Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration report 854 290 321 70 938 726 1 046 284

92.33% 7.67% 0.08%
Special resolution number 1:
Approval of non-executive directors’ fees 858 970 784 – 67 304 547

100.00% 0.00% 5.14%

During the past year, the Company continued to engage with shareholders and advisors in order to align its 
remuneration policy and disclosures in terms of best practice. Shareholders are invited once again to cast their 
advisory vote on the remuneration policy and implementation report as provided for in the notice of AGM on 

 page 179.

Approval
This remuneration report was approved by the Capital Appreciation Board of Directors.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

JM Kahn
Chairman

Remuneration report (continued)
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Stakeholder relationships

“The Board fully supports 
stakeholder engagement and 
maintaining relationships 
with stakeholders as these 
are important to the Group’s 
long term performance and 
continued sustainability.”

The Group engages transparently and honestly 
with all stakeholders and remains committed to 

Customers

Communities

Shareholders  
and investors 

Commercial 
principals and 

suppliers

Our employees

maintaining the highest standards of integrity and 
ethical conduct in its dealings. Engagement enables 
the Group to identify and act upon the issues 
that affect its stakeholders and its business, and 
improves its understanding of their expectations, 
aspirations and interests.

The stakeholder groups below have been identified 
as core to the Group, based on the extent to which 
they can influence, benefit from, or be impacted 
by the performance or strategic direction of Capital 
Appreciation.

Page 75

Page 77

Page 79

Page 80

Page 81
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Employees
Engagement initiatives with employees 
during the year:  
taking the “Pulse” of employees
Synthesis conceived and developed a system 
called “Pulse” to gauge any trends that may surface 
within its teams, and to pick up on anomalies within 
individuals or teams. These are actioned through 
the most appropriate channel. The system provides 
the Company with insight into how its people are 
coping, where the pressure points might be and 
where to focus its attention. Although the “Pulse” 
initiative was started before Covid-19, it has become 
an invaluable tool in monitoring employee reaction 
and self-management during the pandemic.

One of the unintended consequences of the 
lockdown and of remote working, is the mental and 
emotional state of health of employees. 

A recent survey conducted on “Pulse” asked staff to 
rank their greatest challenges from a list provided.  
The results indicated that the majority of staff 
struggled with being able to “unplug”.

A system such as “Pulse” cannot exist in a vacuum 
– it must form part of a broader strategy. Synthesis 
followed a holistic approach which included some of 
the following:

 � Engaged Covid-19 experts to provide short, daily 
updates and facts about the virus, along with a 
weekly in-depth interview, based on questions 
from the team.

 � The established system of mentors and employee 
advocates was enhanced to ensure regular checks 
on staff.

 � A channel called #Care+Ona was established, 
posting daily challenges. Some of these 
competitions involved families to create a feeling of 
community, despite the isolation.

 � Virtual team coffee board games and whisky 
nights were arranged.

Synthesis has moved “Pulse” into a closed beta-
testing phase to be able to customise it for clients.

The Payments division continued and enhanced 
its critical health and safety protocols to protect 
employees against the pandemic. This included 
frequent fogging of the offices, provision of 
protective equipment, shift work to enable physical 
distancing, temperature checks and provision of 
take-away meals. All protocols and risk measures 
have been independently assessed by external 
specialists.

Communication
Regular staff communications, in the form of emails, 
were sent to employees to keep them abreast of 
developments in the workplace as the lockdown 
levels changed. Employees also received ongoing 
information and awareness packs about Covid-19 to 
help them identify symptoms and manage care at 
home.

Recent satisfaction surveys indicate high levels of 
job satisfaction at Capital Appreciation’s subsidiaries. 
Capital Appreciation’s industry is characterised 
by exciting and innovative developments, which 
continue to attract talented, curious and driven 
people. This continues to emphasise the marked 
differentiating factor – individuals can be in a young, 
entrepreneurial and fast-growing company. The 
benefits of ownership by a listed public company 
serve further to attract capable team members to 
Capital Appreciation’s subsidiary enterprises,  
and maintain and improve retention of the existing 
team.
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 � How Capital 
Appreciation engages  � Key areas of focus

 � Capitals
 � affected

 � Daily performance 
reviews, inter-company 
seminars, formal mentoring 
programmes and 
engagement sessions with 
executives at subsidiary 
companies  
and employee forums.

 � Subsidiary companies’ 
internal newsletters 
showcase important 
announcements 
and developments.

 � During the pandemic, 
staff engagement was 
augmented with regular 
webcasts and updates by 
health specialists.

 � “Pulse” gauges the 
ongoing mental and 
physical health of Capital 
Appreciation’s employees.

 � Capital Appreciation 
also undertook regular 
staff surveys to measure 
employee satisfaction and 
identify any emerging 
staff issues.

 � Encouraging collaboration, 
and despite working from 
home, daily team stand up 
meetings proved to be 
a good way to remain 
connected while delivering 
excellent client solutions 
and services. 

 � An agile and exciting working environment that is at the 
forefront of technological advancement and solutions. 
To create and maintain a positive work environment with 
mutual respect.

 � Focus on “Who we are”, whilst being customer-centric. 
Understanding the written and unwritten “ground rules”,  
which include the creation of a moral, ethical and caring 
environment for all staff.

 � Empower and equip staff to be effective and efficient in their 
daily tasks.

 � Upskill and train Capital Appreciation’s employees on financial 
awareness and goal setting, which benefits both themselves 
and their families in the long run.

 � Operating company communication to ensure good employee 
relationships and positive workforce.

 � Provide employees with meaningful assignments which are 
both exciting and rewarding.

 � Provide a working environment that promotes collaboration 
between the Payments and Software divisions. 

 � Listen to team members and proactively respond to 
issues raised.

 � Pay market-related remuneration with significant upside of 
performance-linked rewards.

 � Offer health and safety initiatives.

 � Secure, retain and develop necessary skills

 � Embrace diversity, inclusion and belonging, promoting a 
culture of greater innovation and problem solving. 

 � Foster team environments that expect involvement and 
contribution, maintain a strong sense of connection, resulting 
in trust and willingness to be innovative and share ideas. 

Capital Appreciation’s capitals

Manufactured 
capital

Financial  
capital

Human 
capital

Social and  
relationship capital

Intellectual 
capital

Stakeholder relationships (continued)
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Issues raised with employees Capital Appreciation’s response

 � Rewards

 � Career development and growth

 � Education and training

 � Opportunities to work remotely

 � Participation opportunities in 
emerging technologies

The Group believes in a hands-on, informal managerial culture and 
maintains regular interactions with Capital Appreciation’s team, ensuring 
that they are challenged, growing and developing, and rewarded based 
on key performance measures.

Capital Appreciation continuously evaluates effective mobile and other 
communication tools and will evaluate opportunities for staff to work 
remotely post Covid-19.

The Group has graduate recruitment programmes to maintain a pipeline 
for skills.

Risks Opportunities

Capital Appreciation needs to 
continue to attract talented team 
members to support its growth 
strategy.

The industry in which the Group operates is very dynamic and offers 
attractive and interesting career opportunities. Ensuring a productive 
and progressive work environment will allow the Group to be viewed as 
an employer of choice.

Capital Appreciation’s belief is that it must create an environment that is 
welcoming and challenging to attract employees.

Customers
The relationship with Capital Appreciation’s customers is strong and mutually beneficial. The Group is 
continuously looking for ways to enhance its relationship with existing customers and to secure new 
relationships. The Group has key customer-focused managers in both its divisions whose role is to engage with 
customers directly and proactively address their needs through innovation and creating additional value-
added services and solutions.

How Capital Appreciation 
engages Key areas of focus

Capitals 
affected

 � Frequent site visits, even 
during the pandemic, 
and meetings, attending 
virtual sector conferences 
and exhibitions.

 � Customer satisfaction  
surveys.

 � Operational reviews with the 
management teams and 
quarterly executive reviews.

 � Monthly executive review 
sessions. 

 � Key account executives 
engaged personally with 
customers frequently and 
regularly. 

 � Build long term relationships with Capital Appreciation’s 
customers for the benefit of both parties.

 � Client business-centric focus which emphasises quality 
execution and delivery.

 � Pursue new customer engagements as well as foster, 
grow and deepen existing customer relationships.

 � Add value to Capital Appreciation’s customers’ businesses 
and equip them with tools to streamline and scale 
their enterprises.
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Issues highlighted with 
customers Capital Appreciation’s response 

 � Customers need to respond 
to end-customers’ changing 
needs as well as the overall 
payment “experience”.

 � Customers need innovative 
solutions to accommodate 
new payments form factors as 
well as competing with new 
market entrants.

 � The global shortage in 
micro-electronics and semi-
conductor components is 
a challenge which has an 
impact on terminal repairs. 

 � Cost of operations and service 
delivery needs to be lowered.

 � Regulatory compliance is 
causing an increasing burden 
and cost.

 � A lack of understanding 
of what the underlying 
businesses do.

Innovation is fundamental to all Capital Appreciation’s initiatives and 
the Group is cognisant of how changing technologies are impacting 
the financial services industry. The Group embraces and adopts these 
technologies to service clients. The Group works closely with customers 
and offers them capabilities which enable them to respond to their end-
customer needs and to reduce operating costs.

Given the global shortage in micro-electronic and semi-conductor 
components additional terminal spare parts were ordered to “bulk-up” on 
parts, should further delays be experienced as result of Covid.

Capital Appreciation’s teams emphasise addressing customer needs and 
providing regular feedback to stakeholders. Training of key staff members 
in this area provides the Group’s customers with an enhanced experience.

The Payments and Software divisions continued their active engagement 
with customers during the pandemic, offering a variety of services, 
including:

 � a free symposium which was open to the public as well as customers, 
giving updates on the Covid-19 situation in South Africa and highlighting 
some of the latest research. Synthesis directors gave presentations on 
the future of the economy, tech initiatives and ideas. The symposium was 
attended by 422 people online and 431 people through YouTube.

 � a webinar for clients on preparing for business in the “new normal”,  
which was exceptionally well-received.

 � The Synthesis Academy ran free training webinars.

The Payments division has regular operational/performance review sessions 
with customers during which business and performance indicators are 
discussed.

Payments division also had audits by Qualified Security Assessor (QSA) 
companies. These QSAs are independent security organisations qualified 
by the PCI Security Standards Council to validate an entity’s adherence to 
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) compliance. The 
Payments division complies with both PCI PIN and PCI DSS standards.

Referrals from satisfied customers provide a powerful marketing tool and 
facilitate invitations to participate in tenders.

Risks Opportunities

Capital Appreciation needs 
to remain relevant in the 
rapidly evolving financial 
technology sector and 
this involves continuous 
investment in innovation 
and people.

Skills shortage and continuity 
of team engagement 
remains a key focus areas.

Customers continue to seek innovative solutions to facilitate their business 
challenges.

Customers’ end-customer expectations continue to evolve based on consumer 
experiences in other areas of commerce and service. Capital Appreciation 
assists customers in bridging from the constraints of existing legacy 
infrastructures to new open platforms.

The skills shortage of both key and talented resources in the emerging 
technology arena remains an important factor for customers. A key focus 
area for Capital Appreciation has always been investment in upskilling Capital 
Appreciation’s resources and in retention of talent. 

Stakeholder relationships (continued)
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Shareholders and investors
Capital Appreciation continues to maintain informal relationships with its shareholders and focus on 
developing the Group’s relationship with existing and prospective investors, through a variety of engagement 
methods. As a relatively young company, a substantial part of the engagement involves education about the 
businesses, as well as the growth opportunities inherent in Capital Appreciation’s industry. The Company’s 
objective is to demonstrate and attain a fair valuation for the company and increased share liquidity, through 
a well-informed investor base. Shareholder and investor relations outcomes resulted in a significant increase of 
new investors. The Group had 2 625 investors at 31 March 2021 (2020: 1 740). 

How Capital Appreciation 
engages Key areas of focus

Capitals 
affected

SENS announcements, 
results presentations, 
webcasts and conference 
calls, individual and group 
meetings, investor days, 
Integrated Report, AGM, 
conferences and roadshows, 
relevant information in press 
releases.

Capital Appreciation’s Group 
and subsidiary websites 
contain comprehensive, 
up-to-date information on 
services and activities.

 � Industry growth opportunities and technological advances

 � Group strategy

 � Group performance

 � Governance

 � Covid-19 responses

Shareholder priorities Capital Appreciation’s response

Investment of cash on hand.

Generating favourable 
returns and ratios.

Capital Appreciation’s divisions have a variety of growth opportunities available. 
Capital at Capital Appreciation’s disposal will, in the first instance, be utilised for 
organic investment opportunities. The Group intends to continue to invest in 
infrastructure and talent to fully participate in growth opportunities presented 
to us. Further business acquisitions will be a function of both strategic fit and 
valuation.

 Shareholders are referred to Capital Appreciation’s investment criteria on 
page 17.

The Group remains committed to provide investors with a high growth 
investment, with commensurate investment returns while maintaining prudent 
and appropriate financial ratios.

Share liquidity Capital Appreciation would ideally like to increase its share liquidity and is 
actively educating investors about its investment case to broaden the investor 
audience and interest in the Group.

A lack of understanding 
of the business of the 
underlying companies.

The Group utilises a range of engagement opportunities to educate investors 
about its operating subsidiaries. Case studies of actual applications and 
products are highlighted to improve the understanding of its businesses.

Competitive resilience 
of hand-held payment 
terminals in the face 
of increasing variety in 
payment alternatives and 
convergence of payments.

The Company continues to evaluate technology trends to remain at the 
forefront of developments for the benefit of Capital Appreciation’s clients.
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Shareholder priorities Capital Appreciation’s response

Increased understanding 
of the revenue streams of 
the different businesses, 
specifically recurring income 
relative to non-recurring 
income.

Capital Appreciation provides additional information for the different revenue 
streams in its segmental analysis and will continue to expand the disclosure as 
the different revenue streams mature.

Risks Opportunities

A lack of understanding 
of Capital Appreciation’s 
business and growth 
opportunities may impact 
on the valuation of the 
Company and investors’ 
appetite and willingness to 
invest.

An improved understanding of the significant underlying growth opportunities 
in Capital Appreciation’s industry should create further interest in the Capital 
Appreciation investment case and its long term return prospects.
The Group has identified a variety of potential revenue opportunities to 
monetise GovChat, both locally and abroad, all of which will be explored.

Commercial principals and suppliers
Strong, longstanding and mutually beneficial relationships with key commercial partners.

How Capital Appreciation 
engages Key areas of focus

Capitals 
affected

Regular interaction, 
seminars/conferences.

 � Creating and sustaining communication channels with a clear 
understanding of the respective expectations.

 � Joint pursuit of efficiencies and opportunities of 
mutual interest.

 � Sustainable support for small and black-owned companies.

Issues raised with 
commercial partners

Capital Appreciation’s response

Growth opportunities.  � Communicate product innovation to partners and ensure service delivery  
excellence.

 � Maintain supportive relationships with black-owned businesses.
 � Meet to measure performance of service level agreements.
 � Strong representation of the brand.

Risks Opportunities

A breakdown in 
relationships with key 
principals could negatively 
impact the business.

Collaborating with highly regarded, quality domestic and international partners 
strengthens Capital Appreciation’s subsidiary company brands and product 
offering, and ensures that the Group can maintain high satisfaction levels from 
its customers.
Partnering with smaller enterprises in terms of enterprise development and 
supplier development initiatives, allows the opportunity to help develop and 
grow these businesses and the South African economy.
It is beneficial for the Group to partner with innovative entrepreneurial 
enterprises that provide niche and emerging technologies and have 
differentiated products that can benefit from its expertise, relationships and 
market presence.

Stakeholder relationships (continued)
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Communities
Capital Appreciation’s understanding of the needs and opportunities within the Group’s communities is 
growing. Social outreach programmes are expanding and have an increasing impact on the community.

How Capital Appreciation engages Key areas of focus
Capitals 
affected

Meetings, events, feedback reports, 
sponsorships.

 � Educate and develop skills.

 � Create employment opportunities and prepare 
individuals for those opportunities.

 � Improve engagement between government and 
its citizens through Govchat.

Stakeholder priorities Capital Appreciation’s response

 � Need for financial support to 
further education.

 � More employment opportunities.

 � A platform to apply training to be  
provided within a working environment.

 � Improvement of direct accessibility to, 
and accountability of, local government.

 � Transfer of developmental skills.

 � Access to social grants and 
Covid-19 support.

The outreach and learnership programmes have been successful in 
impacting the lives of the underprivileged. They create a pipeline of 
skills available for Capital Appreciation’s subsidiaries.

Sponsorship and developmental support of Govchat. In partnership 
with Govchat, SASSA and the Department of Social Development, 
Synthesis developed the Social Relief Grant application platform 
and a Covid-19 self-screening, contact tracing and early warning 
digital interface.

Risks Opportunities

Capital Appreciation needs to ensure 
that its social investment remains 
relevant and effective.

Enabling the Group’s team members to give back and invest in their 
community.

Building Capital Appreciation’s brand as a socially conscious and 
caring organisation.

Providing the Group with scarce skills over the long term.
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Approval of the financial statements
To the shareholders of Capital Appreciation Limited
Responsibility for and approval of the group and company financial statements
The board of Capital Appreciation Limited accepts responsibility for the integrity, objectivity and reliability of 
the group and company financial statements of Capital Appreciation Limited.  Adequate accounting records 
have been maintained. The board endorses the principle of transparency in financial reporting.

The responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements has been delegated to 
management.

The responsibility of the external auditors is to express an independent opinion on the fair presentation of the 
financial statements based on their audit of Capital Appreciation Limited and its subsidiaries.

The board has confirmed that adequate internal financial control systems are being maintained. There were 
no breakdowns in the functioning of the internal control systems during the year that had a material impact 
on the financial results. The board is satisfied that the financial statements fairly present the financial position, 
the results of the operations and cash flows in accordance with relevant accounting policies, based on 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The board is of the opinion that Capital Appreciation Limited is financially sound and operates as a going 
concern. The financial statements have accordingly been prepared on this basis.

The financial statements were authorised for issue and publication by the board and signed on its behalf by:

M. Sacks M. Pimstein
Chairman Joint Chief Executive Officer

A Salomon B. Sacks
Chief Financial Officer Joint Chief Executive Officer

21 June 2021

Preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements

The preparation of the financial statements was supervised by the Chief Financial Officer of Capital 
Appreciation Limited, Mr A. Salomon: B.Sc Hons (University of London), CA(SA), in conjunction with the 
Financial Manager, Mr B Kruger (CA(SA)).

ºv
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I, the Company Secretary, certify that the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns 
as are required of a public company, in terms of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, and that all 
such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Peter Katz
Consultant

PKF Octagon

Johannesburg

21 June 2021

Company Secretary’s certification

Statement on internal financial controls
The directors, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm after due, careful and proper consideration, that:

 � The financial statements, set out on pages 98 to 173, fairly present in all material respects the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of Capital Appreciation Limited in terms of IFRS.

 � No facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the financial statements false 
or misleading.

 � Internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to Capital 
Appreciation Limited have been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements.

 � The internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the financial 
statements, having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to 
principle 15 of the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2016 (King IV). Where we are 
not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design and 
operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves directors, and have 
taken the necessary remedial action.

A Salomon
Chief Financial Officer 

M. Pimstein B. Sacks
Joint Chief Executive Officer Joint Chief Executive Officer

21 June 2021

Preparation and presentation of the financial statements (continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Capital Appreciation Limited and its 
subsidiaries (‘the Group’) and Company set out on pages 98 to 173, which comprise the consolidated and 
separate statements of financial position as at 31 March 2021, the consolidated and separate statements of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and the consolidated 
and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and separate financial position of the Group and Company as at 31 March 2021, and its 
consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 
Act of South Africa.

Basis for 0pinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Company in 
accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered 
Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial 
statements of the Group and Company and in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits of the Group and Company and in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards). We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our 
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on 
the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements. 
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The identified key audit matter relates only to the consolidated financial statements and not the separate 
financial statements.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Goodwill impairment assessment 

At 31 March 2021, the Group’s goodwill is valued at 
R728.6 million (2020: R728.6 million).

In terms of IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets, the Group 
is required to annually test for the impairment of 
goodwill. The impairment assessment process is 
complex. The cash flow models used to determine 
the recoverable amount of the two cash-generating 
units containing goodwill, are based on several 
assumptions that are subject to significant judgment 
and estimation. These assumptions include future 
growth rates, forecasted cash flows and the discount 
rates which are inherently uncertain and could change 
over time. 

The cash flow models have been updated in the 
current year for changes in the future growth rates and 
forecasted cash flows which incorporate changes in 
contracts or orders. Management used an expert to 
update these models which were based on the latest 
financial position of the Group. 

Due to the complexity of the impairment calculations 
and the estimates and judgement required in 
evaluating the recoverable amounts, we consider this 
to be a key audit matter. 

The disclosures relating to goodwill, as well as 
managements’ assumptions, are included in notes 1.1, 
1.4 and 6 of the Group’s financial statements.

Our audit procedures included amongst others the 
following:

 � Evaluated management’s impairment assessment 
process to assess the reasonability by comparing 
prior year forecasts to 2021 actuals, as well as the 
completeness of the forecasted cash flows included 
in the model. 

 � We evaluated the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of management’s expert who was used to 
update the valuations.

 � We evaluated the models used by management in 
determining the value in use of the identified cash-
generating units, with the assistance of our internal 
transactional advisory experts, to reassess the 
discount rates, valuation methodology used; as well 
as the cash flow forecasts.

 � We compared the cash flow forecasts used in the 
impairment model to the approved budgets and 
other relevant market and economic information.

 � We evaluated and challenged management’s future 
cash flow forecasts and the process by which they 
were drawn up. We tested the underlying value 
in use calculations by comparing the future cash 
flows to the prior period actual results, to assess 
management’s forecast accuracy rate.

 � The discount rates and valuation methodology per 
the client’s calculation was compared to the WACC 
calculated by the EY experts which was based on 
industry standards.

 � A range of possible impairments was calculated 
by performing a sensitivity analysis around the key 
assumptions of future growth rates, margins and the 
discount rate used in the models; and 

 � We assessed the completeness and accuracy 
of disclosures, including the description of the 
estimates and judgements used in impairment 
testing, against the IAS 36 – Impairment of 
Assets requirements.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the 193 page document titled “Capital Appreciation Integrated Report for the year ended 31 March 
2021“, which includes the directors’ report, the company secretary’s certification and the report of the audit 
and risk and opportunity committee as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained 
prior to the date of this report, and the Integrated Report, which is expected to be made available to us after 
that date. The other information does not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going-concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 � Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 � Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group and Company’s internal control. 

 � Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 � Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going-concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and/or the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 � Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 � Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats 
or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report 
that Ernst & Young Inc. has been the auditor of Capital Appreciation Limited for six years.

Ernst & Young Inc.

Director – Charles Trollope 

Registered Auditor

Chartered Accountant (SA)

Date: 21 June 2021

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
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Report of the Audit and Risk and Opportunity 
Committee (“the committee’)

Duties and Responsibilities
The committee is satisfied that it has executed its role and responsibilities in keeping with the requirements of 
the Companies Act, the requirements of the JSE Listings Requirements and the recommendations of King IV, 
as well as the responsibilities assigned to it as set out in the audit and risk and opportunity committee terms of 
reference, which has been endorsed by the Board of Directors

Members of the Audit and Risk and Opportunity Committee
The committee members are all independent, non-executive directors of the Group :

Member Appointment Date Qualifications

V Sekese (Chairman) 15 September 2015 BComm (Wits), BAcc (Wits), CA(SA)
B Bulo 15 September 2015 BBusSc (UCT), PGDA (UCT) CA(SA)
R Morar 3 June 2019 CA(SA), CFE

The Board is satisfied that the members of the committee have the required knowledge and experience as set 
out in Section 94(5) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011.

Attendance of meetings
The committee performs the duties set out in Section 94(7) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, holding 
sufficient scheduled meetings to discharge its duties, subject to a minimum of two meetings per year. Three 
committee meetings were held during the year. Unrestricted access was granted to the external auditors.

Committee Members

Number of
Meetings 

Held

Number of
Meetings
Attended

V Sekese (Chairman) 3 3
B Bulo 3 3
R Morar 3 3

Directors attendance by invitation

M Sacks 3 1
B Sacks 3 2
M Pimstein 3 3
A Salomon 3 3
M Shapiro 3 3

External audit and independence
The committee has satisfied itself through enquiry that the external auditors, Ernst & Young Inc, are 
independent as defined by the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and as per the standards stipulated by the auditing 
profession. Requisite assurance was sought in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 that internal governance 
processes within the audit firm support and demonstrate their claim to independence.

The committee, in consultation with executive management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. 
The audit plan and budgeted audit fee for the external audit was considered and approved taking into 
consideration such factors as the audit risks, the timing of the audit and scope of the work required.

The committee ensured that there is a formal policy in place to govern the process whereby the external 
auditors of the group are considered and appointed to provide non-audit services. The external auditors 
provided no non-audit services during the year.

The designated Ernst & Young partner is Mr. Charles Trollope, which appointment was approved by the board 
and confirmed by the JSE. This is Mr. Trollope’s second year as designated partner.
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Ernst & Young Inc. have been the external auditors of the group for the past six financial years, inclusive of the 
current financial year.

The committee is comfortable that the external auditors and the designated audit partner have not exceeded 
their mandatory rotation periods, which are set at ten and five years respectively.

The committee has assessed the accreditation documents including inspection documents from IRBA 
submitted by Ernst & Young for the purpose of conducting the suitability assessment of Ernst & Young and the 
designated partner in terms of the JSE Listings requirements. On the basis of the assessment and the high 
quality of the 2021 audit, the committee has nominated for election at the Group’s annual general meeting , 
the reappointment of Ernst & Young as the external auditors for the financial year ending 31 March 2022 and 
Mr. Charles Trollope as the designated auditor.

Key audit matters
The committee has applied its mind to the key audit areas and key audit matters identified by the external 
auditors and is comfortable that they have been adequately addressed and disclosed. The item which required 
significant judgement was Goodwill impairment. It was concluded that no impairment of goodwill was 
required.

Statement of internal financial controls
The opinion of the board on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control environment is informed by the 
conclusion reached by the Audit Committee. BDO South Africa Proprietary Limited (“BDO”) was appointed as 
the internal audit service provider for the 2021 financial year.

The committee assessed the results of the internal audits conducted by BDO and other identified assurance 
providers in terms of the evolving combined assurance model of the Group’s system of internal financial 
controls and risk management, including the design, implementation and the effectiveness of the internal 
financial controls. The assessment, when considered with the information and explanations given by 
management and discussions with both the internal and external auditors on the results of their audits, led to 
the conclusion that nothing has come to the attention of the Board that caused it to believe that the Group’s 
system of internal financial controls and risk management is not effective and that the internal financial 
controls do not form a sound basis for the preparation of reliable financial statements.

Governance of risk
The committee is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal controls, financial 
reporting and financial risk management and considering the major findings of any internal investigations into 
control weaknesses, fraud or misconduct and managements response thereto. We have considered and relied 
on the work of the committee and the social and ethics committee on the non-financial related risk areas.

Risks are identified, assessed and managed as part of the day-to-day operations across the divisions of the 
group and various levels of management.

The committee, is responsible for ensuring that technology (IT) forms an integral part of the Group’s risk 
management.

IT Governance in the group has increased its level of maturity, operating in a decentralised environment, 
resulting in each division bring responsible for monitoring and managing IT risk.

Regulatory Compliance and Code of Ethics
The committee monitored and reviewed the ongoing compliance with applicable legislation, requirements of 
regulatory authorities and the group’s code of ethics.

The committee has taken into account all of the comments from the JSE proactive monitoring review that 
was performed on the consolidated and company financial statements of previous years and considered the 
previously issued 2020 JSE report and annexure 3 of the report.

Report of the Audit and Risk and Opportunity Committee (“the committee”) (continued)
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An anonymous ethics line is in place which is managed independently of the Group. All calls reported are in 
total anonymity and without fear of discrimination. Monthly reports are provided by the independent service 
provider. There were no incidents reported during the year.

Insurance
The group reviews its insurance coverage annually. The review is prepared by divisional and senior 
management and the Group chief financial officer (CFO). Where necessary, due to significant changes in 
circumstances ad hoc changes to insurance cover may be made between annual reviews.

Combined assurance
The committee is of the view that the framework in place for combined assurance is adequate and is achieving the 
objective of an effective, integrated approach across the disciplines of risk management, compliance and audit.

Expertise of the financial director and finance function
The committee has reviewed the current performance and future requirements for the financial management 
of the Group and concluded that the current team has the appropriate skills, experience and expertise 
required to fulfil the finance function. In compliance with the JSE Listing Requirements, the committee 
satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the Group CFO, Mr. Alan Salomon, and 
the financial management team as a whole.

Going concern
The committee reviewed the documents prepared by management in which they assessed the going concern 
status of the Group and its subsidiaries at year end and for the foreseeable future. Management has concluded 
that the Group is a going concern.

The projections and analyses for the Group have been prepared, covering its future performance, capital and 
liquidity for a period of 12 months from the reporting date. These projections and analyses take into account 
the ongoing development of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Recommendation of the financial statement for approval by 
the board
The committee has assessed the Group and Company’s accounting policies and the consolidation and 
separate financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and is satisfied that they comply in all material 
aspects with International Financial Reporting Statements (IFRS), the requirements of the Companies Act and 
the JSE Listings Requirements.

The committee recommended the Group financial statements and the Company financial statements for 
approval by the board.

Subsequent Events
There are no material subsequent events from the reporting date.

On behalf of the Committee

Victor Sekese
Chairman

Johannesburg

21 June 2021
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Members of the group’s other Committees

Members of the Social and Ethics Committee

The members of the Social and Ethics Committee are all non-executive directors of the Group : 

Member
K Dlamini (Chairman) Independent
V Sekese Independent
R Morar Independent

Members of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee
The members of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee are all non-executive directors of the Group :

Member
M Kahn (Chairman) Independent
M Sacks Non-independent
K Dlamini Independent
R Morar Independent

Members of the Investment Committee
The members of the Investment Committee :

Name

M Sacks (Chairman) Non-Independent
E Kruger Independent
B Bulo Independent
B Sacks Executive Director
M Pimstein Executive Director
A Salomon Executive Director
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Directors’ Report

About Capital Appreciation Limited 
Capital Appreciation Limited is a holding company with investments in businesses which operate in the 
Fintech Sector. The group has two business segments – Payments and Payment Infrastructure and Services 
(“Payments”) and  Software and Services (“Software”). The company maintains a listing on the Main Board of 
the JSE and a Secondary listing on the A2X market, in the Technology sector.

Payments
The payments segment comprises two businesses. African Resonance and Dashpay are leading direct 
and indirect providers of payment infrastructure, technical support and payment technology solutions to 
established financial institutions, emerging payment service providers and corporate customers in the retail, 
fuel, restaurant, hospitality and healthcare sectors. Dashpay’s multi-product, multi-party universal transacting 
platform and value-added services solutions are intended to complement existing payment services provided 
by the Group’s established banking and institutional client base.

Software
Synthesis is a highly specialised software and systems developer, offering consulting, integration services and 
technology-based product solutions to banking, financial services, retail, telecommunications, healthcare and 
other institutions in South Africa and other emerging markets. Synthesis is uniquely positioned in Africa, given 
its Amazon Web Services (AWS) Advanced Consulting Partner Accreditation for a broad range of specialist 
competencies.

Enterprise Development Funding
Capprec supports and advances several commercial transformation initiatives, including its enterprise 
development funding and technology development expertise to GovChat, a black-controlled technology start-
up which offers a platform to measure and enhance government interaction with citizens. GovChat is noted as 
one of AWS’s premier Public Sector initiatives globally. Capital Appreciation owns 35% of the entity.

Authorised and issued share capital
At 31 March 2021, the authorised share capital of the Group comprises 10 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 
no par value and 4 000 constituent ordinary shares of no par value. The issued share capital of the Group 
compromises 1 310 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value (2020: 1 310 000 000) and nil constituent ordinary 
shares of no par value (2020: Nil).

Movement in treasury shares
In terms of the general authority granted to the company to repurchase its ordinary shares, the latest being 
the shareholder authority obtained at the AGM of shareholders held on 2 September 2020, the company 
purchased 1 204 784 treasury shares (2020: 45 144 351 treasury shares), costing R1 239 464 (2020: R33 886 266). 
The company allotted 30 000 000 ordinary shares from treasury shares to the vendors of Synthesis on 
7 July 2020. The total number of treasury shares at year end amounted to 79 991 135 (2020: 108 786 351).

Acquisitions
The Group acquired a 26.52% interest in LayUp Technologies Proprietary Limited for R6 206 802. LayUp is a 
digital Lay-By and recurring payments business.

The effective day of this transaction was 4 January 2021 and was funded through cash.

Change in Directorate
Ms R Maqache was appointed as a non-executive director on 4 December 2020.
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Dividends
Dividends paid during the year
A dividend of 2.75 cents per ordinary share was declared on 1 June 2020 amounting to R36.0 million.  
A dividend of 2.50 cents per ordinary share was declared on 2 December 2020 amounting to R32.8 million.  
The total dividends paid during the year amounted to R68.8 million (2020: R60.6 million).

Dividends declared
The Board has pleasure in announcing that a final dividend of 3.00 cents (2020: 2.75 cents) per ordinary share 
has been declared, bringing the total dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 to 5.50 cents per ordinary 
share (2020: 5.00 cents per ordinary share).

We note the following:

 � Dividends are subject to dividends withholding tax
 � The payment date for the dividend is Monday, 12 July 2021
 � Dividends have been declared out of profits available for distribution
 � Local dividends withholding tax is 20%
 � Gross dividend amount is 3.00 cents per ordinary share which is 2.40 cents net of withholding tax
 � Capital Appreciation Limited has 1 310 000 000 ordinary shares in issue at the declaration date
 � Capital Appreciation Limited’s Income Tax Reference Number is 9591281176

The salient dates relating to the dividend are as follows:

 � Last day to trade cum dividend: Tuesday 6 July 2021
 � Shares commence trading ex-dividend: Wednesday 7 July 2021
 � Dividend record date: Friday 9 July 2021
 � Dividend payment date: Monday 12 July 2021

Share certificates for ordinary shares may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Wednesday 7 July 
2021 and Friday 9 July 2021, both days inclusive

Material resolutions
The following material resolutions were passed during the year:

Board Resolutions

 � 1 June 2020, a dividend of 2.75 cents per share payable to shareholders on 20 July 2020.

 � 2 December 2020, a dividend of 2.25 cents per share payable to shareholders on 28 December 2020.

 � 4 December 2020: appointment of R Maqache as a non executive director of the company.

Shareholders’ Ordinary Resolutions

 � 2 September 2020, approval of the Group financial statements as at 31 March 2020.

 � 2 September 2020, retirement, re-election and re-appointment as directors :KD Dlamini, JM Kahn, 
MR Pimstein, AC Salomon

 � 2 September 2020, retirement, re-election and re-appointment as directors of the audit and risk and 
opportunity committee : V Sekese, B Bulo, R Morar

 � 2 September 2020, reappointment of Ernst & Young Inc. as external auditors of the Group.

 � 2 September 2020, general authority to issue shares for cash.

 � 2 September 2020, approval of the Capital Appreciation share plan.

 � 2 September 2020, approval of the remuneration policy.

 � 2 September 2020, approval of the remuneration implementation report.

Shareholders’ Special Resolutions

 � 2 September 2020, approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration for the period to the date of the 
2021 Annual General Meeting.

 � 2 September 2020, authority granted to provide financial assistance to subsidiaries and other related and 
interrelated entities.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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 � 2 September 2020, authority to repurchase of the company’s ordinary shares.

 � 2 September 2020, approval of the issue of shares pursuant to the share plan.

Directorate
The names of the directors and the number of meetings attended by each of the directors up until the date of 
this report, are as follows:

Directors Appointment Date

Number
of Board
Meetings

Held

Number
of Board

Meetings
Attended

Number of
Nomination

and
Remuneration

Committee
Meetings 

Held

Number of
Nomination

and 
Remuneration

Committee
Meetings
Attended

Number of
Investment
Committee

Meetings
Held

Number of
Investment
Committee

Meeting
Attended

Non-executive
M Sacks (Chairman)1 3 March 2015 3 3 1 1 2 2
B Bulo2 15 September 2015 3 3 2 2
D Dlamini2 9 May 2018 3 3 1 1 2 2
M Kahn3 15 September 2015 3 3 1 1
E Kruger2 9 May 2018 3 3 2 2
R Maqache1 4 December 2020 3 1
R Morar2 15 September 2015 3 3 1 1
V Sekese2 15 September 2015 3 3
C Valkin2 15 September 2015 3 2

Executive
M Pimstein 3 March 2015 3 3 2 2
B Sacks 19 March 2015 3 3 2 2
A Salomon 3 March 2015 3 3 2 2
M Shapiro 12 June 2019 3 3
1 Non-independent
2 Independent
3 Lead independent

During the year, the activities of the Social and Ethics Committee was incorporated in the Group’s Board and 
Audit and Risk and Opportunity Committee meetings. 

Directors’ shareholding

The individual interests declared by the directors and officers held in the Group share capital as at 31 March 
2021, are as follows:

Beneficial Directors

2021
Number of

ordinary shares

2020
Number of

ordinary shares

M Kahn  3 600 000  3 600 000 
R Morar  100 000  100 000 
M Pimstein  60 429 792  60 429 792 
B Sacks*  70 833 333  70 833 333 
M Sacks  45 500 000  45 500 000 
A Salomon  57 263 776  57 263 776 
M Shapiro  28 327 970  19 175 000 
C Valkin  250 000  250 000 

Total  266 304 871  257 151 901 

* Held through Centric Capital Ventures LLC

There have been no changes in the Director’s shareholding held in the Group from 31 March 2021 to 
21 June 2021, being the date that the Group’s Financial Statements have been approved by the Board.
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Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration paid to directors while in office in the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 was  
as follows:

2021
R

2020
R

Executive Directors
M Pimstein  1 800 000  1 800 000 
B Sacks*  1 800 000  1 800 000
A Salomon  1 800 000  1 800 000 
M Shapiro  4 049 496  3 800 463 

Total  9 449 496  9 200 463 

* Remuneration paid to Centre Capital Ventures LLC

Non-Executive Directors Fees
B Bulo  287 000  210 000 
D Dlamini  156 000  80 000 
J Kahn  156 000  120 000 
E Kruger  191 000  120 000 
R Maqache (appointed 4 December 2020)  44 000 –
R Morar  252 000  120 000 
E Neishlos (resigned 17 September 2019) –  40 000 
H Neishlos (resigned 17 September 2019) –  40 000 
M Sacks  277 000  150 000 
V Sekese  256 000  240 000 
C Valkin  84 000  120 000 

Total  1 703 000  1 240 000 

The non-executive directors remuneration was approved by special resolution at the Annual General Meeting 
held on 2 September 2020.

Directors’ and officers’ disclosure of interest in contracts
During the current and prior financial year, no contracts were entered into in which the directors and officers 
of the Group had an interest in and would significantly affect the business of the Group. The directors have no 
interest in any third party contract or Company responsible for managing any of the business activities of the 
Group.

Shareholders
Shareholders with a holding greater than 5% in the Company share capital as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

% held

Shareholder 2021 2020

Government Employees Pension Fund 25,45 25,45
Capital Appreciation Empowerment Trust 5,73 5,73
B Sacks (Held in Centric Capital Ventures LLC) 5,41 5,41

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Share Option Plan and Conditional Share Plan
Share option plan
During the current year 16.1 million share options (2020: 8.5 million) were granted and 2.3 million share options 
(2020: 3.2 million) were forfeited under the Capital Appreciation Limited Share Option Scheme, bringing the 
total allocated share options to 50.9 million. (2020: 37.4 million).

Conditional share plan
During the current year 15.1 million conditional share awards (2020: 15.4 million) were granted under the 
Capital Appreciation Limited Conditional Share Plan, bringing the total allocated conditional share awards to 
30.5 million (2020: 15.4 million).

Year-end
The Group’s year-end is 31 March.

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern.

Date of issue of Group Financial Statements
The audited group financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 21 June 2021.

Auditors
Ernst & Young Inc. will continue in office in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008.

Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains forward looking statements with respect to the economy and the results of the operations 
of the company, which by their nature, involve risk and uncertainty on economic circumstances that may 
or may not occur in the future. Any forward-looking statements have not been audited or reviewed by our 
external auditors.
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Figures in R’000 Notes 2021 2020

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 3 25 635 28 837
Intangible assets 4 61 226 61 871
Right-of-use assets 5 16 210 24 433
Goodwill 6 728 578 728 578
Investment in associates 7 5 857 *
Loan to associate 8 19 645 –
Deferred tax 9 18 563 7 424

Non-current assets 875 714 851 143

Inventories 10 17 017 8 140
Trade and other receivables 11 47 461 81 098
Loan to associate 8 – 1 456
Taxation receivable 2 039 870
Cash and cash equivalents 12 538 316 505 121

Current assets 604 833 596 685

Total assets 1 480 547 1 447 828

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 13 1 003 261 976 600
Share-based payment reserve 14 9 926 2 889
Contingent consideration reserve 15 – 24 900
Retained income 362 707 304 628

Total equity 1 375 894 1 309 017

Lease liability 17 11 104 19 555
Deferred revenue 16 5 454 8 733
Deferred tax 9 8 787 12 502

Non-current liabilities 25 345 40 790

Contingent consideration 15 – 10 000
Trade and other payables 18 59 942 68 725
Lease liability 17 8 451 7 601
Deferred revenue 16 10 838 5 153
Taxation payable 77 6 542

Current liabilities 79 308 98 021

Total equity and liabilities 1 480 547 1 447 828

* Investments in associate in aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.

Net asset value per ordinary share (cents) 111.9 109.0

Group statement of financial position
AT 31 MARCH 2021
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Group statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Figures in R’000 Notes 2021 2020

Revenue 19 619 513 701 230
Cost of sales (307 827) (368 996)

Gross profit 311 686 332 234
Other income 20 197 17 077
Operating expenses (125 030) (143 183)

Trading profit 186 853 206 128
Share-based payment expense (7 037) (1 717)
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment 3 (8 898) (9 810)
Depreciation: right-of-use assets 5 (8 223) (7 968)
Amortisation of intangibles  4 (18 300) (16 645)
Transformation costs (6 567) (8 031)

Operating profit 21 137 828 161 957
Finance income 22 20 981 38 724
Finance costs 23 (67) (728)
Finance costs: lease liabilities 23 (1 753) (2 305)
Equity accounted loss in associate 7 (350) (346)
Gain on sale of investment in associate 7 – 8 665

Profit before taxation 156 639 205 967
Taxation 24 (30 939) (56 135)

Profit after taxation 125 700 149 832
Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 125 700 149 832

Basic earnings per share (cents) 31 10.28 11.24
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Figures in R’000
Ordinary 

share capital

Share-based 
payment 

reserve

Contingent 
consideration 

reserve
Retained 

income Total equity

Balance at 31 March 2019 1 204 657 1 172 24 900 216 386 1 447 115
Repurchase of cancelled 
ordinary shares (192 726) – – – (192 726)
Costs associated with 
repurchase of cancelled 
ordinary shares (1 445) – – – (1 445)
Costs associated with circular – – – (1 585) (1 585)
Share-based payment 
expense – 1 717 – – 1 717
Purchase of treasury shares (33 886) – – – (33 886)
Cash dividends paid – – – (57 827) (57 827)
Settlement of pre-acquisition 
tax receivable – – – (2 178) (2 178)
Total comprehensive income 
for the year ended 
31 March 2020 – – – 149 832 149 832

Balance at 31 March 2020 976 600 2 889 24 900 304 628 1 309 017

Share-based payment 
expense – 7 037 – – 7 037
Settlement of contingent 
consideration reserve 27 900 – (24 900) (3 000) –
Purchase of treasury shares (1 239) – – – (1 239)
Cash dividends paid – – – (64 621) (64 621)
Total comprehensive income 
for the year ended 
31 March 2021 – – – 125 700 125 700

Balance at 31 March 2021 1 003 261 9 926 – 362 707 1 375 894

Group statement of changes in equity 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Figures in R’000 Notes 2021 2020

Cash flow from operations 25 200 944 206 086
Finance income received 20 981 38 076
Finance costs paid (1 820) (2 305)
Dividends paid (64 621) (57 827)
Taxation paid (53 427) (57 852)

Net cash flow from operating activities 102 057 126 178

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3 (7 420) (17 756)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 733 546
Acquisition of intangible assets (7 292) (10 202)
Capitalisation of intangible assets (9 489) (6 056)
Acquisition of associate 7 (6 207) –
Loan to associate 8 (18 189) –
Proceeds from loan to associate 8 – 5 021
Proceeds from disposal of associate 7 – 34 979
Costs associated with sale of associate 7 – (300)
Costs associated with circular – (1 585)
Payment of contingent consideration 15 (10 000) –

Net cash flow from investing activities (57 864) 4 647

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liability (7 601) (6 427)
Loan to associate 8 – (1 456)
Repurchase of 245 000 000 cancelled ordinary shares – (192 726)
Costs associated with repurchase of 245 000 000 cancelled 
ordinary shares – (1 445)
Purchase of 1 204 784 treasury shares (2020: 45 144 351) (1 239) (33 890)

Net cash flow from financing activities (8 840) (235 944)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 35 353 (105 119)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 505 121 608 793
Net foreign exchange difference (2 158) 1 447

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12 538 316 505 121

Group statement of cash flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Payments and Payment 
Infrastructure Software and Services Corporate Group

Figures in R’000 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue received from all customers* 397 422 506 183 222 091 195 047 – – 619 513 701 230

Revenue received from all customers 397 422 506 183 225 149 195 047 – – 622 571 701 230
Less: Revenue received from intra group customers – – (3 058) – – – (3 058) –

Trading profit/(loss) 146 481 168 241 61 630 56 844 (21 258) (18 957) 186 853 206 128
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment (6 038) (7 674) (2 212) (1 597) (648) (539) (8 898) (9 810)
Depreciation: right-of-use assets (5 398) (5 143) (1 731) (1 731) (1 094) (1 094) (8 223) (7 968)
Amortisation of intangibles (2 333) (1 786) (2 699) (1 591) (13 268) (13 268) (18 300) (16 645)
Operating profit/(loss) 126 659 147 161 50 813 48 875 (39 644) (34 079) 137 828 161 957
Net finance income 11 343 14 514 815 1 647 8 756 21 835 20 914 37 996
Finance costs: lease liabilities (1 059) (1 435) (458) (565) (236) (305) (1 753) (2 305)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 112 300 115 270 37 882 36 861 (24 482) (2 299) 125 700 149 832
Total assets 324 010 289 215 114 111 90 250 1 042 426 1 068 363 1 480 547 1 447 828
Total liabilities 53 968 70 990 34 370 34 800 16 315 33 021 104 653 138 811

Net assets 270 042 218 225 79 741 55 450 1 026 111 1 035 342 1 375 894 1 309 017

Geographical information
Revenue
South Africa 383 437 506 183 194 954 173 733 – – 578 391 679 916
Rest of Africa and Indian Ocean Islands 13 985 – 16 670 14 341 – – 30 655 14 341
Asia Pacific – – 2 008 – – – 2 008 –
United States of America – – 8 459 6 973 – – 8 459 6 973

397 422 506 183 222 091 195 047 – – 619 513 701 230

* Refer to note 19 for a breakdown of the description of Revenue.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its products and services and 
has two reportable segments, as follows:

 � The Payment and Payment Infrastructure division, which generates revenue from the sale of terminals,  
the rental of terminals, maintenance and service fees from terminals, transaction-related revenue from 
terminals and sundry terminal-related revenue.

 � The Payment and Payment Infrastructure division is an aggregation of African Resonance and Dashpay as 
they both generate revenue from similar types of transactions.

 � The Software and Services division, which generates revenue from services and consultancy fees, licence and 
subscription fees and sale of computer hardware.

Corporate provides the group with strategic direction; regulatory compliance and governance; administrative, 
financial and secretarial services; insurance advice; internal audit and group treasury management.

No reliance is placed on one major customer.

All assets and liabilities are held in South Africa

Group segment analysis
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Payments and Payment 
Infrastructure Software and Services Corporate Group

Figures in R’000 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue received from all customers* 397 422 506 183 222 091 195 047 – – 619 513 701 230

Revenue received from all customers 397 422 506 183 225 149 195 047 – – 622 571 701 230
Less: Revenue received from intra group customers – – (3 058) – – – (3 058) –

Trading profit/(loss) 146 481 168 241 61 630 56 844 (21 258) (18 957) 186 853 206 128
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment (6 038) (7 674) (2 212) (1 597) (648) (539) (8 898) (9 810)
Depreciation: right-of-use assets (5 398) (5 143) (1 731) (1 731) (1 094) (1 094) (8 223) (7 968)
Amortisation of intangibles (2 333) (1 786) (2 699) (1 591) (13 268) (13 268) (18 300) (16 645)
Operating profit/(loss) 126 659 147 161 50 813 48 875 (39 644) (34 079) 137 828 161 957
Net finance income 11 343 14 514 815 1 647 8 756 21 835 20 914 37 996
Finance costs: lease liabilities (1 059) (1 435) (458) (565) (236) (305) (1 753) (2 305)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 112 300 115 270 37 882 36 861 (24 482) (2 299) 125 700 149 832
Total assets 324 010 289 215 114 111 90 250 1 042 426 1 068 363 1 480 547 1 447 828
Total liabilities 53 968 70 990 34 370 34 800 16 315 33 021 104 653 138 811

Net assets 270 042 218 225 79 741 55 450 1 026 111 1 035 342 1 375 894 1 309 017

Geographical information
Revenue
South Africa 383 437 506 183 194 954 173 733 – – 578 391 679 916
Rest of Africa and Indian Ocean Islands 13 985 – 16 670 14 341 – – 30 655 14 341
Asia Pacific – – 2 008 – – – 2 008 –
United States of America – – 8 459 6 973 – – 8 459 6 973

397 422 506 183 222 091 195 047 – – 619 513 701 230

* Refer to note 19 for a breakdown of the description of Revenue.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its products and services and 
has two reportable segments, as follows:

 � The Payment and Payment Infrastructure division, which generates revenue from the sale of terminals,  
the rental of terminals, maintenance and service fees from terminals, transaction-related revenue from 
terminals and sundry terminal-related revenue.

 � The Payment and Payment Infrastructure division is an aggregation of African Resonance and Dashpay as 
they both generate revenue from similar types of transactions.

 � The Software and Services division, which generates revenue from services and consultancy fees, licence and 
subscription fees and sale of computer hardware.

Corporate provides the group with strategic direction; regulatory compliance and governance; administrative, 
financial and secretarial services; insurance advice; internal audit and group treasury management.

No reliance is placed on one major customer.

All assets and liabilities are held in South Africa

103



Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021

Accounting policies
1. Presentation of financial statements

The group financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared in compliance 
with the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, the requirements of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and Financial Pronouncements, as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council and the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008. These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period’s accounting policies. The amounts presented are rounded to the nearest Rand.  
The Board of Directors takes full responsibility for the financial statements, which have been prepared  
by A Salomon CA(SA), Chief Financial Officer, who supervised the preparation thereof, in conjunction 
with the Financial Executive, B Kruger CA(SA).

Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as 
at 31 March 2021. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

 � power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee);

 � exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

 � the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this 
presumption, and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including:

 � the contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee;

 � rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

 � the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins 
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the group financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the 
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders 
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements 
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-
Group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows, relating to transactions between 
members of the Group, are eliminated in full on consolidation.

1.1 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the group financial statements, management is, from time to time, required to make 
certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the financial statements 
and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is used in the 
formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates,  
which may be material to the group financial statements.

Notes to the group financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Non financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group 
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
or Cash Generating Unit’s (“CGU”) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable 
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.

The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, 
conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for 
disposing of the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are 
taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded 
companies or other available fair value indicators.

The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The cash flows are 
derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group 
is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of 
the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model 
as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These 
estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives recognised 
by the Group. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different CGUs, 
including a sensitivity analysis, are further recorded below in this note.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are 
prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These 
budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is 
calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, refer to note 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 for 
further details.

Residual values and useful lives of tangible and intangible assets

Residual values and useful lives of tangible and intangible assets are assessed on an annual basis. 
Estimates and judgements in this regard are based on historical experience and expectations of the 
manner in which assets are to be used, together with expected proceeds likely to be realised when 
assets are disposed of at the end of their useful lives.

Such expectations could change over time and therefore impact both depreciation charges and carrying 
values of tangible and intangible assets in the future. Further details are given in notes 3, 4 and 5.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that future taxable profits will be available against 
which temporary differences can be utilised. Future taxable profits are estimated based on business 
plans which include estimates and assumptions regarding economic growth, inflation, taxation rates 
and competitive forces. Refer to note 9 for details.
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Fair value of share allocations

In calculating the amount to be expensed as a share-based payment, the Group was required to 
calculate the fair value of the equity instruments granted to participants

This fair value was calculated by applying a valuation model which is in itself judgemental and takes into 
account certain inherently uncertain assumptions (detailed in note 14).

1.2 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Group holds for its own use and which are 
expected to be used for more than one period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, and the value of the item can be 
measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment. Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is 
available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to reduce the asset’s carrying 
amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects 
the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the Group. Depreciation of an asset 
ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life

Office equipment 3 – 5 years
Computer equipment 3 – 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 – 6 years
Motor vehicles 3 – 5 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Rental terminals 3 years

Such assets are depreciated using the straight-line method, with no residual value.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indication for such 
impairment. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be 
higher than the estimated recoverable value, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit and 
loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable value.

1.3 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:

 � it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the intangible asset 
will flow to the entity; and

 � the cost of the intangible asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and/or any accumulated impairment losses. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for intangible assets are reviewed at the date of every reporting period.

1. Presentation of financial statements continued
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Save for any need for impairment, amortisation applied to the intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, 
is as follows:

Item Average useful life

Computer software 3 – 5 years
Customer web portal 3 years
Customer relationships 4 – 8 years

1.4 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is any indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable value of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable value is estimated for the 
individual asset. During the period, there were no indications for such impairments.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss, 
recognised in prior periods for assets, may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable values of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying value of an asset arising from a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed 
the carrying value that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss in assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation is recognised 
immediately in profit and loss.

1.5 Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair 
value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree which is determined at either the 
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability 
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss 
in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is 
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the 
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is 
in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly 
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed, and reviews the procedures used to 
measure the value of the net assets to be recognised at the acquisition date.

If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate 
consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit and loss.
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After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those 
units. Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within 
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these 
circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the 
cash-generating unit.

1.6 Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but with no control 
over those decisions.

The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the 
associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount 
of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the 
associate. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the 
Group’s other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly 
in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in 
the Statement of Changes in Equity.

Unrealised gains and losses, resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate, are 
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The aggregate of the Group’s equity accounted profit/loss in associates is shown on the face of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, outside operating profit, and represents profit or loss after tax of 
the associate.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.

When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise 
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines 
whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such 
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
value of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss in profit or loss.

1. Presentation of financial statements continued

1.5 Business combinations and goodwill continued
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1.7 Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9: 
Financial Instruments.

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the Group, as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are equity instruments:

Mandatorily at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, 
on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on such principal 
amounts, and where the instrument is held under a business model whose objective is met by holding 
the instrument to collect contractual cash flows.)

Financial liabilities:

Amortised cost.

Note 32 Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the 
Group based on their specific classifications.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of 
financial instrument held by the Group are presented below:

Loans receivable at amortised cost

Classification

Loans to associates (note 8 and company note 4), and to employees (note 11) and to subsidiaries 
(company note 7) are classified as financial assets and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Loans have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, 
on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding, and the Group ‘s business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.

Recognition and measurement

Loans receivable are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, plus 
cumulative amortisation (interest), using the effective interest rate method of any difference between 
the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on all loans receivable measured 
at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective loans.
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1. Presentation of financial statements continued
1.7 Financial instruments continued

Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial 
assets subsequently measured at amortised cost (note 11).

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. The Group ‘s 
business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on trade and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the receivables. They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, 
if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective rate method.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, 
plus cumulative amortisation (interest), using the effective interest rate method of any difference 
between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any estimated credit losses.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, 
excluding VAT and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each 
reporting date.

Interest on financial assets

Interest income, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in profit and loss (note 22).

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and 
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial asset, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of 
a financial asset.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount, which is deemed to be fair value. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

 � it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

 � on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial statements that the group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

 � it is derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value , with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement 
recognised in profit and loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend 
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the other income line item.

The Group’s assets measured at FVTPL includes foreign exchange forward contracts which are derivative 
financial instruments. The Group does not apply hedge accounting in terms of IFRS 9 and IAS 39.
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Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables (note 18), excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as 
financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other payables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, 
and are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value less transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating the interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost 
of a financial liability.

If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method 
results in the recognition of interest expense, then it is included in the profit and loss in finance costs 
(note 23).

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement 
recognised in profit and loss.

1.8 Tax
Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 
are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates 
and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in 
profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

 � When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

 � In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the forseeable future

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused 
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

 � When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

 � In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date 
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. 
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly 
in equity.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate 
recognition at that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances 
change. The adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed 
goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable 
right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity 
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Value added taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except:

 � When the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case, the value added tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable

 � When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of value added tax included.

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

1. Presentation of financial statements continued
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1.9 Leases
All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:

 � leases of low value assets; and

 � leases with a term of 12 months or less.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments with a discount rate 
determined by reference to the incremental borrowing rate (IBR) on commencement of the lease as 
the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The group utilised an IBR of 7.6 % for 
offices premises. Variable lease payments are only included in the measurement of the lease liability if 
they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial measurement of the lease liability assumes the 
variable element will remain unchanged throughout the lease term. Other variable lease payments are 
expensed in the period to which they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:

 � amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;

 � the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the company, if it is reasonably certain 
to assess that option; and

 � any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been estimated on the 
basis of the termination option being exercised.

The leases that have been entered into relate to rental of office premises.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the initial measurement amount of the lease liability, 
reduced for any lease incentives received, and increased for:

 � lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;

 � initial direct costs incurred; and

 � the amount of any provision recognised where the group is contractually required to dismantle, 
remove or restore the leased asset.

Subsequent to initial measurement, lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged at a constant 
rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. Right-of-use assets are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the remaining economic 
life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged to be shorter than the lease term.

When the company revises its estimate of the term of any lease, it adjusts the carrying amount of the 
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted at the same 
discount rate that applied on lease commencement. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly 
revised when the variable element of future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is revised. In 
both cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the right-of use asset, with the 
revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining lease term.

When the company renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, the accounting 
depends on the nature of the modification:

 � if the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for an amount 
commensurate with a standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification 
is accounted for as a separate lease in accordance with the above policy;

 � in all other cases where the renegotiation increases the scope of the lease (whether that is an 
extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets being leased), the lease liability is 
remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-use asset 
being adjusted by the same amount; and

 � if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the 
lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial or full 
termination of the lease, with any difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is then 
further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments 
over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments discounted at the rate applicable on 
the modification date. The right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

113



Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021

Notes to the group financial statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Short-term leases or leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain 
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of the low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of 
office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases 
of low value assets are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Operating leases – lessor

Operating lease income on rental terminals is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the 
lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss.

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value in the ordinary course of 
business, on the first-in-first-out basis. The estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business.

1.11 Share capital and equity
All shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects, if applicable.

1.12 Treasury shares
Shares in the company, held by its subsidiary, CAPPREC Management Services Proprietary Limited, are 
classified in the Group’s shareholder interest as treasury shares. These treasury shares are treated as a 
deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares. The cost price of the treasury shares 
is presented as a deduction from total equity. Distributions received on treasury shares are eliminated 
on consolidation.

1.13 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, which consists of salaries and wages, is recognised in the 
period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the 
absence occurs.

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Share-based payments

Share incentive scheme

In terms of the Group’s share incentive scheme, employees of the Group receive remuneration in 
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity 
instruments (equity-settled transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is 
made, using an appropriate valuation model, further details of which are given in note 14.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in the employee benefits expense (note 21), 
together with a corresponding increase in the share base payment reserve, over the period in which 
the service and, where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the 
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at 
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the 
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the 
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance 
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but 
without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting 
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award 
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/
or service conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, 
the transactions are treated as vested, irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant 
date fair value of the unmodified award, provided the original terms of the award are met. An additional 
expense, measured as at the date of modification, is recognised for any modification that increases 
the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee. 
Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair 
value of the award is expensed immediately through profit or loss.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
diluted earnings per share (note 31).

Conditional share plan

In terms of the Group’s conditional share plan scheme, a conditional right to a share is awarded to 
executive directors and senior management, subject to performance and vesting conditions. The fair 
value of services received in return for the conditional share awards has been determined by multiplying 
the number of conditional share awards expected to vest, by the share price of the award less 
discounted anticipated future distribution flows.

1.14 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

 � the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

 � it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation; and

 � a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle 
the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by 
another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that 
the reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount 
of the provision.
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1.15 Revenue
Revenue recognition

The Group has no material revenue contracts for which they have contracted, but not satisfied the 
performance obligation.

There is no material or significant financing component to Group revenue and contracts with customers 
do not include material amounts of variable consideration.

Due to the standard nature of the Group’s contracts with customers, there were no significant areas of 
judgement required to be applied by the Group.

The Group has no complex agent/principal arrangements.

The segmental revenue analysis presents the nature and amount of Group revenue streams and 
therefore, fulfils the disaggregation disclosure requirement of IFRS 15.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is in the business of providing terminals, maintenance and software services.

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Payments and Payment Infrastructure division

Terminal rental income

The Group recognises revenue from terminal rental contracts with customers, on a month-to-month 
basis. The rental contractual period is approximately three years.

Maintenance and support service fees from terminals

The Group recognises revenue from maintenance and support service fees over time, using an input 
method of estimated monthly costs to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, 
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

The performance obligation is to maintain and support the customer’s terminals on a 
month-to-month basis.

Sale of terminals

Revenue from the sale of terminals is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is 
transferred to the customer, i.e. on delivery of the terminals. The normal credit term is 30 to 90 days 
upon delivery. The Group does not make any promises in the contract of sale with customers, that are 
separate performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated.

Transaction related income from terminals

The Group recognises transaction related income from terminals when the transaction is completed.

Software and Services division

Service and consultancy fees

These contracts are time based and the revenue recognition is based on the actual time spent on the 
provision of the relevant services to the customer and is recognised over time.

The performance obligation is based on the time allocated and expended on the software and 
consultancy project as delivered to the customer. The fees are based on a technical labour resource’s 
role and experience.

There is no contractual obligation to provide an output that is deliverable in nature other than labour 
hours expended per month to a customer.
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Licence and subscription fees

Fees earned from licensing internally developed software, installed on the customer premises, is 
recognised at the point that the licence is granted to the customer. This licence is granted for a period of 
12 months and gives the customer the right to use the software as it exists at that date.

Fees earned from subscriptions to internally developed software, that is hosted on the Group’s 
infrastructure, is recognised over the period that the licence is granted. This subscription gives the 
customer the right to access the entity’s software as it exists throughout the licence period.

The performance obligation is the delivery and access to the software licence granted in an executable 
format to the customer.

Hardware

Revenue from the sale of hardware is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is 
transferred to the customer, i.e. when the hardware is delivered.

Determination of cost of sales

The cost of sales of imported terminals, spare parts and accessories is determined from the landed cost 
of these products in our warehouse.

The cost of sales for maintenance services on terminals within the Payments division, services 
and consultancy fees within the Software and Services division are determined from the cost of 
direct labour, other direct costs and include an appropriate portion of overheads, but excludes 
interest expenses.

Trade receivables

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e. only 
the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group 
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer 
pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is 
recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities 
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received (or receivable) from 
the customer and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to refund to the 
customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the 
transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

1.16 Related parties
Related parties are entities which have the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Key 
management is defined as individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity. All individuals from the level of executive management up to the 
Board of Directors are regarded as key management per the definition of the standard. Close family 
members of key management personnel are considered to be those family members who may be 
expected to influence, or be influenced by key management individuals in their dealings with the entity. 
Other related party transactions are also disclosed in terms of the requirements of IAS 24.
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1.17 Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the transaction date. 
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the 
statement of financial position date. Translation differences are recognised in profit and loss.

2. New standards and interpretations
2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current period, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are 
effective for the current financial period and that are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 related rent concessions

The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted. The Group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2021 financial 
statements. The adoption of the amendment did not have any impact on the Group.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

Standard/amendment

For the 
group
effective
for years 
on or after Impact

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – 
Phase 2 – Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

1 April 2021 The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
the amendments and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date

Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3

1 April 2022 The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
the amendments and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date

Property, Plant and Equipment: 
Proceeds before Intended Use 
– Amendments to IAS 16

1 April 2022 The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
the amendments and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date

Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current – Amendments 
to IAS 1

1 April 2023 The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
the amendments and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date

Definition of Accounting Estimates 
– Amendments to IAS 8

1 April 2023 The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
the amendments and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
– Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2

1 April 2023 The Group is currently assessing the impact of 
the amendments and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date

1. Presentation of financial statements continued
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3. Property, plant and equipment
2021

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office and IT equipment 16 207 (8 581) 7 626
Motor vehicles 209 (194) 15
Furniture and fixtures 2 873 (1 602) 1 271
Leasehold Improvements 4 480 (2 051) 2 429
Rental terminals 22 904 (8 610) 14 294

Total 46 673 (21 038) 25 635

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

2021

Opening
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office and IT 
equipment 8 715 3 118 (479) (3 728) 7 626
Motor vehicles 47 – – (32) 15
Furniture and fixtures 981 718 – (428) 1 271
Leasehold 
Improvements 2 624 746 – (941) 2 429
Rental terminals 16 470 2 838 (1 245) (3 769) 14 294

Total 28 837 7 420 (1 724) (8 898) 25 635

2020

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office and IT equipment 14 432 (5 717) 8 715
Motor vehicles 209 (162) 47
Furniture and fixtures 2 155 (1 174) 981
Leasehold improvements 3 734 (1 110) 2 624
Rental terminals 24 840 (8 370) 16 470

Total 45 370 (16 533) 28 837

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment
2020

Opening
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office and IT 
equipment 4 866 6 832 (52) (2 931) 8 715
Motor vehicles 103 – – (56) 47
Furniture and fixtures 1 310 475 – (804) 981
Leasehold 
improvements 3 251 112 – (739) 2 624
Rental terminals 12 207 10 337 (794) (5 280) 16 470

Total 21 737 17 756 (846) (9 810) 28 837
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4. Intangible assets
2021

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Computer software 39 152 (9 358) 29 794
Customer web portal 86 (36) 50
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition 
of businesses 83 348 (51 966) 31 382

Customer relationships 67 818 (39 100) 28 718
Computer software 15 530 (12 866) 2 664

Total 122 586 (61 360) 61 226

Reconciliation of intangible assets

2021

Opening
balance Additions Amortisation

Carrying 
value

Computer software 17 161 17 655 (5 022) 29 794
Customer web portal 60 – (10) 50
Intangible asset recognised on 
acquisition of businesses 44 650 – (13 268) 31 382

Customer relationships 38 701 – (9 983) 28 718
Computer software 5 949 – (3 285) 2 664

Total 61 871 17 655 (18 300) 61 226

2020

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Computer software 21 497 (4 336) 17 161
Customer web portal 86 (26) 60
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition 
of businesses 83 348 (38 698) 44 650

Customer relationships 67 818 (29 117) 38 701
Computer software 15 530 (9 581) 5 949

Total 104 931 (43 060) 61 871
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Reconciliation of intangible assets
2020

Opening
balance Additions Amortisation

Carrying 
value

Computer software 4 335 16 198 (3 372) 17 161
Customer web portal 5 60 (5) 60
Intangible asset recognised on 
acquisition of businesses 57 918 – (13 268) 44 650

Customer relationships 48 684 – (9 983) 38 701
Computer software 9 234 – (3 285) 5 949

Total 62 258 16 258 (16 645) 61 871

5. Right-of-use assets
2021

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office premises 32 401 (16 191) 16 210

Reconciliation of right-of-use assets

2021

Figures in R’000
Opening
balance Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office premises 24 433 (8 223) 16 210

2020

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office premises 32 401 (7 968) 24 433

Reconciliation of right-of-use assets
2020

Figures in R’000
Opening 
balance Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Office premises 32 401 (7 968) 24 433
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6. Goodwill
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Carrying amount 728 578 728 578
Movement in goodwill
Carrying value at the beginning of the year 728 578 728 578

Carrying value at the end of the year 728 578 728 578

Reconciliation
Payments and Payment Infrastructure business 603 604 603 604
Software and Services business 124 974 124 974

728 578 728 578

The Group performs an annual test for impairment of the cash-generating units to which goodwill is 
attributed. The recoverable amount of the businesses (cash-generating units) has been determined 
based on a value-in-use calculation. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial 
budgets approved by management and a discount rate, calculated using a risk free rate adjusted 
for risk factors, of 19.5% (2020: 20.8%) for the Payments and Payment Infrastructure business and 
19.9% (2020: 22.7%) for the Software and Services business. Comparable pre-tax discount rates for 
purpose of impairment testing would be 24.6% and 25.2% for the Payments and Software Cash-
generating units respectively. Cash flows and trading forecasts have been projected for a period of 
five years.

The Payment and Payment Infrastructure business has forecasted compounded revenue growth of 
19.0% over the next five-year period. Trading and operating margins have been assumed to remain 
consistent with the 2021 financial year results.

The Software and Services business has forecasted compounded revenue growth of 25.2% over the 
next five-year period. Trading and operating margins have been assumed to remain consistent with the 
2021 financial year results.

Management believes that no reasonable possible change in any of the above key assumptions would 
cause the carrying value of any cash-generating unit to exceed its recoverable amount.

Acquisitions of businesses

On 5 May 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in African Resonance Business Solutions 
Proprietary Limited (African Resonance), Rinwell Investments Proprietary Limited, which is 100% 
shareholder of Dashpay Proprietary Limited (Rinwell Group), and Synthesis Software Technologies 
Proprietary Limited (Synthesis).

Acquisition of African Resonance

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of African Resonance as at 5 May 2017, the date of 
acquisition, have not changed since acquisition date. Goodwill has not been impaired in the current year.

Figures in R’000

Fair value 
recognised 

on 
acquisition

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 91 198
Goodwill arising on acquisition 371 836
Intangible assets arising on acquisition 31 759
Deferred tax on intangible asset (8 893)

Purchase consideration transferred 485 900
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Acquisition of Rinwell Group

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Rinwell Group as at 5 May 2017, the date of 
acquisition, have not changed since acquisition date. Goodwill has not been impaired in the current year.

Figures in R’000

Fair value 
recognised 

on 
acquisition

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 426
Goodwill arising on acquisition 231 768
Intangible assets arising on acquisition 7 300
Deferred tax on intangible asset (2 044)

Purchase consideration transferred 237 450

The Group granted 15 million shares in respect of a restraint of trade agreement entered into with the 
vendor of Rinwell.

Acquisition of Synthesis

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Synthesis as at 5 May 2017, the date of 
acquisition, have not changed since acquisition date. Goodwill has not been impaired in the current year.

Figures in R’000

Fair value 
recognised 

on 
acquisition

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 8 302
Goodwill arising on acquisition 124 974
Intangible assets arising on acquisition 44 289
Deferred tax on intangible asset (12 402)

Purchase consideration transferred 165 163

Cash: R10 000 000 at present value 8 163
Shares:  30 million ordinary shares at 83 cents per share,  

being the share price at the date of acquisition 24 900

Total 33 063

The Synthesis profit warranty consideration of R33 063 000 was included as part of the purchase 
consideration at the date of acquisition.

Synthesis achieved the profit warranty at 31 March 2020. The Synthesis shareholders received R10 million 
cash and an allotment of 30 million ordinary shares from treasury shares on 7 July 2020.
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7. Investment in associates
Unlisted investments

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

7.1 Resonance Australia Proprietary Limited
17 580 shares at cost – 29 746
Share of loss of associate – (3 732)
Sale of associate – (26 014)

Closing balance – –

Reconciliation
Opening balance – 26 360
Share of equity accounted loss in associate to date of sale – (346)
Related costs – 300
Proceeds on disposal – (34 979)

– (8 665)
Capital profit on disposal of associate – 8 665

Closing balance – –

The Company sold its 17.45% interest in Resonance Australia 
Proprietary Limited and its claims on the loan account of R5 021 341, 
for an aggregate amount of R40 million, which was settled on 
17 September 2019.

7.2 Proximity ID Proprietary Limited
69 shares at cost 460 460
Provision for impairment (460) (460)

Carrying and fair value – *

Synthesis has a 0.05% of the share capital of Proximity ID Proprietary Limited. The principal place of 
business is in Johannesburg, South Africa. The total investment in Proximity ID has been impaired during 
the year.
* Investments in associate in aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.
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7.3 Govchat Proprietary Limited
The Group acquired a 35% interest in Govchat Proprietary Limited on 21 May 2019. Govchat operates 
a technology platform that connects people to Government and Government to people. The principal 
business is in Cape Town and the company is incorporated in South Africa.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

54 shares at cost * *
Carrying and fair value * *

Summarised financial information of associate
Income statement
Revenue 2 000 2 200
Loss before and after taxation (8 596) (2 974)
Statement of financial position
Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 1 381 1 701
Intangible assets 21 220 6 268

Current assets
Sundry receivables 2 628 2 336
Cash and cash equivalents 185 64

Total assets 25 414 10 369

Equity and liabilities
Accumulated loss (21 230) (11 925)
Subordinated loans 37 897 15 652

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 8 747 6 642

Total equity and liabilities 25 414 10 369

* Investments in associate in aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.
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7.4 GroEx Proprietary Limited
Synthesis holds a 15% interest in GroEx Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary of Afgri Group Holdings Limited. 
GroEx provides digital services to the agricultural sector and provides financial services to commercial 
farmers and allied entities in the agricultural sector. The principal place of business is in Centurion and 
the company is incorporated in South Africa. GroEx is accounted for as an associate because M Shapiro 
is a non-executive director of GroEx, which enables him to exercise significant influence.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

18 Shares at cost * *
Carrying and fair value * *

Summarised financial information of associate
Income statement
Revenue 1 466 362
Loss before and after taxation (1 040) (3 114)
Statement of financial position
Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment – 84
Right-of-use assets – 3 419
Intangible assets 4 623 1 863

Current assets
Sundry receivables 713 615
Cash and cash equivalents 1 087 93

Total assets 6 423 6 074

Equity and liabilities
Accumulated loss (4 757) (3 629)
Holding company loan 6 322 4 840

Current liabilities
Lease liability – 3 598
Trade and other payables 4 858 1 265

Total equity and liabilities 6 423 6 074

* Investments in associate in aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.

7.5 LayUp Technologies Proprietary Limited
The Group acquired a 26.52% interest in Layup Technologies Proprietary Limited on 4 January 2021.

LayUp is Africa’s first fully digital Lay-By and recurring payments business.

The principal place of business is in Johannesburg and the company is incorporated in South Africa.

Layup is accounted for as an associate because two executive directors of one of the Company’s 
subsidiaries, are non-executive directors of Layup, which enables them to exercise significant influence.

7. Investment in associates continued
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Figures in R’000 2021

118 702 shares at cost 6 207
Share of equity accounted loss in associate (350)

Carrying and fair value 5 857

Summarised financial information of associate for the period 4 January 2021 to 31 March 2021

Figures in R’000 2021

Income statement
Revenue 17
Loss before and after taxation (1 367)
Statement of financial position
Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 48
Intangible assets 1 709

Current assets
Sundry receivables 120
Cash and cash equivalents 3 364

Total assets 5 241

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves 4 187

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1 054

Total equity and liabilities 5 241

No comparatives are shown as the investment was made on 4 January 2021.
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8. Loan to associate
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

8.1 Resonance Australia Proprietary Limited
Opening balance – 5 179
Unrealised foreign exchange loss – (158)
Loan repaid during the year – (5 021)

Closing balance – –

In terms of the subscription agreement, an interest free loan of 
AUD 500 000 was granted on 5 May 2017 to Resonance Australia 
Proprietary Limited and was repayable on demand. This amount was 
settled in full on 17 September 2019. Refer to note 7.1

8.2 Govchat Proprietary Limited
Opening balance 1 456 –
Loan granted during the year 18 189 1 456

Closing balance 19 645 1 456

During the prior year, an interest-free enterprise development loan was granted to Govchat Proprietary  
Limited and was repayable on demand. This loan was converted during the current financial year to a 
long-term loan and is repayable on 15 April 2022.

During the year, a further interest-free enterprise development loan was granted to Govchat Proprietary 
Limited and is repayable on 15 April 2022. 

There are no estimated credit losses.

Govchat has pledged as a security for the loan from Capital Appreciation, all its rights, title and interest 
in and to all of Govchat’s intellectual property and specifically including all the software rights, trade 
mark rights and technology source codes.

Disclosed in the statement of financial position as follows:

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Non-current assets 19 645 –
Current assets – 1 456

19 645 1 456
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9. Deferred tax
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Analysis of deferred taxation
Accelerated allowances for tax purposes 173 –
Timing differences* 395 1 150
Amortisation of intangible assets (8 787) (12 502)
Deferred revenue 1 863 1 244
Recognition of deferred tax on assessed tax loss** 16 132 5 030

9 776 (5 078)

Reconciliation of deferred taxation
At beginning of period (5 078) (11 076)
Accelerated allowances for tax purposes 173 (513)
Timing differences * (755) (232)
Amortisation of intangible assets 3 715 3 715
Deferred revenue 619 863
Recognition of deferred tax on assessed tax loss** 11 102 2 165

At end of period 9 776 (5 078)

Disclosed in the statement of financial position as follows:
Deferred tax asset 18 563 7 424
Deferred tax liability (8 787) (12 502)

9 776 (5 078)

Recognition of deferred tax asset

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of temporary differences where there is a high 
probability that these assets will be recovered in the foreseeable future.
* Included are timing differences relating to property, plant and equipment and provisions.
** Included is an amount of R11 332 797 which is the recognition of a deferred tax asset recognised in Dashpay Proprietary 

Limited on the pre acquisition assessed tax loss of R40 474 276.

10. Inventories
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Prepaid airtime 83 2 315
Inventory – spare parts 1 665 –
Inventory – terminals 15 269 5 825

17 017 8 140

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value in the ordinary course of business, 
on the first-in-first-out basis. The value of inventory that has been expensed to cost of sales represents 
the landed cost of goods sold. There has been no write-down from cost to net realisable value (2020: Nil). 
There has been no impairment for obsolete inventory (2020: Nil).
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11. Trade and other receivables
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Trade and other receivables 37 737 59 201
Foreign exchange contract assets – 14 579
Staff loans 133 129
Deposits 908 1 204
B-BBEE enterprise development loans 5 856 2 458
VAT receivable 195 2 732
Prepayments 2 632 795

Total trade and other receivables 47 461 81 098

The enterprise development loans were made in accordance with the Group’s transformation 
programme and spend in terms of the B-BBEE codes.

The repayment terms for trade and other receivables are between 30 and 60 days and are interest free.

Categorisation of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are categorised in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments as follows:

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

At amortised cost 44 634 62 992
Fair value through profit and loss – 14 579
Non-financial instruments 2 827 3 527

47 461 81 098

Fair value of trade and other receivables

Due to the short-term nature of trade and other receivables, the carrying value approximates fair value.

Estimated credit losses

There are no estimated credit losses.

Exposure to currency risk

The majority of trade and other receivables are denominated in South African Rand and therefore, have 
no material exposure to foreign currency fluctuations.

The following net carrying amounts, in Rand, of trade and other receivables, which are exposed to 
foreign currency, have been presented in Rand by converting the foreign currency amount at the closing 
rate at the reporting date.

2021 2020

Carrying amount in US Dollars (‘000) 106 214
Carrying amount in EURO (‘000) 42 –

Carrying amount in Rand (‘000) 2 298 3 823

US Dollar converted at 1 USD = R14.77 (2020: 1 USD = R17.84)

EUR converted at 1 EURO = R17.32 (2020: Not applicable).
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12. Cash and cash equivalents
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances 109 107 158 510
Bank call and notice deposits 429 209 346 611

538 316 505 121

Cash and cash equivalents comprise call and notice deposits with banks maturing within three months. 
These attract interest at market-related rates. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised 
cost. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount. The Group only 
has deposits with major banks with high-quality ratings assigned by internationally recognised credit 
rating agencies. For this reason, the credit quality at year-end of cash and cash equivalents is considered 
to be high.

13. Share capital
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Ordinary shares of no par value 1 003 261 976 600

Number
of shares

Number
of shares

Authorised shares
Ordinary shares of no par value 10 000 000 000 10 000 000 000
Constituent ordinary shares of no par value 4 000 4 000
Issued shares
Ordinary shares of no par value in issue at beginning of the year 1 310 000 000 1 555 000 000
Ordinary shares of no par value repurchased and cancelled 
during the year – (245 000 000)

Ordinary shares of no par value in issue at end of year 1 310 000 000 1 310 000 000
Ordinary shares of no par value repurchased (treasury shares) (79 991 135) (108 786 351)

Ordinary shares of no par value, net of treasury shares 
at the end of the year 1 230 008 865 1 201 213 649

Reconciliation of movement of issued ordinary shares
Ordinary shares, net of treasury shares at the beginning of the year 1 201 213 649 1 491 358 000
Ordinary shares of no par value repurchased and cancelled 
during the year – (245 000 000)
Ordinary shares of no par value repurchased during the year 
(treasury shares) (1 204 784) (45 144 351)
Ordinary shares of no par value allotted during the year 
from treasury shares 30 000 000 –

Number of issued ordinary shares, net of treasury shares 
at end of the year 1 230 008 865 1 201 213 649
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14. Share-based payments reserve
The Group has two Incentive Schemes:

14.1 The Group’s Share Incentive scheme (“Scheme”), which was introduced on the date the Company 
was listed in 2015, grants share options to employees of the Group. The Scheme has been 
classified as an equity-settled scheme and therefore, an equity-settled share-based payment 
reserve has been recognised in terms of IFRS 2.

14.2 Group’s Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”) was introduced on 11 March 2020, and grants share awards 
to Executive directors and senior management of the Group. The CSP has been classified as an 
equity-settled scheme and therefore, an equity-settled share-based payment reserve has been 
recognised in terms of IFRS 2.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Group share incentive scheme 5 102 2 845
Group conditional share plan 4 824 44

Total share-based payment reserve 9 926 2 889

14.1 Group’s Share Incentive Scheme
2021

Number of
share options

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of the share options are:
Beginning of the year 37 425 000 79 cents
Forfeited (2 575 000) 82 cents
Granted 16 080 000 94 cents

End of the year 50 930 000 83 cents

These share options are exercisable over the period 1 September 2020 to 7 September 2025.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share options outstanding was 38 months 
(2020: 43 months)

The weighted average fair value of share options granted during the year was 22 cents per share  
(2020: 26 cents per share)

The range of exercise prices for share options outstanding at the end of the year was 75 cents to 
94 cents per share (2020: 75 cents to 80 cents per share)

The weighted average share price for the year ending 31 March 2021 was 94 cents per share  
(2020: 74 cents per share)

2020

Number of
share options

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of the share options are:
Beginning of the year 32 095 000 80 cents
Forfeited (3 170 000) 80 cents
Granted 8 500 000 75 cents

End of the year 37 425 000 79 cents
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The Group recognised an expense of R2 257 700 (2020: R1 672 200) for the share options granted.

Number of share options

Details of directors outstanding share options 2021 2020

M Shapiro 2 300 000 2 300 000

The terms and conditions of the share options are the following:

Vesting conditions

Share option holders are entitled to exercise their share options if they are in the employment of the 
Group in accordance with the terms hereafter.

Share option holders in the scheme may exercise their share options at such times as the share 
option holder deems fit, but not to result in the following proportions of the holders total number of 
instruments being purchased prior to:

 � 20% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of three years;

 � 50% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of four years; and

 � 100% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of five years. 

All share options must be exercised no later than the 15th anniversary from the date they were granted.

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is determined with use of an 
option-pricing model.

The model is based on the standard binomial option-pricing model.

2021 2020

1. Fair value at measurement date (cents) 22.00 26.00
2. Exercise price at end of period (cents) 83.00 79.00
3. Expected volatility (%) 29.56 26.66
4. Option life (years) 5.00 5.39
5. Distribution yield (%) 5.00 2.00
6. Risk-free rate (based on National Bond Curve) (%) 6.83 7.67

The volatility is based on historic volatility which is not expected to differ materially from the 
expected volatility.

14.2 Group’s Conditional Share Plan
2021

Number of
share awards

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of share awards are:
Beginning of the year 15 425 000 57 cents
Granted 15 086 940 94 cents

End of the year 30 511 940 75 cents

These share awards are exercisable between 25 March 2023 and 7 September 2023.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share awards outstanding was 27 months 
(2020: 36 months)

The weighted average fair value of share awards granted during the year was 75 cents per share  
(2020: 52 cents per share)
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The range of exercise prices for the conditional share awards outstanding at the end of the year was 
57 cents to 94 cents per share (2020: 57 cents per share). 

The weighted share price for the year ending 31 March 2021 was 94 cents per share (2020: 74 cents 
per share).

2020

Number of
share awards

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of share awards are:
Beginning of the year – –
Granted 15 425 000 57 cents

End of the year 15 425 000 57 cents

The Group recognised an expense of R4 778 900 (2020: R44 300) for the share awards granted.

The Conditional Share Plan was approved by the Board on 11 March 2020 and by shareholders on 
2 September 2020.

Number of share awards

Details of directors outstanding conditional share plan awards 2021 2020

M Pimstein 6 486 364 3 600 000
B Sacks 6 486 364 3 600 000
A Salomon 6 486 364 3 600 000
M Shapiro 2 425 926 1 250 000

21 885 018 12 050 000

Vesting conditions

The terms and conditions of the Conditional Share Plan is based on share awards, which have a three-
year vesting period, subject to performance and employment vesting conditions.

The performance metrics consist of financial objectives, non-financial objectives and key individual 
performance indicators, details of which will be disclosed in the Remuneration Report in the Group 
Integrated Annual Report.

All share awards will be exercised on the vesting date, being the third anniversary of the date upon 
which the share awards were granted.

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is determined with use of an 
option-pricing model.

The model is based on the standard binomial option-pricing model.

2021 2020

1. Fair value at measurement date (cents) 75.00 52.00
2. Exercise price at end of period (cents) 74.95 56.77
3. Expected volatility (%) 35.92 29.52
4. Option life (years) 3.00 3.00
5. Distribution yield (%) 5.00 5.00
6. Risk-free rate (based on National Bond Curve) (%) 4.86 7.34

The volatility is based on historic volatility which is not expected to differ materially from the 
expected volatility.

14. Share-based payments reserve continued

14.2 Group’s Conditional Share Plan continued

134



Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021

Organisational 
overview

Performance 
and outlook Accountability Financial 

statements Shareholders

Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021

15. Contingent consideration reserve
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Cash  –  10 000 
Shares  –  24 900 

Total  –  34 900 

The Synthesis profit warranty consideration of R34 900 000 was included as part of the purchase 
consideration at the date of acquisition (note 6).

Synthesis achieved the profit warranty at 31 March 2020. The Synthesis shareholders received R10 million 
cash and an allotment of 30 million ordinary shares from treasury shares on 7 July 2020

16. Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue to be realised:

Figures in R’000
Within

one year
In second to 

fifth year
Later than 
five years Total

2021  10 838  5 454 –  16 292 

2020  5 153  7 946 787 13 886 

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Non-current liabilities  5 454  8 733 
Current liabilities  10 838  5 153 

 16 292  13 886 

Deferred revenue arises from advanced payments from customers in respect of future professional 
services and licensed software and maintenance services. The amount of revenue recognised in 
the current year was R5 153 168 (2020: R1 850 000). In the 2022 financial year, R10 837 727 will be 
recognised in revenue.

17. Lease liability
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

At 1 April  27 156  33 583
Accretion of interest  1 753  2 305 
Payments  (9 354)  (8 372) 

Total  19 555  27 156

Non-current liabilities  11 104  19 555 
Current liabilities  8 451  7 601 

Total  19 555  27 156 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 32.
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18. Trade and other payables
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Trade payables and accruals*  56 102  60 534 
VAT  3 840  8 191 

 59 942  68 725 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 90-day terms.
* Included in trade and other payables are foreign exchange contract liabilities of R1 158 499 (2020: Nil) which are carried at fair 

value. Refer to note 34.

19. Revenue
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Payments and Payment Infrastructure division 
Terminal rental income  22 623  32 535 
Maintenance and support service fees from terminals  137 925  115 309 
Sale of terminals  209 496  331 575 
Transaction related income from terminals  27 378  21 203 
Sundry revenue   –  5 561 

 397 422  506 183 

Software and Services division
Services and consultancy fees  163 976  153 067 
Licence and subscription fees  53 507  36 350 
Hardware  4 608  5 630 

 222 091  195 047 

Total revenue  619 513  701 230 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
The Group disaggregates revenue from customers as follows:

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Sale of goods
Sale of terminals  209 496  331 575 
Hardware  4 608  5 630 

 214 104  337 205 

Rendering of services
Services and consultancy fees  163 976  153 067 
Licence and subscription fees  53 507  36 350 
Terminal rental income  22 623  32 535 
Maintenance and support service fees from terminals  137 925  115 309 
Transaction related income from terminals  27 378  21 203 
Sundry revenue –  5 561 

 405 409  364 025 

Total revenue  619 513  701 230
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20. Other income
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Foreign exchange gains –  16 888 
Insurance claim  172  171 
Bad debts recovered  25  18 

 197  17 077 

21. Operating profit
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

The following items are charged/(credited) within operating profit:

Foreign exchange loss/(gain)  5 568  (16 888) 
Auditors’ fees 2 028  2 856 

Audit fees  2 028  1 906 
Other fees  –  950 

Internal audit fees  626  646 
Employee costs 191 013  159 153 
Share-based payment expense 7 037  1 717 
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment  8 898  9 810 
Depreciation: right-of-use assets  8 223  7 968 
Amortisation of intangible assets 18 300  16 645 
Transformation costs 6 567  8 031 
Legal fees 1 323  3 567 
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment 991 300
Impairment of investment in associate * –
Executive directors emoluments  9 449  9 200 
Non-Executive directors emoluments  1 703  3 741 

* In aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.

22. Finance income
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Bank 20 832  38 076 
SARS  149  – 
Other financial assets  –  648 

20 981  38 724 
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23. Finance costs
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

SARS  30 –
Bank  37 –
Present value of cash portion of the contingent consideration (note 15)  –  728 
Lease liability (note 17)  1 753  2 305 

 1 820  3 033 

24. Taxation
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Major components of the tax expense
Current
Local income tax current year 46 679  60 713 
Local income tax prior year  (886)  – 
Deferred
Capital gains tax on sale of associate  –  1 105 
Originating and reversing temporary differences  (3 752)  (5 683) 
Originating and reversing temporary differences on assessed tax loss*  (11 102)  – 

South African normal tax  30 939  56 135 

* Included is an amount of R11 332 797 which is the recognition of a deferred tax asset recognised in Dashpay Proprietary 
Limited on the pre acquisition assessed tax loss of R40 474 276.

% %

Reconciliation of rate of taxation
South African normal tax 28.0 28.0
Adjusted for:
– Permanent differences** (0.3) (0.6)
– Prior year over provision (0.6) –
– Timing differences – (0.1)
– Timing differences on assessed tax loss (7.2) –
– Foreign withholding tax (0.1) (0.1)

Effective tax rate 19.8 27.2

** Includes non deductible expenses relating to share based payments as well as Section 12H allowances and Section 11(d) 
allowances (2020: capital gains tax on the sale of the associate).
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25. Cash flow from operations
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before taxation  156 639  205 967 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment 8 898 9 810
Depreciation: right-of-use assets 8 223 7 968
Amortisation of intangibles  18 300  16 645 
Finance income  (20 981)  (38 724) 
Finance costs  1 820  3 033 
Equity accounted loss in associate  350  346 
Share-based payment expense  7 037  1 717 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain)  1 007  (14 771) 
Realised foreign exchange gain  –  (1 097) 
Profit on disposal of associate  –  (8 665) 
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment  991  300 
Impairment on investment in associate * –
Changes in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in inventory  (8 877)  8 028 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 30 521  (19 589) 
Decrease in other financial assets  –  16 548 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (5 459)  15 920 
Increase in deferred revenue  2 406  2 882 
Decrease/(increase) in foreign taxation receivable  69  (232) 

 200 944  206 086 

* In aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.

26. Contingent liabilities
The Group has no contingent liabilities at year-end.

27. Post-retirement obligations
The Group provides no retirement benefits to its permanent employees and therefore, has no 
post-retirement obligations.
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28. Related parties
28.1 In terms of International Accounting Standards (IAS 24), the Group is obliged to disclose parties 

that directly or indirectly fall within the scope and definition of a related party.

28.2 The Group established the Capital Appreciation Empowerment Trust (“the Trust”) with the object 
of facilitating economic empowerment of and advancing the interests of Black Persons, by 
conferring vested interests in ordinary shares held by the Trust. The Trust initially subscribed for 
50 000 000 ordinary shares and 25 000 000 founders initial ordinary shares in the Group. These 
shares are currently held by CAET Holdings Proprietary Limited of which the Trust is a 100% 
shareholder. The funding for the initial subscription was facilitated through loans granted to CAET 
Holdings Proprietary Limited. The Trust is included as a related party as the Chairman of the 
Group serves as one of the Trustees of the Trust.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

The Trust Trade and other receivables – 152
CAET Holdings 
Proprietary Limited Trade and other receivables – 209
Albanta Trading 101 
Proprietary Limited Trade and other receivables – 593

These amounts do not bear interest and are repayable on demand. 

28.3 Given the 25.5% shareholding by the Government Employees Pension Fund in the Group, their 
interest is deemed to enable them to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the Group. Accordingly, the 
Government Employees Pension Fund falls within the definition of a related party.

Transactions with directors and prescribed officers

The transactions with directors have been disclosed in the directors’ report.

Relationships

Effective Holding

Holding Company Capital Appreciation Limited 2021 2020

Subsidiaries African Resonance Business  
Solutions Proprietary Limited 100.0% 100.0%
Rinwell Investments Proprietary Limited 100.0% 100.0%
Dashpay Proprietary Limited 100.0% 100.0%
Synthesis Software Technologies 
Proprietary Limited 100.0% 100.0%
CAPPREC Management Services 
Proprietary Limited 100.0% 100.0%

Associates Proximity ID Proprietary Limited 0,1% 0,1%
Govchat Proprietary Limited 35.0% 35.0%
GroEx Proprietary Limited 15.0% 15.0%
LayUp Technologies Proprietary Limited 26,5% –
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Directors and  
prescribed officers Directors:

M Sacks
B Sacks
M Pimstein
A Salomon
M Shapiro
B Bulo
D Dlamini
M Kahn
E Kruger
R Maqache (appointed 4 December 2020)
R Morar
M Sacks
V Sekese
C Valkin
H Neishlos (resigned 17 September 2019)
Prescribed officers:
B Sacks
M Pimstein
A Salomon
M Shapiro

Companies with common directors

Uplink Technology Services Proprietary Limited (terminated 17 September 2019)

Castlebridge Professional Services Limited (terminated 17 September 2019)

Centric Capital Ventures LLC is a company registered in the USA and is owned by B Sacks

K2017220477 (South Africa) NPC

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Loan to associate
Govchat Proprietary Limited  19 645  1 456 

Related party transactions
Interest received by African Resonance from H Neishlos1  –  648 
Enterprise Development Loan by Synthesis to K2017220477 
(South Africa) NPC2  3 050  2 458 
Revenue received by Synthesis from Govchat Proprietary Limited  15 278  6 183 

Administration fees and costs paid to related parties 
African Resonance to Uplink Technology Services 
Proprietary Limited1  –  7 407 
African Resonance consultancy fees to Castlebridge Professional 
Services Limited1  –  904 
Capital Appreciation Limited to Centric Capital Ventures LLC  2 563  4 332 
Directors’ emoluments to non-executive directors  1 703 3 741

1 Discontinued on 17 September 2019.
2 K2017220477 (South Africa) NPC is regarded as a related party because an executive of one of the group’s subsidiaries 

is a non-executive director of the NPC, which enables him to exercise significant influence.
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29. Directors’ emoluments
Salary  Fees Total

Figures in R’000 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Executive Directors
M Pimstein  1 800  1 800  –  –  1 800  1 800 
B Sacks*  1 800  1 800  –  –  1 800  1 800 
A Salomon  1 800  1 800  –  –  1 800  1 800 
M Shapiro  4 049  3 800  –  –  4 049  3 800 

Total  9 449  9 200  –  –  9 449  9 200 

* Emoluments paid to Centric Capital Ventures LLC

Directors receive no fringe benefits from the Group.

Directors have long-term incentives which are reflected in note 14.

No directors have employment terms that exceed three months’ notice. The Group is not under any 
obligation to make exit payments for directors leaving the Group.

Salary  Fees Total

Figures in R’000 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Non-Executive Directors
B Bulo  –  –  287  210  287  210 
D Dlamini  –  –  156  80  156  80 
M Kahn  –  –  156  120  156  120 
E Kruger  –  –  191  120  191  120 
R Maqache 
(appointed 4 December 2020)  –  –  44  –  44  – 
R Morar  –  –  252  120  252  120 
E Neishlos  
(resigned 17 September 2019)  –  –  –  40  –  40 
H Neishlos  
(resigned 17 September 2019)  –  2 501  –  40  –  2 541 
M Sacks  –  –  277  150  277  150 
V Sekese  –  –  256  240  256  240 
C Valkin  –  –  84  120  84  120 

Total –  2 501  1 703  1 240  1 703  3 741 

The non-executive directors’ remuneration excludes VAT and was approved by special resolution at the 
Annual General Meeting held on 2 September 2020.

DIRECTORS’ LONG-TERM INCENTIVES
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Share-based payment expense
M Pimstein  1 016  10 
B Sacks  1 016  10 
A Salomon  1 016  10 
M Shapiro   482  107 

 3 530  137 
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Number

Opening
balance

1 April
2020

New
share

awards 

Closing
balance

31 March
2021

Details of directors’ outstanding share options
M Shapiro  2 300 000  –  2 300 000 

Details of directors’ outstanding conditional share 
plan awards  – 
M Pimstein  3 600 000  2 886 364  6 486 364 
B Sacks  3 600 000  2 886 364  6 486 364 
A Salomon  3 600 000  2 886 364  6 486 364 
M Shapiro   1 250 000  1 175 926  2 425 926 

 12 050 000  9 835 018  21 885 018 

30. Directors’ shareholding
The individual interests declared by the directors and officers held in the Group share capital as at 
31 March, are as follows:

Beneficial directors

2021 
Number of 

ordinary shares

2020 
Number of 

ordinary shares

M Kahn  3 600 000  3 600 000 
R Morar  100 000  100 000 
M Pimstein  60 429 792  60 429 792 
B Sacks*  70 833 333  70 833 333 
M Sacks  45 500 000  45 500 000 
A Salomon  57 263 776  57 263 776 
M Shapiro  28 327 970  19 175 000 
C Valkin  250 000  250 000 

Total  266 304 871  257 151 901 

* Held through Centric Capital Ventures LLC

There have been no changes in the Director’s shareholding held in the Group from 31 March 2021 to 
21 June 2021, being the date that the Group’s Financial Statements have been approved by the Board.
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31. Earnings per share
The following table reflects the information used in the calculation of the basic, headline and diluted 
earnings per share:

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders   125 700  149 832 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 991 –
Tax on loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (277) –
Impairment on investment in associate * –
Gain on sale of investment in associate  –  (8 665) 
Capital gains tax on sale of investment in associate  –  1 105 

Headline earnings  126 414  142 272 

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

Number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)  1 310 000  1 310 000 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)  1 222 965  1 333 004 
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000)  1 237 594  1 363 004 

Earnings per share
Cents per 

share
Cents per 

share

Basic earnings per share 10.28 11.24
Headline earnings per share 10.34 10.67
Diluted earnings per share 10.16 10.99
Diluted headline earnings per share 10.21 10.44
* In aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.

32. Financial instruments and risk management
Categories of financial instruments

Figures in R’000
Amortised

cost

Fair value 
through 

profit and 
loss Total Fair value

Categories of financial assets
2021
Trade and other receivables  44 634 – 44 634  44 634 
Loan to associates  19 645 –  19 645  19 645
Cash and cash equivalents  538 316 –  538 316  538 316 

 602 595 –  602 595  602 595 

2020
Trade and other receivables 62 992 14 579  77 571  77 571 
Loan to associates  1 456 –  1 456  1 456 
Cash and cash equivalents  505 121 –  505 121  505 121 

569 569 14 579  584 148  584 148 

Categories of financial liabilities
2021
Lease liability  19 555 –  19 555  19 555 
Trade and other payables  54 944 1 158  56 102  56 102

 74 499 1 158  75 657  75 657 

2020
Lease liability  27 156 –  27 156  27 156 
Trade and other payables  60 534 –  60 534  60 534 

87 690 – 87 690 87 690
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Pre-tax gains and losses on financial instruments

Figures in R’000
Amortised

cost Total

Gains on financial assets
2021
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:
Finance income  20 981  20 981 

2020
Recognised the statement of comprehensive income:
Finance income  38 724  38 724 

Losses on financial liabilities
2021
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:
Finance costs  1 820  1 820 

2020
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:
Finance costs 3 033 3 033

Capital risk management
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued share capital and all other 
equity reserves attributable to the equity shareholders of the parent. The primary objective of the 
Group’s capital management is to maximise the shareholders value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new 
shares. Although the Group has no debt, should the need to raise debt, capital risk management will be 
monitored on a formula to be determined by the Board at the appropriate time.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  –  – 
Lease liability  19 555  27 156 
Less: cash and cash equivalents  (538 316)  (505 121) 

Net cash  (518 761)  (477 965) 

Equity  1 375 894  1 309 017 

Total capital  1 375 894  1 309 017 

Net cash to capital (%) (61%) (58%)

32. Financial instruments and risk management continued
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32. Financial instruments and risk management continued
In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, among other things, aims 
to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that 
define capital structure requirements. The Group had no interest bearing loans and borrowings during 
the reporting period and therefore have no breaches of any financial covenants in the reporting period.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years 
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Financial risk management
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Board 
provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such 
as, interest rate risk, credit risk, and investment of excess liquidity.

Currency risk management
The Group is exposed to currency risk as a result of revenues and costs in United States Dollars and 
Euros, which are currencies other than the Group’s reporting currency. The Group enters into various 
types of foreign exchange contracts as part of the management of its foreign exchange exposure arising 
from its current and anticipated business activities.

It is estimated that a general increase of 25 cents in the value of the Rand against other foreign 
currencies would decrease the Group’s profit before and after tax for the year by approximately 
R919 849 and R661 572 respectively (31 March 2020: R344 199 and R247 823 respectively). A decrease of 
25 cents would have an equal, but opposite effect.

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk arises on cash balances held and loans receivables. Financial assets and 
liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank and cash deposits. At the reporting date, 
the Group cash deposits were accessible immediately or had maturity dates up to three months. The 
interest earned on these deposits closely approximate the market rates prevailing. The directors have 
determined that a fluctuation in an interest rate of 50 basis points is reasonably possible. An increase in 
50 basis points in interest rates as at the reporting date would have increased the profit before and after 
tax for the year by approximately R2.7 million and R1.9 million respectively (31 March 2020: R2.5 million 
and R1.8 million respectively). A decrease of 50 basis points would have an equal, but opposite effect. 
The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk where the Group fails to maintain adequate levels of financial resources to 
enable it to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility 
that the Group could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected or because of any inability 
to realise assets in order to meet obligations as they fall due or is only able to realise assets by suffering 
financial loss.

The Group’s liquidity risk derives from the need to have sufficient funds available to cover future 
commitments. The Group manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future cash requirements. 
Cash flow forecasts are compared to cash available. The financial liabilities of the Group are all due 
within the next 12 months.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial 
assets held to mitigate the risk, are presented in the below table. The cash flows are undiscounted 
contractual amounts.
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Figures in R’000 0 - 6 months 7 - 12 months 1 - 5 years
Finance 
charges

Carrying 
amount

2021
Trade and other 
payables  59 942  –  –  –  59 942 
Lease liability  4 944  5 097  11 066  (1 552)  19 555 

 64 886  5 097  11 066  (1 552)  79 497 

2020
Trade and other 
payables  68 725  –  –  –  68 725 
Lease liability  4 607  4 748  21 107  (3 305)  27 157 
Contingent 
consideration  34 900  –  –  –  34 900 

 108 232  4 748  21 107  (3 305)  130 782 

Credit risk
Credit risk relates to the secure and unfettered access to and recovery of cash deposits, cash equivalents 
and other trade and other receivables. The Group limits its counterparty exposure arising from financial 
instruments by only dealing with well-established institutions with high-quality ratings assigned by 
internationally recognised credit ratings agencies. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. The 
maximum exposure of each class of financial asset are as follows:

Figures in R’000

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Expected 
credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost/fair 

value

2021
Trade and other receivables  44 634  – 44 634
Loan to associates  19 645  – 19 645 
Cash and cash equivalents  538 316  – 538 316

602 595  – 602 595

2020
Trade and other receivables  77 571 –  77 571
Loan to associates  1 456 –  1 456 
Cash and cash equivalents  505 121 –  505 121 

 584 148 –  584 148 

Where credit ratings are not available, the Group does not expect certain trade and other receivables 
counterparties to fail to meet their obligations.

32. Financial instruments and risk management continued
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Trade and other receivables
The credit quality of trade and other receivables is assessed by reference to historical information about 
counter party default rates. Historical levels of customers’ defaults are minimal and, as a result, the credit 
quality of year-end trade and other receivables is considered to be high.

Loan to associate
The purpose of the loan is to allow the associate to utilise the funding for software and other 
development costs which will, in due course, be revenue generating and generate profitability and from 
this profitability, the loan will be repaid.

Cash and cash equivalents
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount. The Group only 
deposits funds with major banks with high-quality credit ratings assigned by internationally recognised 
credit rating agencies. For this reason, the credit quality at year-end of cash and cash equivalents is 
considered to be high.

Expected credit loss allowance
The Group’s definition of default are the amounts that will not be repaid in terms of the terms of 
all financial assets in future timing periods. The amounts are written-off as and when the amounts 
are not recoverable. The Group calculates the expected credit loss allowance by comparing the year-
end balance against the future expected amount receivable as per the terms of the agreements and 
recording the difference between the two.

The loan to the associate is recoverable and is secured by a pledge of all the associate’s rights, title and 
interest in its intellectual property and specifically including all the software rights, trade mark rights and 
technology source codes.

The value of the security, valued at cost, exceeds the carrying value of the loan (note 7.3).

33. Group information

Subsidiaries  Principal Activities
% Equity 

interest
Capprec Management Services Proprietary Limited Corporate administration 100
African Resonance Business Solutions Proprietary Limited Payment solutions 100
Rinwell Investments Proprietary Limited Payment solutions 100
Dashpay Proprietary Limited Payment solutions 100
Synthesis Software Technologies Proprietary Limited Software solutions 100
Associates
Proximity ID Proprietary Limited Software solutions 0
GroEx Proprietary Limited Software solutions 15
Govchat Proprietary Limited Software solutions 35
LayUp Technologies Proprietary Limited Payment solutions 27

32. Financial instruments and risk management continued
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34. Fair value
Financial instruments are normally held by the Group until they close out in the normal course of 
business. The fair values of the group’s financial instruments, which principally comprise forward 
exchange contracts approximate their carrying value. The maturity profile of those financial instruments 
fall due within 12 months.

There are no significant differences between carrying fair value and fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities. 

Loan to associate, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables carried on the statements of 
financial position approximate the fair values. 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 
observable, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3:  techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 
not based on observable market data.

The foreign exchange contract assets/liabilities are recognised at fair value under level 2. The inputs 
into the valuation include the market interest rates and foreign exchange rates, as well as yield curves. 
There have been no transfers between the levels during the year.

Figures in R’000 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial instrument
Foreign exchange forward contracts (liability) (1 158) – (1 158) –

2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial instrument
Foreign exchange forward contracts (asset)  14 579 –  14 579 –

35. Dividends
A final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 of  2.75 cents per ordinary share was declared on 
1 June 2020 amounting to R36.0 million. An interim dividend of 2.50 cents per ordinary share was 
declared on 2 December 2020 amounting to R32.8 million. The total dividends paid during the year 
amounted to R68.8 million (2020: R60.6 million).

36. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going  
concern.
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37. Post-year-end events
The Group has not experienced any material operating and servicing disruptions or any material 
deterioration in trading performance for the period from the financial year-end, dated 31 March 2021,  
to the date of this report.

COVID-19
The Group has successfully implemented the processes and procedures for business continuity in a 
COVID-19 trading environment, as required by Regulation.

The significant estimates, judgements and assumptions made in preparing the Group’s results have 
remained constant, despite the pandemic. The Group is currently not exposed to credit risk and at the 
time of reporting, no significant change in this credit risk position has been noted. Management will, 
however, continue to actively monitor this. At this stage, no significant impairments of the Group’s assets 
are expected to arise. Further assessment of this will be conducted as the new financial year unfolds. 
There has been no significant negative impact on the net realisable value of inventory as a result of the 
crisis. To date, the Group has not had to seek relief from the government or other suppliers as a result 
of COVID-19.
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Figures in R’000 Notes 2021 2020

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 1  1 082  1 610 
Investment in subsidiaries 2  890 539  890 539 
Investment in associates 3  5 857 *
Loan to associate 4  19 645  – 
Deferred tax asset 5  3 621  100 

Non-current assets  920 744  892 249 

Trade and other receivables 6  1 485  1 600 
Other financial assets 7  58 222  98 699 
Loan to associate 4  –  1 456 
Taxation receivable  785  638 
Cash and cash equivalents 8  430 300  354 408 

Current assets  490 792  456 801 

Total assets  1 411 536  1 349 050 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 9  1 058 981  1 058 981 
Share-based payment reserve 10  3 703  526 
Contingent consideration reserve 11  –  24 900 
Retained income  54 905  53 880 

Total equity  1 117 589  1 138 287 

Contingent consideration 11  –  10 000 
Trade and other payables 12  4 672  5 890 
Other financial liabilities 13  289 275  194 873 

Current liabilities  293 947  210 763 

Total equity and liabilities  1 411 536  1 349 050 

* Investments in associates in aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.

Company statement of financial position
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021
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Revenue  87 000  61 800

Dividends received  85 200  60 000
Other income 14  1 800  1 800

Operating expenses  (22 268)  (25 317)

Trading profit  64 732  36 483
Share-based payment expense  (3 177)  (221)
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment 1  (528)  (539)
Transformation costs  (200)  –

Operating profit 15  60 827  35 723
Finance income 16  18 056  33 074
Finance costs 17  (9 401)  (11 461)
Equity accounted loss in associate 3  (350)  (346)
Gain on sale of associate 3  –  8 665

Profit before taxation  69 132  65 655
Taxation 18  3 668  (836)

Profit after taxation  72 800  64 819
Other comprehensive income  –  –

Total comprehensive income for the year  72 800  64 819

Company statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

Figures in R’000
Ordinary 

share capital

Share-based 
payment 

reserve

Contingent 
consideration 

reserve
Retained 

income Total equity

Balance at 31 March 2019  1 253 152  305  24 900  51 221  1 329 578

Share-based payment 
expense  –  221  –  –  221
Repurchase of 245 000 000 
cancelled ordinary shares  (192 726)  –  –  –  (192 726)
Costs associated with 
repurchase of 245 000 000 
cancelled ordinary shares  (1 445)  –  –  –  (1 445)
Costs associated with circular  –  –  –  (1 585)  (1 585)
Cash dividends paid  –  –  –  (60 575)  (60 575)
Total comprehensive income 
for the year ended 
31 March 2020  –  –  –  64 819  64 819

Balance at 31 March 2020  1 058 981  526  24 900  53 880  1 138 287

Share-based payment 
expense –  3 177 – –  3 177
Contingent consideration 
reserve – –  (24 900) (3  000)  (27 900)
Cash dividends paid – – –  (68 775)  (68 775)
Total comprehensive income 
for the year ended 
31 March 2021 – – –  72 800  72 800

Balance at 31 March 2021  1 058 981  3 703  –  54 905  1 117 589
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Cash flow from operations 19  (21 771)  (21 727)
Finance income received  18 056  33 074
Dividends received  85 200  60 000
Dividends paid  (68 775)  (60 575)
Taxation paid  –  (1 975)

Net cash flow from operating activities  12 710  8 797

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of associate 3  (6 207) –
Loan to associate 4 (18 189) –
Proceeds from loan to associate 4  –  5 021
Proceeds from disposal of associate 3  –  34 979
Costs associated with sale of associate 3  –  (300)
Costs associated with circular  –  (1 585)
Loan to subsidiary  (288)  (54 234)
Payment of contingent consideration 11 (10 000) –

Net cash flow from investing activities  (34 684)  (16 119)

Cash flows from financing activities
Loan to associate –  (1 456)
Funds received from subsidiaries  97 866  62 659
Repurchase of 245 000 000 cancelled ordinary shares  –  (192 726)
Costs associated with repurchase of 245 000 000 cancelled 
ordinary shares  –  (1 445)

Net cash flow from financing activities 97 866  (132 968)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  75 892  (140 290)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  354 408  494 698

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8  430 300  354 408

Company statement of cash flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
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Accounting policies
Refer to the Group accounting policies in Notes 1 and 2

1. Property, plant and equipment
2021

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Computer hardware  932  (631)  301
Computer software  15  (13)  2
Office equipment  182  (179)  3
Furniture and fixtures  996  (507)  489
Leasehold improvements  689  (402)  287

Total  2 814  (1 732)  1 082

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

2021

Opening 
balance Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Computer hardware  473  (172)  301
Computer software  7  (5)  2
Office equipment  50  (47)  3
Furniture and fixtures  655  (166)  489
Leasehold improvements  425  (138)  287

Total  1 610  (528)  1 082

2020

Figures in R’000 Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Computer hardware  932  (459)  473
Computer software  15  (8)  7
Office equipment  182  (132)  50
Furniture and fixtures  996  (341)  655
Leasehold improvements  689  (264)  425

Total  2 814  (1 204)  1 610

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

2020

Opening 
balance Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Computer hardware  656  (183)  473
Computer software  12  (5)  7
Office equipment  97  (47)  50
Furniture and fixtures  821  (166)  655
Leasehold improvements  563  (138)  425

Total  2 149  (539)  1 610
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2. Investment in subsidiaries
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Balance at 31 March  890 539  890 539

The Company owns 100% of the shares in African Resonance Proprietary Limited, Rinwell Investments 
Proprietary Limited, Dashpay Proprietary Limited, Synthesis Software Technologies Proprietary Limited 
and CAPPREC Management Services Proprietary Limited. Investments in subsidiaries are valued at cost.

The above investments were acquired on 5 May 2017 and there have been no further investments since 
that date.

3. Investment in associates
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Unlisted investments

3.1 Resonance Australia Proprietary Limited
17 580 shares at cost  –  29 746
Share of loss of associate  –  (3 732)
Sale of associate   –  (26 014)

Closing balance  –  –

Reconciliation
Opening balance  –  26 360
Share of equity accounted loss in associate to date of sale  –  (346)
Related costs  –  300
Proceeds on disposal  –  (34 979)

 –  (8 665)
Capital profit on disposal of associate  –  8 665

Closing balance  –  –

The Company sold its 17.45% interest in Resonance Australia Proprietary Limited and its claims 
on the loan account of R5 021 341, for an aggregate amount of R40 million, which was settled on 
17 September 2019.

156



Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021

Organisational 
overview

Performance 
and outlook Accountability Financial 

statements Shareholders

Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021

3.2 Govchat Proprietary Limited
The Group acquired a 35% interest in Govchat Proprietary Limited on 21 May 2019. Govchat operates 
a technology platform that connects people to Government and Government to people. The principal 
business is in Cape Town and the company is incorporated in South Africa.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

54 shares at cost * *
Carrying and fair value * *

Summarised financial information of associate
Income statement
Revenue  2 000  2 200
Loss before and after taxation  (8 596)  (2 974)
Statement of financial position
Assets
Non–current assets

Property, plant and equipment  1 381  1 701
Intangible assets  21 220  6 268

Current assets
Sundry receivables  2 628  2 336
Cash and cash equivalents  185  64

Total assets  25 414  10 369

Equity and liabilities
Accumulated loss  (21 230)  (11 925)
Subordinated loans  37 897  15 652

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  8 747  6 642

Total equity and liabilities  25 414  10 369

* Investments in associate in aggregate amounts to less than R1 000.

3.3 Layup Technologies Proprietary Limited
The Group acquired a 26.52% interest in Layup Technologies Proprietary Limited on 4 January 2021.

LayUp is Africa’s first fully digital Lay–By and recurring payments business.

The principal place of business is in Johannesburg and the company is incorporated in South Africa.

Layup is accounted for as an associate because two executive directors of one of the company’s 
subsidiary, are non–executive’s director of Layup, which enables them to exercise significant influence.

Investment in associates

Figures in R’000 2021

118 702 shares at cost  6 207
Share of loss of associate  (350)

Carrying and fair value  5 857
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Summarised financial information of associate for the period 4 January 2021 to 31 March 2021

Figures in R’000 2021

Income statement
Revenue  17
Loss before and after taxation  (1 367)
Statement of financial position
Assets
Non–current assets

Property, plant and equipment  48
Intangible assets  1 709

Current assets
Sundry receivables  120
Cash and cash equivalents  3 364

Total assets  5 241

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves  4 187

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  1 054

Total equity and liabilities  5 241

No comparatives are shown as the investment was made on 4 January 2021.

4. Loan to associate
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

4.1 Resonance Australia Proprietary Limited
Opening balance – 5 179
Unrealised foreign exchange loss – (158)
Loan repaid during the year – (5 021)

Closing balance – –

In terms of the subscription agreement, an interest free loan of 
AUD 500 000 was granted on 5 May 2017 to Resonance Australia 
Proprietary Limited and was repayable on demand. This amount was 
settled in full on 17 September 2019. Refer to note 3.1

4.2 Govchat Proprietary Limited
Opening balance 1 456 –
Loan granted during the year 18 189 1 456

Closing balance 19 645 1 456

During the prior year, an interest-free enterprise development loan was granted to Govchat Proprietary  
Limited and was repayable on demand. This loan was converted during the current financial year to a 
long-term loan and is repayable on 15 April 2022.

During the year, a further interest-free enterprise development loan was granted to Govchat Proprietary 
Limited and is repayable on 15 April 2022. 

There are no estimated credit losses.

3. Investment in associates continued

3.3 Layup Technologies Proprietary Limited continued
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Govchat has pledged as a security for the loan from Capital Appreciation, all its rights, title and interest in 
and to all of Govchat’s intellectual property and specifically including all the software rights, trade mark 
rights and technology source codes.

Disclosed in the statement of financial position as follows:

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Non-current assets 19 645 –
Current assets – 1 456

19 645 1 456

5. Deferred tax
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Analysis of deferred taxation
Timing differences* 91 100
Recognition of deferred tax on assessed tax loss 3 530 –

3 621 100

Reconciliation of deferred tax
At beginning of period  100 92
Timing differences*  (9) 8
Recognition of deferred tax on assessed tax loss  3 530 –

At end of period  3 621  100

* Included are timing differences relating to prepayments and provisions.

6. Trade and other receivables
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Trade and other receivables  717  957
VAT receivable  195  308
Prepayments  367  335
B–BBEE enterprise development loan  206  –

 1 485  1 600

The enterprise development loan was made in accordance with the company’s transformation 
programme and spend in terms of B-BBBE codes.

The repayment terms for trade and other receivables are between 30 and 60 days and are interest free.

Categorisation of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are categorised in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial instruments as follows:

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

At amortised cost  923  957
Non–financial instruments 562  643

 1 485  1 600
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Fair value of trade and other receivables

Due to the short–term nature of trade and other receivables, the carrying value approximates fair value.

Estimated credit losses

There are no estimated credit losses.

Exposure to currency risk

The trade and other receivables are denominated in South African Rand and therefore have no material 
exposure to foreign currency.

7. Other financial assets
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Loan to subsidiary: CAPPREC Management Services  
Proprietary Limited  47 221  74 834
Loan to subsidiary: Dashpay Proprietary Limited  11 001  23 865

 58 222  98 699

Other financial assets are receivable and are repayable on demand.
Loan to subsidiary: CAPPREC Management Services Proprietary 
Limited
Opening balance  74 834  49 644
Loan (repaid)/granted during the year  (27 613)  25 190

Closing balance  47 221  74 834

An interest free loan was granted to CAPPREC Management Services 
Proprietary Limited, a wholly–owned subsidiary of the Company, and is 
repayable on demand.
Loan to subsidiary: Dashpay Proprietary Limited
Opening balance  23 865  (5 087)
Loan (repaid)/granted during the year  (12 864)  28 952

Closing balance  11 001  23 865

An interest free loan was granted to Dashpay Proprietary Limited, a wholly–owned subsidiary of the 
Company, and is repayable on demand.

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances  2 260  8 936
Bank call and notice deposits  428 040  345 472

 430 300  354 408

Cash and cash equivalents comprise call and notice deposits with banks maturing within three months. 
These attract interest at market–related rates. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised 
cost. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount. The Company 
only has deposits with major banks with high–quality ratings assigned by internationally recognised 
credit rating agencies. For this reason, the credit quality at year–end of cash and cash equivalents is 
considered to be high.

6. Trade and other receivables continued
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9. Share capital
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Ordinary shares of no par value  1 058 981  1 058 981

Number 
of shares

Number
of shares

Authorised shares
Ordinary shares of no par value  10 000 000 000  10 000 000 000
Constituent ordinary shares of no par value  4 000  4 000
Issued shares
Ordinary shares of no par value at beginning of the year  1 310 000 000  1 555 000 000
Ordinary shares of no par value repurchased and cancelled during  
the year  –  (245 000 000)

Ordinary shares of no par value at end of year  1 310 000 000  1 310 000 000

Reconciliation of issued ordinary shares
Number of issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year  1 310 000 000  1 555 000 000
Number of ordinary shares repurchased and cancelled during  
the year  –  (245 000 000)

Number of issued ordinary shares at the end of the year  1 310 000 000  1 310 000 000

10. Share-based payments reserve
The Company has two Incentive Schemes:

10.1 The Company’s Share Incentive scheme (“Scheme”), which was introduced on the date the 
Company was listed in 2015, grants share options to employees of the Company. The Scheme 
has been classified as an equity-settled scheme and therefore, an equity-settled share-based 
payment reserve has been recognised in terms of IFRS 2.

10.2 Company’s Conditional Share Plan (“CSP”) was introduced on 11 March 2020, and grants share 
awards to Executive directors and senior management of the Company. The CSP has been 
classified as an equity-settled scheme and therefore, an equity-settled share-based payment 
reserve has been recognised in terms of IFRS 2.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Company share incentive scheme  544  482
Company conditional share plan  3 159  44

Total share–based payment reserve  3 703  526

10.1 Company’s Share Incentive Scheme
2021

Number of
share options

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of the share options are:
Beginning of the year  37 425 000 79 cents
Forfeited  (2 575 000) 82 cents
Granted  16 080 000 94 cents

End of the year  50 930 000 83 cents
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These share options are exercisable over the period 1 September 2020 to 7 September 2025.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share options outstanding was 38 months 
(2020: 43 months)

The weighted average fair value of share options granted during the year was 22 cents per share 
(2020: 26 cents per share)

The range of exercise prices for share options outstanding at the end of the year was 75 cents to 94 cents 
per share (2020: 75 cents to 80 cents per share)

The weighted average share price for the year ending 31 March 2021 was 94 cents per share  
(2020: 74 cents per share).

2020

Number of 
share options

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of the share options are:
Beginning of the year  32 095 000 80 cents
Forfeited  (3 170 000) 80 cents
Granted  8 500 000 75 cents

End of the year  37 425 000 79 cents

The Company recognised an expense of R62 061 (2020: R176 600) for the share options granted.
Number of share options

Details of directors’ outstanding share options 2021 2020

M Shapiro  2 300 000  2 300 000

Vesting conditions:

The terms and conditions of the share options are the following:

Share option holders are entitled to exercise their share options if they are in the employment of the 
Company in accordance with the terms hereafter.

Share option holders in the scheme may exercise their share options at such times as the share 
option holder deems fit, but not to result in the following proportions of the holders total number of 
instruments being purchased prior to:

 � 20% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of three years

 � 50% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of four years

 � 100% of the total number of instruments at the expiry of five years.

All share options must be exercised no later than the 15th anniversary from the date they were granted.

The fair value of services received in return for shares allotted is determined with use of an 
option–pricing model.

10. Share-based payments reserve continued

10.1 Company’s Share Incentive Scheme continued
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The model is based on the standard binomial option–pricing model.

Details of directors’ outstanding share options 2021 2020

1. Fair value at measurement date (cents) 22.00 26.00
2. Exercise price at end of period (cents) 83.00 79.00
3. Expected volatility (%) 29.56 26.66
4. Option life (years) 5.00 5.39
5. Distribution yield (%) 5.00 2.00
6. Risk–free rate (based on National Bond Curve) (%) 6.83 7.67

The volatility is based on historic volatility which is not expected to differ materially from the 
expected volatility.

10.2 The Company’s Conditional Share Plan
2021

Number of
share awards

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of share awards are:
Beginning of the year  15 425 000  57 cents
Granted  15 086 940  94 cents

End of the year  30 511 940  75 cents

These share awards are exercisable between 25 March 2023 and 7 September 2023.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share awards outstanding was 27 months 
(2020: 36 months).

The weighted average fair value of share awards granted during the year was 75 cents per share 
(2020: 52 cents per share)

The range of exercise prices for the conditional share awards outstanding at the end of the year was 
57 cents to 94 cents per share (2020: 57 cents per share). 

The weighted average share price for the year ending 31 March 2021 was 94 cents per share 
(2020: 74 cents per share)

2020

Number of 
share awards

Exercise 
price

The number and fair value of share awards are:
Beginning of the year –
Granted  15 425 000 57 cents

End of the year  15 425 000 57 cents

The Company recognised an expense of R3 114 733 (2020: R44 300) for the share awards granted.

The conditional share plan was approved by the Board on 11 March 2020 and by shareholders on 
2 September 2020.
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Number of shares awards

Details of directors outstanding conditional share plan awards 2021 2020

M Pimstein  6 486 364  3 600 000
B Sacks  6 486 364  3 600 000
A Salomon  6 486 364  3 600 000
M Shapiro  2 425 926  1 250 000

 21 885 018  12 050 000

Vesting conditions

The terms and conditions of the Conditional Share Plan is based on share awards, which have a three-
year vesting period, subject to performance and employment vesting conditions.

The performance metrics consists of financial objectives, non-financial objectives and key individual 
performance indicators, details of which will be disclosed in the Remuneration Report in the Group 
Integrated Annual Report.

All share awards will be exercised on the vesting date, being the third anniversary of the date upon 
which the awards were granted.

The fair value of service received in return for shares allotted is determined with use of an 
option-pricing model.

The model is based on standard binomial option-pricing model.

2021 2020

1. Fair value at measurement date (cents) 75.00 52.00
2. Exercise price at end of period (cents) 74.95 56.77
3. Expected volatility (%) 35.92 29.52
4. Option life (years) 3.00 3.00
5. Distribution yield (%) 5.00 5.00
6. Risk–free rate (based on National Bond Curve) (%) 4.86 7.34

The volatility is based on historic volatility which is not expected to differ materially from the 
expected volatility.

10. Share-based payments reserve continued

10.2 The Company’s Conditional Share Plan continued
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11. Contingent consideration reserve
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Cash  – 10 000
Shares  – 24 900

Total  – 34 900

The Synthesis profit warranty consideration of R34 900 000 was included as part of the purchase consideration.

Synthesis achieved the profit warranty at 31 March 2020. The Synthesis shareholders received R10 million 
cash and an allotment of 30 million ordinary shares from treasury shares on 7 July 2020.

12. Trade and other payables
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Trade payables and accruals  1 513  1 763
Accrued expenses*  2 841  3 833
Leave pay accrual  318  294

 4 672  5 890

Trade and other payables are non–interest–bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 90 days terms.

* Included in accrued expenses are accruals for audit fees and bonuses

13. Other financial liabilities
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Loans from subsidiaries
African Resonance Business Solutions Proprietary Limited  271 117  191 912
Synthesis Software Technologies Proprietary Limited  18 158  2 961

 289 275  194 873

African Resonance Business Solutions Proprietary Limited and Synthesis Software Solutions Proprietary 
Limited are both 100% owned subsidiaries of the Company. These subsidiary companies invested their 
excess cash with the Company, for the benefit of the Group’s treasury management.

Other financial liabilities earn interest at prime less 3% and are payable on demand (note 17).

14. Other income
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Administration fees received from subsidiaries  1 800  1 800
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15. Operating profit
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

The following items are charged/(credited) within operating profit:
Auditors' fees 1 032 1 944

Audit fees 1 032 982
Other fees – 962

Internal audit fees 626 646
Employee costs 6 315 6 154
Share-based payment expense 3 177 221
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment 528 539
Transformation costs 200 –
Legal fees 359 1 936
JSE expense 345 312
Administration fees paid to subsidiary 1 800 1 800
Public relations 725 609
Executive directors emoluments 5 400 5 400
Non-executive directors emoluments 1 703 1 240
Loss on foreign exchange – 158

16. Finance income
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Bank  18 056  33 074

 18 056  33 074

17. Finance costs
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Present value of cash portion of the contingent consideration (note 11)   –  729
Interest paid to subsidiary companies from the company’s treasury 
management  9 401  10 732

 9 401  11 461

18. Taxation
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Current
Local income tax current year –  (261)
Local income tax prior year  (147)  –
Capital gains tax on sale of associate  –  1 105
Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences  9  (8)
Originating and reversing temporary differences on assessed tax loss (3 530) –

South African normal tax  (3 668)  836

% %

South African normal tax 28.0  28.0
Adjusted for:
– Permanent differences* (33.1) (26.8)
– Prior year over provision (0.2) –
– Timing differences –  0.1

Effective tax rate (5.3)  1.3

* Includes exempt income of dividends received and non-deductible expenses relating to share based payments.
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19. Cash flow operations
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation  69 132  65 655
Adjustments for:
Dividends received  (85 200)  (60 000)
Depreciation: property, plant and equipment  528  539
Finance income  (18 056)  (33 074)
Finance costs  9 401  11 461
Equity accounted loss in associate  350  346
Share-based payment expense  3 177  221
Loss on foreign exchange  –  158
Profit on disposal of associate  –  (8 665)
Changes in working capital
Decrease in trade and other receivables  115  81
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (1 218)  1 551

 (21 771)  (21 727)

20. Directors’ emoluments
Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Executive Directors
M Pimstein  1 800  1 800
B Sacks  1 800  1 800
A Salomon  1 800  1 800

Total  5 400  5 400
The remuneration for M Shapiro was paid by Synthesis for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 amounting to R4 049 496 (2020: R3 800 463).
Non-executive Directors’ Fees
B Bulo  287 210
D Dlamini  156 80
M Kahn  156 120
E Kruger  191 120
R Maqache (appointed 4 December 2020)  44 –
R Morar  252 120
E Neishlos (resigned 17 September 2019)  – 40
H Neishlos (resigned 17 September 2019)  – 40
M Sacks  277 150
V Sekese  256 240
C Valkin  84 120

Total  1 703  1 240

The non-executive directors’ remuneration excludes VAT and was approved by special resolution at the 
Annual General Meeting held on 2 September 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Share-based payment expense
M Pimstein  1 016  10 
B Sacks  1 016  10 
A Salomon  1 016  10 
M Shapiro   482  107 

 3 530  137 

Number

Opening
balance

1 April
2020

New
share

awards 

Closing
balance

31 March
2021

Details of directors’ outstanding share options
M Shapiro  2 300 000  –  2 300 000 

Details of directors’ outstanding conditional share 
plan awards
M Pimstein  3 600 000  2 886 364  6 486 364 
B Sacks  3 600 000  2 886 364  6 486 364 
A Salomon  3 600 000  2 886 364  6 486 364 
M Shapiro   1 250 000  1 175 926  2 425 926 

 12 050 000  9 835 018  21 885 018 

21. Related parties
Refer to the Group Related parties in Note 28

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Loan to associate
Govchat Proprietary Limited 19 645 1 456
Loans to/(from) subsidiaries 
Capital Appreciation to Capprec Management Services 47 221 74 834
Capital Appreciation to Dashpay 11 001 23 865
African Resonance Business Solutions to Capital Appreciation (271 117) (191 912)
Synthesis Software Technologies to Capital Appreciation (18 158) (2 961)
Group Treasury Management
Interest received by African Resonance Business Solutions from  
Capital Appreciation 9 204 10 257
Interest received by Dashpay from Capital Appreciation – 93
Interest received by Synthesis Software Technologies from  
Capital Appreciation 197 382
Administration fees and costs paid to related parties
Synthesis Software Technologies to Capital Appreciation 19 3
African Resonance Business Solutions to Capital Appreciation 1 800 1 800
Capital Appreciation to Capprec Management Services 1 800 1 800
Capital Appreciation to Centric Capital Ventures LLC 2 563 4 332
Directors’ fees to non-executive directors 1 703 1 240

20. Directors’ emoluments continued
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22. Fair value
Financial instruments are normally held by the Company until they close out in the normal course of 
business. There are no significant differences between carrying values and fair values of financial assets 
and liabilities. Loan to associate, other financial assets, trade and other receivables, other financial 
liabilities and trade and other payables carried on the statement of financial position approximate the 
fair values. 

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 
observable, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3:  techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 
not based on observable market data.

There have been no transfers between the levels during the year.

As at 31 March 2021 (2020: nil) the Company did not hold any financial instruments measured at fair value 
in the statement of financial position.

23. Financial instruments and risk management
Categories of financial instruments

Figures in R’000
Amortised 

cost Total Fair value

Categories of financial assets
2021
Trade and other receivables 923 923 923
Other financial assets  58 222  58 222  58 222
Loan to associate  19 645  19 645  19 645
Cash and cash equivalents  430 300  430 300  430 300

 509 090  509 090  509 090 

Categories of financial assets
2020
Trade and other receivables 957 957 957
Other financial assets 98 699 98 699 98 699
Loan to associate 1 456 1 456 1 456
Cash and cash equivalents 354 408 354 408 354 408

455 520 455 520 455 520

Categories of financial liabilities
2021
Trade and other payables  4 672  4 672 4 672
Other financial liabilities  289 275  289 275 289 275

 293 947  293 947 293 947

2020
Trade and other payables  5 890  5 890 5 890
Other financial liabilities  194 873  194 873 194 873

 200 763  200 763 200 763
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23. Financial instruments and risk management continued

Pre–tax gains on financial assets

Figures in R’000
Amortised 

cost Total

2021
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:

Finance income  18 056  18 056

2020
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:

Finance income  33 074  33 074

Capital risk management
For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued share capital and all 
other equity reserves attributable to the equity shareholders of the parent. The primary objective of the 
Company’s capital management is to maximise the shareholders value.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or 
issue new shares. Although the Company has no debt, should the need to raise debt arise, capital risk 
management will be monitored and measured on a formula to be determined by the Board at the 
appropriate time.

Figures in R’000 2021 2020

Interest–bearing loans and borrowings  –  –
Less: cash and cash equivalents  (430 300)  (354 408)

Net cash  (430 300)  (354 408)

Equity  1 117 589  1 138 287

Total capital  1 117 589  1 138 287

Net cash to capital (%) (63%) (45%)

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, among other things, aims 
to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest–bearing loans and borrowings that 
define capital structure requirements. The Company had no interest bearing loans and borrowings 
during the reporting period and therefore have no breaches of any financial covenants in the 
reporting period.

No changes were made in the objectives , policies or processes for managing capital during the years 
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Financial risk management
The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 
The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific 
areas, such as, interest rate risk, credit risk, and investment of excess liquidity.
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Currency risk management
The Company has no material exposure to foreign currency, as it sold its investment and recovered its 
loans from its associate, Resonance Australia Proprietary Limited, on 17 September 2019.

Monthly budgeted and authorised operating expenditure, which are incurred in foreign currency, 
are settled within 30 to 60 days from the date the expenses are incurred.

At year–end, the Company had no foreign assets or liabilities.

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk arises on cash balances held and loans receivables .Financial assets and 
liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank and cash deposits. At the reporting date, the 
Company cash deposits were accessible immediately or had maturity dates up to three months. The 
interest earned on these deposits closely approximate the market rates prevailing. The directors have 
determined that a fluctuation in an interest rate of 50 basis points is reasonably possible. An increase in 
50 basis points in interest rates as at the reporting date would have increased the profit before and after 
tax for the year by approximately R2.2 million and R1.6 million respectively (31 March 2020: R1.9 million 
and R1.3 million, respectively), a decrease of 50 basis points would have an equal but opposite effect. The 
analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk where the Company fails to maintain adequate levels of financial resources to 
enable it to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility 
that the Company could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected or because of any inability 
to realise assets in order to meet obligations as they fall due or is only able to realise assets by suffering 
financial loss.

The Company’s liquidity risk derives from the need to have sufficient funds available to cover future 
commitments. The Company manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future cash 
requirements. Cash flow forecasts are compared to cash available. The financial liabilities of the Company 
are all due within the next 12 months.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial 
assets held to mitigate the risk, are presented in the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted 
contractual amounts.

Figures in R’000 0 – 6 months 7 – 12 months 1 – 5 years
Finance 
charges

Carrying 
amount

2021
Trade and other payables  4 672  –  –  –  4 672 
Other financial liabilities  289 275  –  –  –  289 275 

 293 947  –  –  –  293 947

2020
Trade and other payables 5 890  –  –  –  5 890
Other financial liabilities  194 873  –  –  –  194 873
Contingent consideration 34 900 – – – 34 900

235 663  –  –  – 235 663

Credit risk
Credit risk relates to the secure and unfettered access to and recovery of cash deposits, cash equivalents 
and other trade and other receivables. The Company limits its counterparty exposure arising from 
financial instruments by only dealing with well-established institutions with high-quality ratings 
assigned by internationally recognised credit ratings agencies. The Company does not expect any 
counterparties to fail to meet their obligations given their high credit ratings.

Where credit ratings are not available, the Company does not expect certain trade and other receivables 
counterparties to fail to meet their obligations.
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23. Financial instruments and risk management continued
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 
The maximum exposure of each class of financial asset are as follows:

Figures in R’000

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Expected 
credit loss 
allowance

Amortised 
cost/fair 

value

2021
Trade and other receivables 923  – 923
Other financial assets  58 222  –  58 222
Loan to associate  19 645  –  19 645
Cash and cash equivalents  430 300  –  430 300

 509 090  –  509 090

2020
Trade and other receivables  957  –  957
Other financial assets  98 699  –  98 699
Loan to associate  1 456  –  1 456
Cash and cash equivalents  354 408  –  354 408

 455 520  –  455 520

Trade and other receivables
The credit quality of trade and other receivables is assessed by reference to historical information about 
counter party default rates. Historical levels of customers’ defaults are minimal and, as a result, the credit 
quality of year–end trade and other receivables is considered to be high.

Other financial assets
The exposure to credit risk is not significant as the debtors have adequate resources to repay the loan.

Loan to associate
The purpose of the loan is to allow the associate to utilise the funding for software and other 
development costs which will, in due course, be revenue generating and generate profitability and from 
this profitability, the loan will be repaid.

Cash and cash equivalents
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount. The Company only 
deposits funds with major banks with high–quality credit ratings assigned by internationally recognised 
credit rating agencies. For this reason, the credit quality at year–end of cash and cash equivalents is 
considered to be high.

Expected credit loss allowance
The Company’s definition of default are the amounts that will not be repaid in terms of the terms of 
all financial assets in future timing periods. The amounts are written off as and when the amounts are 
not recoverable. The Company calculates the expected credit loss allowance by comparing the year–
end balance against the future expected amount receivable as per the terms of the agreements and 
recording the difference between the two.

The loan to the associate is recoverable and is secured by a pledge of all the associate’s rights, title and 
interest in and to all intellectual property and specifically including all the software rights, trade mark 
rights and technology source codes.

The value of the security, valued at cost exceeds the carrying value of the loan (note 3.2).
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24. Dividends
A final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 of 2.75 cents per ordinary share was declared on 1 June 
2020 amounting to R36.0 million. An interim dividend of 2.50 cents per ordinary share was declared on 
2 December 2020 amounting to R32.8 million. The total dividends paid during the year amounted to 
R68.8 million (2020: R60.6 million).

25. Post–year–end events
The Company has not experienced any material operating and servicing disruptions or any material 
deterioration in trading performance for the period from the financial year-end, dated 31 March 2021,  
to the date of this report.

COVID-19
The Company has successfully implemented the processes and procedures for business continuity in a 
COVID-19 trading environment, as required by Regulation.

The significant estimates, judgements and assumptions made in preparing the Company’s results have 
remained constant, despite the pandemic. The Company is currently not exposed to credit risk and at 
the time of reporting, no significant change in this credit risk position has been noted. Management will, 
however, continue to actively monitor this. At this stage, no significant impairments of the Company’s 
assets are expected to arise. Further assessment of this will be conducted as the new financial year 
unfolds. There has been no significant negative impact on the net realisable value of inventory as a result 
of the crisis. To date, the Company has not had to seek relief from the government or other suppliers as a 
result of COVID-19.

26. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going  
concern.
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Value added statement

Figures in Rand 2021
%

contribution 2020
%

contribution

Revenue  619 513  701 230 
Net cost of raw materials, goods and services  181 531  254 522 

Wealth created by trading operations  437 982  446 708 
Finance income  20 981  38 724 

Total wealth created  458 963 100%  485 432 100%

Distributed as follows
Employees

Benefits and remuneration  200 462 44%  184 182 38%
Governments

Taxation  30 939 7%  56 135 11%
Providers of capital  66 441 14%  60 860 13%

Finance charges  1 820 –  3 033 1%
Distribution to shareholders  64 621 14%  57 827 12%

Retained for growth  161 121 35%  184 255 38%
Depreciation and amortisation of intangibles  35 421 8%  34 423 7%
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders 
of the company  125 700 27%  485 432 31%

 458 963 100% 485 432 100%

Exchanges with governments
including amounts collected on their behalf
Employee taxes  55 387  51 093 
Company taxes 30 939  56 135 
Value added tax and sales tax  66 942  86 510 
Customs and excise duty  22 526  44 858 

 175 794  238 596 
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Shareholders’ information

Dividends declared
(cents per share) 2021 2020 2019 2018

Interim 2.50 2.25 2.25 2.00

Final 3.00 2.75 2.00 2.00

5.50 5.00 4.25 4.00

Share price

1 April 2020 to 30 June 2021
(cents)

30

60

90

120

150

30 June 20211 April 2020 31 March 2021

Listing information

ISIN  ZAE000208245

JSE share code CTA

A2X share code CTAJ

JSE sector  Technology: Software and 
computer services

Dividends (cents per share)

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

2021202020192018

4.00 4.25

5.00
5.50
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Shareholder spread

Shareholder spread
No. of  

shareholdings % No. of shares %

2021

1 – 1 000 shares 1 006 38.32 209 054 0.02
1 001 – 10 000 shares 629 23.96 3 071 497 0.23
10 001 – 100 000 shares 662 25.22 27 609 402 2.11
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 254 9.68 80 418 391 6.14
1 000 001 shares and over 74 2.82 1 198 691 656 91.50

Totals 2 625 100.00 1 310 000 000 100.00

Shareholder spread
No. of  

shareholdings % No. of shares %

2020

1 – 1 000 shares 388 22.30 82 917 0.01
1 001 – 10 000 shares 357 20.52 1 440 882 0.11
10 001 – 100 000 shares 581 33.39 18 927 108 1.44
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 330 18.97 85 620 061 6.54
1 000 001 shares and over 84 4.83 1 203 929 032 91.90

Totals 1 740 100.00 1 310 000 000 100.00

Stock exchange performance 
31 March

2021
12 months

31 March
2020

12 months

Share price 
– lowest (cents) 80 51
– highest (cents) 129 83
– at period-end (cents) 100 60
Volume traded (millions) 118 153
Value traded (R millions) 111 112
No. of shares in issue (millions) 1 310 1 310
No. of shares traded (%) 9.01 11.64
PE ratio at year-end (times) 9.67 5.62
Market capitalisation (R billions) 1.31 0.79

Shareholder information (continued)
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Distribution of shareholders
No. of  

shareholdings % No. of shares %

2021

Banks/brokers 15 0.57 95 007 215 7.25
Close corporations 14 0.53 2 181 378 0.17
Empowerment 1 0.04 20 131 146 1.54
Endowment funds 4 0.15 2 066 191 0.16
Individuals 2 321 88.42 306 538 459 23.40
Insurance companies 5 0.19 1 784 944 0.14
Investment companies 1 0.04 3 841 589 0.29
Medical schemes 1 0.04 100 000 0.01
Mutual funds 17 0.65 69 558 930 5.31
Other corporations 19 0.72 71 644 919 5.47
Private companies 85 3.24 164 212 904 12.54
Public company 1 0.04 100 000 0.01
Retirement funds 41 1.56 405 809 487 30.98
Treasury shares 2 0.08 79 991 135 6.11
Trusts 98 3.73 87 031 703 6.64

Totals 2 625 100.00 1 310 000 000 100.00

Distribution of shareholders
No. of  

shareholdings % No. of shares %

2020

Banks/brokers 14 0.80 52 737 532 4.03
Close corporations 13 0.75 1 843 047 0.14
Empowerment 1 0.06 20 125 601 1.54
Endowment funds 5 0.29 10 200 000 0.78
Individuals 1 483 85.23 291 714 262 22.26
Insurance companies 5 0.29 2 167 972 0.17
Investment companies 1 0.06 3 841 589 0.29
Medical schemes 1 0.06 100 000 0.01
Mutual funds 18 1.03 81 986 700 6.26
Other corporations 10 0.57 71 445 833 5.45
Private companies 60 3.45 225 454 586 17.21
Public company 1 0.06 100 000 0.01
Retirement funds 35 2.01 395 665 603 30.20
Treasury shares 2 0.11 108 786 351 8.30
Trusts 91 5.23 43 830 924 3.35

Totals 1 740 100.00 1 310 000 000 100.00
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Public/non-public shareholders
No. of  

shareholdings % No. of shares %

2021

Non-public shareholders 15 0.58 754 629 339 57.61
Directors of the Company 11 0.42 266 304 871 20.32
Company-related holdings 1 0.04 75 000 000 5.73
Treasury shares 2 0.08 79 991 135 6.11
Strategic holdings (more than 10%) 1 0.04 333 333 333 25.45
Public shareholders 2 610 99.42 555 370 661 42.39

Totals 2 625 100.00 1 310 000 000 100.00

Public/non-public shareholders
No. of  

shareholdings % No. of shares %

2020

Non-public shareholders 15 0.86 774 271 585 59.10
Directors of the Company 11 0.63 257 151 901 19.62
Company-related holdings 1 0.06 75 000 000 5.73
Treasury shares 2 0.11 108 786 351 8.30
Strategic holdings (more than 10%) 1 0.06 333 333 333 25.45
Public shareholders 1 725 99.14 535 728 415 40.90

Totals 1 740 100.00 1 310 000 000 100.00

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more No. of shares %

2021
Government Employees Pension Fund 333 333 333 25.45
Capital Appreciation Empowerment Trust 75 000 000 5.73
Capprec Management Services (Pty) Ltd (Treasury shares) 74 991 135 5.72
Centric Capital Ventures LLC 70 833 333 5.41

Totals 554 157 801 42.30

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more No. of shares %

2020
Government Employees Pension Fund 333 333 333 25.45
Capital Appreciation Empowerment Trust 108 786 351 8.30
Capprec Management Services (Pty) Ltd (Treasury shares) 75 000 000 5.73
Centric Capital Ventures LLC 70 833 333 5.41

Totals 587 953 017 44.89

Shareholder spread (continued)

Shareholders’ diary
2021 Full-year results release date 22 June 2021
2021 Annual General Meeting 2 September 2021
2022 Interim results release date (Provisional) 30 November 2021
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Capital Appreciation Limited  
(the Company) will be held at 14:00 on 2 September 2021, by way of electronic communication on the lumiagm 
platform  
(www.web.lumiagm.com) to consider and, if deemed fit, adopt with or without modification, the ordinary and 
special resolutions as set out in this notice of Annual General Meeting and to deal with such other business as 
may be required to be dealt with at the Annual General Meeting in terms of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 as 
amended (Companies Act).

In terms of Covid-19 protocols, the Company, as a socially responsible corporate citizen, has elected to convene 
and hold its Annual General Meeting entirely by way of electronic communication in accordance with the 
provisions of section 63(2) of the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (JSE) as read 
with clause 6.5 of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation.

The Company has appointed Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited (Computershare) for 
purposes of hosting its Annual General Meeting and to provide its shareholders with access to its electronic 
communication platform (the Platform) for purpose of enabling all of the shareholders, who are present at 
the Annual General Meeting, to communicate concurrently with each other, without an intermediary, and to 
participate reasonably effectively in the Annual General Meeting and exercise their voting rights at the Annual 
General Meeting. Accordingly, references to “attend”, “participate” “present” or similar words means being able 
to attend, or be present or participate by means of electronic participation.

The Board of Directors of the Company (Board) has determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with 
section 59 of the Companies Act, the record date for the purpose of determining which shareholders are 
entitled to participate in and vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday, 27 August 2021. Accordingly, the last 
day to trade in the Company’s shares in order to be recorded in the register to be entitled to vote at the Annual 
General Meeting will be Tuesday,  24 August 2021.

Shareholders are advised that, in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any person attending or 
participating in an Annual General Meeting of shareholders must present reasonably satisfactory identification 
before being entitled to participate in and vote at the Annual General Meeting. The person presiding at the 
Annual General Meeting must be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote 
(whether as shareholder or proxy for a shareholder) has been reasonably verified. Forms of identification that 
will be accepted include original and valid identity documents, driver’s licences or valid passports. Accordingly, 
the Company has appointed Computershare to verify the identity of any shareholder who wishes to attend 
the Annual General Meeting and shareholders will only be granted access to the Platform once verified by 
Computershare.

Please also note that in order to attend and participate in the Annual General Meeting, shareholders are 
required to be granted access to the Platform by Computershare. Any shareholder who wishes to attend the 
Annual General Meeting is encouraged to contact Computershare on proxy@computershare.co.za as soon as 
possible, but not later than 14:00 on Wednesday, 1 September to enable Computershare to verify its/his/her 
identity and thereafter to grant that shareholder access to the Platform. Notwithstanding the aforegoing, any 
shareholder who wishes to attend the Annual General Meeting is entitled to contact Computershare at any 
time prior to the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting, in order to be verified and provided with access to 
the Platform by Computershare. In order to avoid any delays in being provided with access to the Platform by 
Computershare, shareholders are encouraged to contact Computershare at their earliest convenience.

Shareholders can also register to participate in the Annual General Meeting on the SmartAGM portal at  
www.smartagm.co.za.
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Resolutions for consideration and adoption
Ordinary business

1. Ordinary resolution number 1
Acceptance of financial statements
“RESOLVED THAT the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021, 
including the directors’ report, audit and risk and opportunity committee’s report and Independent 
Auditor’s Report as required in terms of section 30(3)(d) and 61(8)(a) of the Companies Act, be and is hereby 
received and accepted.”

Additional information in relation to ordinary resolution number 1
 The complete Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021, including 

the Directors’ Report, audit and risk and opportunity committee’s report and Independent Auditor’s Report 
are included in the Integrated Report on pages 97 to 171 of which this notice of Annual General Meeting 
forms part. The shareholders are advised that the Company’s complete Audited Financial Statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2021 are available on the Company’s website: www.capitalappreciation.co.za and 
will be available for a period of no less than 12 months from the date of this notice.

In order for ordinary resolution number 1 to be adopted, the resolution is required to be supported by 
more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by shareholders present or 
represented by proxy at the meeting.

2. Ordinary resolution number 2 (comprising ordinary resolution numbers 2.1 to 2.4, 
(all inclusive)
Retirement, re-election and confirmation of appointment of directors
The following directors, comprising certain current directors of the Company, retire from office in 
accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election, each by way of separate resolution.

“RESOLVED THAT, by way of separate ordinary resolutions:

2.1 E Kruger, be and is hereby elected as a director;
2.2 R Maqache, be and is hereby elected as a director;
2.3 B Sacks, be and is hereby elected as a director; and
2.4 V Sekese, be and is hereby elected as a director.”

Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 2
In terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the JSE Listings Requirements and, to the 
extent applicable, the Companies Act, the Company’s directors shall retire from office and may, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Accordingly, E Kruger, R Maqache, B Sacks and V Sekese will retire 
from office at the Annual General Meeting, however, being eligible, have made themselves available for 
re-election.

The Company’s nominations and remuneration committee has reviewed the composition of the Board 
against corporate governance, sustainability and transformation requirements and has recommended 
the election of the directors listed above. Accordingly, the Board recommends the election of E Kruger, 
R Maqache, B Sacks and V Sekese to shareholders by way of a series of votes, each of which is on the 
candidacy of a single individual to fill a single vacancy, as required under section 68(2) of the Companies 
Act. A brief biography in respect of each retiring director standing for election is available on the 
company’s website: www.capitalappreciation.co.za.

In order for ordinary resolutions numbers 2.1 – 2.4 to be adopted, each resolution is required to be 
supported by more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on that resolution by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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3. Ordinary resolution number 3 (comprising ordinary resolution numbers 3.1 to 3.3, 
all inclusive)
Re-election of the audit and risk and opportunity committee members and Chairman
“RESOLVED THAT, by way of separate ordinary resolutions:

a. V Sekese be and is hereby re-elected as a member and Chairman of the Company’s audit and risk and 
opportunity committee;

b. B Bulo be and is hereby re-elected as a member of the Company’s audit and risk and opportunity 
committee; and

c. R Morar be and is hereby re-elected as a member of the Company’s audit and risk and opportunity 
committee,

in terms of section 94(2) of the Company’s Act, to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company and to perform the duties and responsibilities stipulated in section 94(7) of the Companies 
Act and King Report on Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV) and to perform such other duties 
and responsibilities as may from time to time be delegated by the Board for the Company and all of its 
subsidiary companies.”

Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 3
In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, a public company must, at each Annual General Meeting, 
elect an audit committee comprising at least three members who are directors and who meet the criteria 
of section 94(4) of the Companies Act. In terms of Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulations, 2011, 
one-third of the members of the audit committee must have appropriate academic qualifications or 
experience in economics, law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, commerce, industry,  
public affairs or human resources management.

A brief curriculum vitae of each of the independent non-executive directors mentioned in ordinary 
resolution number 3 is available on the company’s website: www.capitalappreciation.co.za.

The Board is satisfied that the proposed members of the audit and risk and opportunity committee 
meet all requirements of section 94(4) of the Companies Act, and that they are independent according to 
King IV and that they possess the required qualifications and experience as prescribed in the Companies 
Regulations, 2011 and King IV.

In order for ordinary resolutions numbers 3.1 – 3.3 to be adopted, each resolution is required to be 
supported by more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on that resolution by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

4. Ordinary resolution number 4
Re-appointment of external auditors
“RESOLVED THAT, on recommendation of the audit and risk and opportunity committee, Ernst & Young 
Inc. (EY), with C Trollope being the designated auditor, be and is hereby reappointed as the external 
auditors of the Company for the financial year ending 31 March 2022 and to hold office until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, and that their remuneration for the financial year 
ending 31 March 2022 be determined by the audit and risk and opportunity committee.”

Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 4
In accordance with section 90(1) of the Companies Act, EY is proposed to be re-appointed as the external 
auditors of the Company, as nominated by the Company’s audit and risk and opportunity committee, 
until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting. The audit and risk and opportunity 
committee conducted an assessment of the performance and the independence of the external auditors 
and considered whether or not the external auditors comply with the requirements of sections 90(2) and 
90(3) of the Companies Act and section 22 of the JSE Listings Requirements, and the Board considered 
and accepted the findings.

The Board is satisfied that the proposed external auditors, being EY, and C Trollope, the individual 
registered auditor who will undertake the audit of the Company for the financial year ending 31 March 
2022, comply with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, and are duly accredited by the JSE.

In order for ordinary resolution number 4 to be adopted, the resolution is required to be supported by 
more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by shareholders present or 
represented by proxy at the meeting.
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5. Ordinary resolution number 5
General authority to issue shares for cash
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements, and the 
Company’s Memorandum of lncorporation, as applicable, the Board be and is hereby authorised, by way 
of general authority, to allot and issue for cash any of the Company’s unissued ordinary shares (including 
securities convertible into ordinary shares and/or grant options over ordinary shares) as and when the 
Board in its discretion (including as to terms and conditions) may deem fit, without restriction, provided 
that:

 � the general authority shall be valid until the Company’s next Annual General Meeting of its shareholders, 
or 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of this ordinary resolution, whichever period is shorter;

 � the allotment and issue of the ordinary shares must be made to public shareholders, as such term is 
defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, and not to related parties;

 � the number of ordinary shares issued for cash in terms of this authority may not exceed 
65 500 000 ordinary shares, being 5% (five percent) of the number of the listed equity securities of the 
Company as at the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting, provided that:

 à any ordinary shares issued under this authority during the period must be deducted from the number 
above;

 à in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of issued ordinary shares during the period 
contemplated above, the existing authority must be adjusted accordingly to represent the same 
allocation ratio;

 à any securities to be issued pursuant to a rights issue (announced, irrevocable or fully underwritten) or 
any acquisition issue shall not diminish the number of securities that are authorised to be issued in 
terms of this resolution;

 à the calculation of the listed ordinary shares is a factual assessment of the listed ordinary shares as at 
the date of the notice of Annual General Meeting;

 à in determining the price at which an issue of ordinary shares may be made in terms of this authority, 
the maximum discount at which the ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the 
weighted average traded price of the Company’s ordinary shares measured over the  
30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the 
directors of the Company and the party subscribing for the securities. The JSE should be consulted for 
a ruling if the Company’s securities have not traded in such 30 (thirty) business-day period; and

 à an announcement giving full details, will be published at the time of any issue representing,  
on a cumulative basis within the period of this authority, 5% (five percent) or more of the number  
of ordinary shares in issue prior to that issue, in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.”

Additional information in respect of ordinary resolution number 5
This resolution has been proposed to seek a general authority and approval for the directors to allot and 
issue ordinary shares in the authorised but unissued share capital of the Company (and/or any options/ 
convertible securities that are convertible into ordinary shares), up to 5% (five percent) of the number of 
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 2 September 2021 in order to enable the Company to take 
advantage of business opportunities which may arise in future. At present, the directors have no specific 
intention of using this authority, and the authority will thus only be used if circumstances are appropriate.

In order for ordinary resolution 5 to be adopted, the resolution is required to be supported by a 75% 
(seventy-five percent) majority of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by shareholders present or 
represented by proxy at the meeting.

6. Ordinary resolution number 6
Non-binding advisory vote on Remuneration Policy
“RESOLVED THAT, the Company’s Remuneration Policy be and is hereby endorsed by way of a 
non-binding vote.”

Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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7. Ordinary resolution number 7
Non-binding advisory vote on Remuneration Implementation Report
“RESOLVED THAT, the Company’s Remuneration Implementation Report be and is hereby endorsed by 
way of a non-binding advisory vote.”

Explanation and effect of ordinary resolution numbers 6 and 7 – Non-binding advisory vote on 
Remuneration Policy and Remuneration Implementation Report
In accordance with the recommendations of the King IV as well as the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
Board (with assistance of the nominations and remuneration committee) has presented the Remuneration 
Policy and Implementation Report to shareholders in two separate non-binding advisory votes.

In order for ordinary resolution number 6 and ordinary resolution number 7 to be adopted, each resolution 
is required to be supported by more than 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights exercised on the 
resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

In the event that 25% (twenty-five percent) or more of the votes cast are recorded against either the 
Remuneration Policy resolution or the Remuneration Implementation Report resolution, or both, then 
pursuant to paragraph 3.91 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Company will extend an invitation to 
dissenting shareholders to engage with the Company to discuss the reason for their dissenting votes.

 The complete Remuneration Report appears on pages 58 to 72 of the Integrated Report, of which this 
notice forms part.

1. Special resolution number 1
Non-executive directors’ fees
“RESOLVED THAT the Company be and is hereby authorised in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies 
Act to pay the following fees to its non-executive directors for their services as directors (which amounts 
are exclusive of VAT) from the date of this Annual General Meeting to the next Annual General Meeting, 
unless the non-executive directors’ fees are amended by way of a special resolution of shareholders.

The fees have been determined by the Board through the nominations and remuneration committee on a 
market-related basis and is in accordance with the provisions set out below:”

Fees per meeting (excluding VAT)
Board of Directors
Chairman R58 000
Member R46 500
Audit committee
Chairman R46 500
Member R35 000
Risk and opportunity committee
Chairman R46 500
Member R35 000
Nominations and remuneration committee
Chairman R35 000
Member R30 000
Investment committee
Chairman R46 500
Member R35 000
Social and ethics committee
Chairman R35 000
Member R30 000
Ad hoc meetings 
R23 000
The amounts stated above have been recommended by the Board and the nominations and 
remuneration committee and are presented herein for approval.
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Additional information in respect of special resolution number 1
In terms of sections 66(8) and 66(9) of the Companies Act, remuneration may only be paid to directors 
for their services as directors in accordance with a special resolution approved by the shareholders of the 
Company and if not prohibited in terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation. Therefore, 
the reason for and the effect of special resolution number 1 is to approve the payment of and the 
remuneration payable by the Company to its non-executive directors for their services as directors of the 
Company in terms of section 66 of the Companies Act. The fees payable to the non-executive directors are 
detailed above.

2. Special resolution number 2
Repurchase of the Company’s ordinary shares
“RESOLVED THAT the Company, and/or a subsidiary of the Company, be and is hereby authorised to 
repurchase or purchase, as the case may be, ordinary shares issued by the Company, from any person, 
upon such terms and conditions and in such number as the directors of the Company or the subsidiary 
may from time to time determine, subject to the applicable requirements of the Company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.”

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 2
It is recorded that the Company or any subsidiary of the Company may only make a repurchase, or 
purchase, as the case may be, of the ordinary shares in the Company subject to the following:

 � any repurchase in terms of the above authority must be effected through the order book operated 
by the JSE trading system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the 
Company and the counterparty (reported trades are prohibited);

 � this authority shall only be valid until the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or for  
15 (fifteen) months from the date of the resolution, whichever period is shorter;

 � a resolution having been passed by the Board authorising the repurchase and confirming that the 
Company and its subsidiaries (Group) have passed the solvency and liquidity test and that, from the time 
the test was performed, there have been no material changes to the financial position of the Group;

 � an announcement giving such details as may be required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements 
must be published when the Company or its subsidiaries have cumulatively repurchased  
3% (three percent) of the initial number of the relevant class of shares, and for each 3% (three percent)  
in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter;

 � the Company or its subsidiaries may not repurchase any of the Company’s ordinary shares during a 
prohibited period as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, unless they have in place a repurchase 
programme where the dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the relevant period are 
fixed (not subject to any variation) and the Company has submitted the repurchase programme to 
the JSE in writing prior to the commencement of a prohibited period. The Company will instruct an 
independent third party, which makes its investment decisions in relation to the Company’s securities 
independently of, and uninfluenced by, the Company, prior to commencement of the prohibited period 
to execute the repurchase programme submitted to the JSE;

 � general repurchases in terms of this authority may not in the aggregate in any one financial year 
exceed 20% (twenty percent) of the number of ordinary shares in the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital as at the beginning of the financial year, such 20% (twenty percent) threshold being equal to 
262 000 000 ordinary shares in the Company;

 � at any point in time the Company may only appoint one agent to effect any repurchases on the 
Company’s behalf; and

 � in determining the price at which ordinary shares may be repurchased in terms of this authority,  
the maximum premium permitted will be 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average traded price 
of the ordinary shares as determined over the 5 (five) business days immediately prior to the date 
of repurchase.

Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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Additional information in respect of special resolution number 2
The directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best interests of the Company that special 
resolution number 2 be passed and thereby allow the Company or any subsidiary of the Company to be 
in a position to repurchase or purchase, as the case may be, the ordinary shares issued by the Company 
through the order book of the JSE, should the market conditions and price justify such action. Should 
the opportunity arise and should the directors deem it to be advantageous to the Company, or any of 
its subsidiaries, to repurchase or purchase, as the case may be, such ordinary shares, it is considered 
appropriate that the directors (and relevant subsidiaries) be authorised to repurchase or purchase, as the 
case may be, the Company’s ordinary shares.

The Board has considered the impact of a repurchase or purchase, as the case may be, of up to 20% 
(twenty percent) of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue. After considering the effects of such maximum 
contemplated repurchase under the general authority, the directors are of the view that:

 � the Company and Group will be able to, in the ordinary course of business, pay its debts for a period of  
12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the Annual General Meeting;

 � the assets of the Company and Group will be in excess of the liabilities of the Company and Group 
for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the Annual General Meeting. For 
this purpose, the assets and liabilities should be recognised and measured in accordance with the 
accounting policies used in the latest audited financial statements;

 � the share capital and reserves of the Company and Group will be adequate for ordinary business 
purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the Annual General 
Meeting; and

 � the working capital of the Company and Group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a 
period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the Annual General Meeting.

  For the purpose of considering special resolution number 2 and in compliance with paragraph 11.26 
of the JSE Listings Requirements, the following information has been included in the financial statements 
or the Integrated Report, of which this notice of the Annual General Meeting forms part, at the places 
indicated (i) major shareholders, refer to page 178 and (ii) share capital of the Company, refer to page 161.

The directors intend, should the proposed authority be granted to them under this resolution, to use such 
authority to, at appropriate times, repurchase and purchase, as the case may be, ordinary shares on the 
open market and thereby more efficiently utilise cash on hand. This authority includes an authority, by 
special resolution, to repurchase, through the JSE’s order book, as contemplated in section 48(8)(a) of the 
Companies Act, ordinary shares disposed of by a director or prescribed officer of the Company or a person 
related to a director or prescribed officer of the Company.

3. Special resolution number 3
Financial assistance to subsidiaries and other related and inter-related entities
“RESOLVED THAT, to the extent required by the Companies Act, the Board may, subject to compliance 
with the requirements of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act, and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, to the extent applicable, authorise the Company to provide direct or indirect 
financial assistance, including by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to any of 
its present or future subsidiaries (wheresoever incorporated) and/or any other company or entity that 
is or becomes related or inter-related (as such term is defined in section 2 of the Companies Act) to the 
Company, on such terms and conditions as they may deem fit, for any purpose or in connection with any 
matter, including, but not limited to, the subscription for any option, or any securities issued or to be issued 
by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the Company 
or a related or inter-related company, such authority to endure until the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company.”

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 3
Notwithstanding the title of section 45 of the Companies Act, being “Loans or other financial assistance 
to directors”, on a proper interpretation, the body of the section may also apply to financial assistance 
provided by a company to related or inter-related companies and entities, including, inter alia, 
its subsidiaries, for any purpose.

Capital Appreciation Limited Integrated Report 2021 185

Organisational 
overview

Performance 
and outlook Accountability Financial 

statements Shareholders



Furthermore, section 44 of the Companies Act may also apply to the financial assistance so provided by a 
company to related or inter-related companies, in the event that the financial assistance is provided for the 
purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by 
the Company or a related or inter-related company or for the purchase of any securities of the Company or 
a related or inter-related company.

Both sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act provide, inter alia, that the particular financial assistance 
must be provided only pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders, adopted within the previous 
two years, which approved such assistance either for the specific recipient, or generally for a category of 
potential recipients, and the specific recipient falls within that category and the Board must be satisfied 
that:

 � immediately after providing the financial assistance, the Company would satisfy the solvency and 
liquidity test; and

 � the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to 
the Company.

The Company would like the ability to provide financial assistance, if necessary, also in other 
circumstances, in accordance with sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act. In addition, it may be 
necessary or desirable for the Company to provide financial assistance to related or inter-related 
companies and entities to subscribe for options or securities or purchase securities.

In the circumstances and in order to, inter alia, ensure that the Company’s subsidiaries and other related 
and inter-related companies and entities have access to financing and/or financial backing from the 
Company, it is necessary to obtain the approval of the shareholders as set out in special resolution 
number 3.

4. Special resolution number 4
Approval of issue of shares pursuant to the conditional share plan (“the Plan”) in terms of  
section 41(1) of the Companies Act
“RESOLVED THAT, although the Plan is intended to comply with section 97 of the Companies Act,  
to the extent that it does not, the Company be and is hereby authorised in terms of section 41(1) of 
the Companies Act to make awards and issue ordinary shares to participants who are: (a) directors, 
future directors, prescribed officers, or future prescribed officers of the Company; (b) persons related or 
inter-related to a director or prescribed officer of the Company; or (c) nominee of a person contemplated in 
(a) or (b).”

Additional information in respect of special resolution number 4
In terms of section 41(1) of the Companies Act, an issue of shares, or a grant of other rights exercisable for 
shares, must be approved by a special resolution of the shareholders of the company, if the shares or rights 
are issued to a: (a) director, future director, prescribed officer, or future prescribed officer of the company; 
(b) person related or inter-related to the company, or to a director or prescribed officer of the company; or 
(c) nominee of a person contemplated in (a) or (b). This requirement does not apply if the issue of shares 
or rights is pursuant to an employee share scheme that satisfies the requirements of section 97 of the 
Companies Act.

The motivation for special resolution 4 is to seek approval for the Company to make awards and issue 
ordinary shares to participants under the Plan, where such participants are: (a) directors, future directors, 
prescribed officers, or future prescribed officers of the Company; (b) persons related or inter-related to a 
director or prescribed officer of the Company; or (c) nominee of a person contemplated in (a) or (b), to the 
extent that the Plan does not satisfy the requirements of section 97 of the Companies Act.

The percentage of voting rights required for special resolution numbers 1, 2, 3 and 4 to be adopted is at 
least a 75% (seventy-five percent) majority of the voting rights exercised on the resolution by shareholders 
present or represented by proxy at the meeting.

Material changes
There have been no material changes in the affairs or the financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report and the date of this notice of annual 
general meeting.

Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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Directors’ responsibility statement
 The directors, whose names are given on pages 38 to 39 of the Integrated Report collectively and 

individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information and certify that to the best of their 
knowledge and belief there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or 
misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made, and that in relation 
to special resolution 2 in particular, all information required by the JSE Listings Requirements is contained.

Proxies
An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a 
proxy or proxies to attend and act in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  
For the convenience of registered members of the Company, a form of proxy is attached hereto. The 
attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:

 � hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or

 � are recorded on the sub-register in “own-name” dematerialised form.

Securities depository participant
Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a Central Securities 
Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker other than with “own-name” registration and who wish to attend 
the Annual General Meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them with the relevant letter of 
representation to attend the Annual General Meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to 
attend in person or by proxy, they must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms 
of their custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These shareholders must 
not use a form of proxy. Unless you advise your CSDP or broker, in terms of your agreement, by the cut-off 
time stipulated therein, that you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting or send a proxy to represent 
you, your CSDP or broker will assume that you do not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting or send  
a proxy.

Voting
All voting at the Annual General Meeting will be conducted by way of polling. On a poll, every shareholder 
present in person or by proxy and, if the person is a body corporate, its representative, will have one vote 
for every share held or represented by him/her. If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take 
in respect of the resolutions provided for in this notice, please consult your CSDP, broker, banker, attorney, 
accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Lodgement of forms of proxy
It is requested that the Company receives completed forms of proxy by no later than 14:00 (South African 
time) on 1 September 2021 by way of electronic mail to Computershare, at Proxy@Computershare.co.za. 
Any forms of proxy not lodged by this time may be sent to Computershare immediately prior to the proxy 
exercising any rights of the shareholder at the Annual General Meeting. Any shareholder who completes 
and lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting should the shareholder decide to do so, provided that such shareholder has been provided with 
access to the Platform by Computershare.

A summary of the shareholders’ rights in respect of proxy appointments as contained in section 58 of the 
Companies Act is set out on the attached proxy form.
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Electronic participation
In compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Company intends to conduct the Annual 
General Meeting entirely by electronic communication through the Platform. Through the use of the 
Platform, shareholders will be able to listen to the proceedings and raise questions should they wish to do 
so and exercise their voting rights at the Annual General Meeting.

Computershare will only provide access to the Platform to shareholders who have been verified.

Voting will be possible through the Platform but shareholders are encouraged to vote by way of proxy 
forms which will have been delivered to Computershare at Proxy@Computershare.co.za.

The cost of procuring the services of Computershare and the use of the Platform will be for the account 
of the Company. However, the cost of the shareholders’/proxies’ participation at the meeting through the 
Platform will be at their own expense. Any such charges will not be for the account of the company  
and/or Computershare.

Neither the Company nor Computershare can be held accountable in the case of loss of network 
connectivity or other network failure due to insufficient airtime, internet connectivity, internet bandwidth 
and/or power outages which prevents any shareholder from participating in and/ or voting at the Annual 
General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Michael (Motty) Sacks
Chairman

Notice of Annual General Meeting (continued)
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Form of proxy

For use only by ordinary shareholders who:
 � hold ordinary shares in certificated form (certificated ordinary shareholders); or
 � have dematerialised their ordinary shares (dematerialised ordinary shareholders) and are registered with “own-name” 

registration, at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held on Wednesday, 2 September 2021.
Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own-name” registration who wish to 
attend the Annual General Meeting must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker of their 
intention to attend the Annual General Meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter 
of representation to attend the Annual General Meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the 
Annual General Meeting in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions 
in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary 
shareholders must not use this form of proxy.
I/We  __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
of (address)  ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
being the holder(s) of  _____________________________________________________ Capital Appreciation Limited ordinary shares,
Do hereby appoint (see note 2):  ________________________________________________________________________________________
1. of  ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ failing him/her,
2. of  ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ failing him/her,
3.  the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual 

General Meeting, which will be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without 
modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment thereof; and to vote for and/or against 
the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the Capital Appreciation ordinary shares registered in my/our 
name(s), in accordance with the following instructions (see note 3):

Number of ordinary shares For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1: Acceptance of financial statements

Ordinary resolution number 2.1: Retirement, re-election and confirmation of 
appointment of E Kruger as director

Ordinary resolution number 2.2: Retirement, re-election and confirmation of 
appointment of R Maqache as director

Ordinary resolution number 2.3: Retirement, re-election and confirmation of 
appointment of B Sacks as director

Ordinary resolution number 2.4: Retirement, re-election and confirmation of 
appointment of V Sekese as director

Ordinary resolution number 3.1: Re-election of V Sekese as member and Chairman of 
the audit and risk and opportunity committee

Ordinary resolution number 3.2: Re-election of B Bulo as a member of the audit and 
risk and opportunity committee

Ordinary resolution number 3.3: Re-election of R Morar as a member of the audit and 
risk and opportunity committee

Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-appointment of external auditors

Ordinary resolution number 5: General authority to issue shares for cash

Ordinary resolution number 6: Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy

Ordinary resolution number 7: Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration 
implementation report

Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ fees

Special resolution number 2: Repurchase of the Company’s ordinary shares

Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance to subsidiaries and other related and 
inter-related entities

Special resolution number 4: Approval of issue of shares pursuant to the Plan in terms 
of section 41(1) of the Companies Act

Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided above how you wish your votes to be cast.

Signed _____________________________________________________on ___________________________________________________ 2021

Signature ____________________________________________ Assisted by (where applicable) __________________________________
Notes
The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the Annual General Meeting will be 
entitled to act as a proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow thereafter.
Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, 
speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the Annual General Meeting.
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In respect of proxy appointments as contained in section 58 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended  
(the Companies Act).

Please note that in terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

This form of proxy must be dated and signed by the shareholder appointing the proxy.

 � You may appoint an individual as a proxy, including an individual who is not a shareholder of the Company,  
to participate in, speak and vote at a shareholders’ meeting on your behalf.

 � Your proxy may delegate his/her authority to act on your behalf to another person, subject to any restriction set out in 
this form of proxy.

 � This form of proxy must be delivered to the transfer secretaries of the Company, namely Computershare Investor 
Services Proprietary Limited, before your proxy exercises any of your rights as a shareholder at the Annual 
General Meeting.

 � The appointment of your proxy or proxies will be suspended at any time to the extent that you choose to act directly 
and in person in the exercise of any of your rights as a shareholder at the Annual General Meeting.

 � The appointment of your proxy is revocable unless you expressly state otherwise in this form of proxy.

 � As the appointment of your proxy is revocable, you may revoke the proxy appointment by

 – cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and

 – delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the Company.

Please note the revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of your proxy’s authority 
to act on your behalf as of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which the revocation 
instrument was delivered to the Company and the proxy as aforesaid.

 � If this form of proxy has been delivered to the Company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice that 
is required by the Companies Act, or the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered by the Company 
to you will be delivered by the Company to you or your proxy or proxies, if you have directed the Company to do so, in 
writing and paid any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so.

1. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable 
by that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. If there is no clear indication as to the voting instructions to the 
proxy, the form of proxy will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the Annual General 
Meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholders’ votes exercisable thereat.

2. If no proxy is inserted in the spaces provided, then the Chairman shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy to vote 
or abstain as the Chairman deems fit.

3. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy, 
but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes 
exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy. A proxy shall be entitled to demand that voting take place on a poll.

4. For administrative purposes only, forms of proxy should be sent by way of electronic mail to the Company’s share 
registrars in South Africa, Computershare Investor Services, at Proxy@Computershare.co.za. ) by no later than 14:00 on 
31 August 2021, being no later than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the Annual General Meeting to be held at 14:00 on 
2 September 2021, provided that the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting will accept proxies that have been 
delivered after the expiry of the aforementioned period up and until the time of commencement of the Annual General 
Meeting.

5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity 
must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company or waived by the Chairman of 
the Annual General Meeting. CSDPs or brokers registered in the Company’s sub-register voting on instructions from 
beneficial owners of shares registered in the Company’s sub-register, are requested that they identify the beneficial 
owner in the sub-register on whose behalf they are voting and return a copy of the instruction from such owner to the 
Company or to the Company’s transfer secretaries, together with this form of proxy.

6. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies, but may not be accepted 
by the Chairman.

7. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by the Company.

Registered address
1st Floor
61 Katherine Street
Sandton
2196

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited 
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue 
Rosebank
Johannesburg 2196
Email: proxy@computershare.co.za

Summary of shareholders’ rights
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